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Tuesday, November 14, 2023
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.


MR. MORAN:  Good morning.  Please be seated.  I think we are ready to continue.  Are there any preliminary matters?
Preliminary Matters:


MR. KEIZER:  Yes, Mr. Chair, we have some preliminary matters.  It's primarily with respect to some corrections of interrogatories that were noticed by the witnesses in preparation for today.  And the first relates to interrogatory FRPO 29, and I believe Mr. Dillon can speak to that.  If we could have that brought up.

MR. DILLON:  Yes, so FRPO 29, attachment 1, you will see the pressure as 2,085 at the bottom of the graph.  That should be 2,275.

MR. KEIZER:  And you're referring to the red numbers at the bottom?


MR. DILLON:  The red numbers at the bottom.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you.  And we noticed that in Mr. Quinn's compendium he included FRPO 5, and that was an interrogatory, actually, that Enbridge had advised earlier on, I believe in September and August, actually, that that one was no longer applicable, but it is in Mr. Quinn's compendium, and so to make sure that -- it's to his benefit to make sure it's correct, but there is an error in that interrogatory.  I think Mr. Dillon can speak to that as well.

MR. DILLON:  Yes, so in the answer provided (a)(ii), you will see at the end of that paragraph it says 67 TJs per day of shortfall.  That should read 150 TJs per day.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, and then the final one is there is a small error on FRPO 18.

MR. DILLON:  Yes, so in FRPO 18 you can also see in answer (a)(ii) right at the bottom of that paragraph the shortfall is 56 TJs per day.  That should be 59 TJs per day.

MR. KEIZER:  59 TJs per day.  And we will obviously undertake to file amended IRs in that regard.

And I believe that there is one correction arising from yesterday's testimony that was identified in the transcript, and if I can ask Mr. Ciupka to respond to that.

MR. CIUPKA:  Yes, good morning.  On page 158, line 17, I believe the number referenced there said 54.7 TJs, and the proper reference should be 57.4 TJs, thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, that's the preliminary matters that we have for today.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

Mr. Mondrow, I think we are ready to continue with your cross-examination.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 1, resumed

Matt Thomas,

Ian MacPherson,

Cara-Lynne Wade,

Rich Szymanski,

Gord Dillon,

Matt Ciupka,

Jason Gillett; Previously Affirmed.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, sir.  I have 30 minutes on the revised schedule, that results from giving up my 15 minutes from OGVG's witness because, from my perspective and IGUA's perspective, this discussion is more important.  And Mr. Rubenstein has donated ten minutes to me.  So I am aiming for 45, rounding up, just to let you know where I am going, and appreciate people are following me and there remains a concern about time, so I am cognizant of that.

With that, Mr. MacPherson, can I maybe start with you, and just -- I am going to leave EBO134, at least the policy itself, but I wanted to ask if you would acknowledge for me one characterization, and that is that Stage 1 of the EBO134 tests identifies whether a subsidy is required or not for a project; Stage 2 identifies the extent of customer benefits arising from the project; and Stage 3 identifies quantitatively or qualitatively various other benefits.

And those are discrete stages in the test; would you acknowledge that characterization?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Rich Szymanski.  Yes, I would agree.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.

And turning, then, to EBO188, and I included in our compendium starting at page 19 of the compendium some excerpts, but I don't intend, given the time involved, to go into a lot of detail.  But can I just ask you to confirm -- maybe this is for you too, Mr. Szymanski -- I hope I am getting your name relatively roughly right -- thank you -- that the calculations under the EBO188 framework exclude the cost of any dedicated customer connection facilities, so facilities that connect that customer from their meter to where your distribution line runs up to their property.  The cost of that portion is excluded when you do your EBO188 calculations; is that correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I don't believe that is correct.  Those costs would be included in an EBO188.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, so when you -- all right.  That's not what I expected, thank you.

So under EBO188 you include both dedicated facilities and facilities that feed a number of customers, so I will call those common facilities; is that right?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Just trying to follow what you're asking in the example.  So we are talking about distribution facilities serving a small area of customers; is that...

MR. MONDROW:  Well, an area, whether it's small or large.  But what you characterize as distribution facilities, you treat those under EBO188, we know.

MR. MacPHERSON:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  So from Mr. Szymanski's answer I gather that the feasibility calculation at the distribution level includes both facilities common to a group of customers and the facilities dedicated to each of the customers in that group.

MR. MacPHERSON:  There's certain cases, based on what you're describing, that that could apply.  There's some distribution projects which are for a single customer, and then in other cases where we are serving a group of customers in which that may be true.

MR. MONDROW:  When you say "may be true", are there instances where you're serving a group of customers where you don't count in the analysis the cost of the dedicated
-- the facility dedicated to that one customer?

MR. MacPHERSON:  To be clear, I mean, I am trying to parse out the example of what you're asking of us, which is if there was shared infrastructure where there's some upstream segment and there was several downstream customers connecting distribution customers, then we would be looking potentially to apply something like the hourly allocation factor to apportion those costs to those connecting customers.  If that's what you're asking.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can we go to page 35 of the IGUA compendium, please.  And this is an excerpt from EBO188, and I am looking at paragraph 4.3.3, which says:
The Board directs the utilities to prepare and maintain a common set of Board-approved customer connection policies that shall, as a minimum, include..."

And then looking at little (i)2:
The circumstances where the use of a proposed facility will be dominated by one or more large-volume customers for which the utilities will retain the option of collecting contributions in aid of construction."

And how is that scenario different from the current scenario of the Panhandle regional expansion project?  Isn't the prep a facility that will be dominated by one or more large-volume customers?

MR. MacPHERSON:  The Panhandle -- the forecast need of the Panhandle system is to meet the needs -- forecast needs of both large-volume and mass-market customers in the Panhandle region.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Sorry --


MR. MacPHERSON:  So going back to this question -- we are looking at EBO188 -- this is prescribed by the Board in their guidelines as the economic test that we use for distribution facilities.  So these -- these policies and having a standard common set of Board-approved customer connection policies applies only to distribution facilities.

MR. MONDROW:  I appreciate that.  You have made that very clear, but that's not what I am asking.

Conceptually, 94 percent of the capacity of prep is going to be dedicated to serve one or more large-volume customers; isn't that true? That's what you expect?

MR. GILLETT:  I think a key point I think we need to consider is how the forecast for this project was built and how the facilities were designed, and then how it ultimately will be contracted.  So, I will let Mr. MacPherson add to this if I miss anything, but what we have essentially done is we have gathered demand, potential demand through the EOI process, for customers in that area which, to your point, so far has been predominantly power and greenhouse customers.

Then what we did was we spread that demand out over a ten-year period based on how we think this would reasonably play out, and it's a relatively conservative forecast based on the EOI results, and then for that ten-year forecast we are building for the first five because that's what we feel we have the most certainty on.

Once the facilities go into service, however, it becomes -- it's first come first served.  So over the course of that five years, or however long it takes to sell out that capacity, whichever customers come along and sign contracts for that capacity, will get that capacity first.  We don't hold the capacity for future customers unless they are willing to pay for it.

And I think Mr. Ciupka yesterday gave a really good example of the Stellantis plant that showed up somewhat unexpectedly between the original application and the revised application, and essentially scooped up the remaining capacity on that system, and that's actually also a really good example where a customer just because of their lucky timing was able to connect to that system for free, whereas customers who are going to connect after the in-service date will have to start utilizing the project facilities that we built.

MR. MONDROW:  But, Mr. Gillett, what you just described about first come first served, that's true of distribution facilities as well; right?

MR. GILLETT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And we are going to get to this hopefully be your hourly allocation factor mechanism, which is now a Board-approved mechanism that you proposed, ensures that as customers come along they pay their fair share, whether or not they were in your forecast; right?

MR. GILLETT:  That's right.  And so, I think there's a key, key thing that we need to understand, though, is a difference between transmission lines and distribution systems and distribution lines.  If you picture the natural gas network, picture it like a tree you got the trunk, the very thick trunk of the tree and it branches off into ever smaller branches that's essentially the natural gas system.

The trunk of the system, something like the Panhandle transmission lines, they feed all those branches.  Every time you branch off it becomes easier and easier to determine the hydraulic impact that a customer will have.  So, the half specifically that you raised is a mechanism where we can allocate costs for one of those branches because we are able to actually isolate geographically the impact that that customer will have and what facilities it will actually use.  But the closer you get to the trunk of the tree you can't really do that.

And so what we are talking about here is a project that, essentially, is reinforcing the trunk of that tree, it can serve any customer within that network.  And so, it becomes virtually impossible to actually calculate a CIAC and figure out how much of the capacity they are going to be using on a forecast basis.  So, hopefully that made sense.

MR. MONDROW:  Well I am not sure, but, Mr. Gillett, there are distribution mains which are relatively larger distribution facilities and then there are smaller distribution facilities; right?  They come in all sizes -- well not all sizes but --


MR. GILLETT:  Absolutely.

MR. MONDROW:  -- various sizes.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, absolutely.  It's like I said, the branches branching off the tree for that analogy, each one, each branch off, is typically smaller, typically lower pressure.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And when you say it's impossible in the case of, for example, the PREP project to calculate an allocation factor, that's true of what you're trying to allocate is hydraulics, but there are other ways to allocate things; right?

MR. GILLETT:  So, I think the reason why we propose the half to begin with was it was a way over time that we had figured out how we can allocate costs and the key to the half is that it is based on hydraulics.  Because each customer will have a different -- otherwise each customer has a different impact on the system which in theory would incur different costs.  The half, the area of benefit for a half is isolated so that it's consistent and predictable and we can administer it over time.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, that's interesting because there is nothing in the half framework that explains that.  Actually, there's no condition that -- there's no threshold to determine that it's only in the circumstances you just described that the half will be applied.  So, what you're saying is you apply it that way even though that's not one of the criteria?

MR. GILLETT:  No.  I think that that was actually the, one of the primary ways that we designed the half.  The area of benefit is, is very key, it's critical to how the half is actually calculated, so the idea behind the half is when we put in a distribution project hydraulically we determine is the area of benefit -- so this is the area of the system that benefits from that capacity -- is it hydraulically such that we can isolate it to a small -- a geographic area where it's predictable, where, as customers come on to that system, we can predict how much impact, and it will be consistent how much impact they will have on that system.  And if any customer comes within that area of benefit they get allocated the half.  So, I would actually say that that was critical to the whole proposal.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I am going to take you to the half decision, hopefully, just towards the end of my time so we will come back to that, thank you.

I do want to go through, though, some of the historical Panhandle decisions and I want to start with the decision excerpts from which I have included starting at page 36 of the IGUA compendium, please.  And what I have done with these, which you will have seen if you had a chance to look at the compendium, is I have not included the environmental matters, or the land matters, or the consultation matters, excerpts from the decisions, but in each case I have included the economics sections of the decision so that you'll have them.  And I have included them I think primarily -- for the most part in full.

But I am only going to take you -- I just, I need to run through this fairly quickly, so I am going to ask you to help me. I am going to start with the decision at page 36 that's dated March 28th, 2013, it's in EB-2012-0431 and it's approval for a Leamington expansion.  Can someone confirm for me this was a transmission expansion?

MR. GILLETT:  No, that was not a transmission expansion.  It was a high pressure distribution expansion.

MR. MONDROW:  Huh, okay.  Can we go to your opening presentation, please, at page 3 I think.  Page 3 of the presentation.  And I thought that that expansion was down, it was a twinning of the line that there's a little number 4 there at the top by the Comber transmission station; is that not what this was, Mr. Gillett?

MR. GILLETT:  That's right.  I think it was, I believe, 8 and a half kilometres of looping of that, that lateral that you see there, Number 4 further down towards Leamington.

MR. MONDROW:  Right.  And that lateral; is that not a part of the Panhandle transmission system?

MR. GILLETT:  So, that lateral is part of the overall system in that it is, it's connected to the main transmission lines and hydraulically it's connected, absolutely, but it might actually be helpful -- hold on let me just look here.  If you could turn up Exhibit B, Tab 2, Schedule 1, so B-2-1, page 2.  Actually if you scroll down a little bit.  So, what we describe here is there's, I guess it's sort of two buckets, so one is the actual transmission line, so you'll see here Enbridge Gas' Panhandle system includes the following pipeline, so the NPS 36 running from Dawn to Dover and if you scroll down a little bit.  The NPS 16, the 20 and the 12, those are -- I won't read through them and waste your time, but those are the transmission lines that feed -- those are the trunk of the tree, in my analogy from earlier.

If you could just maybe scroll down a little bit.  Off of that transmission line, so this would be one of those main branches off of the tree that I was describing, is laterals, and so that's describing the NPS 6 and the 20, if you scroll down, the 8 and the 8.

So I believe the project that you're referring to is the NPS 12 loop.  And so it's part of the overall system, but what it is, is it's a transmission lateral, which then branches off into distribution systems.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Sword has a question.  Sorry to interrupt.

MR. SWORD:  Thank you.  Just for clarification, could you just describe in lay pedestrian terms the word "hydraulically", what that means in terms of pressure, volumes, or what you're describing, please.  Thank you.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, absolutely.  The idea is that as the gas flows through the system, the faster it flows the more pressure it -- there's pressure -- or there's friction on the pipeline, and it will have different impacts on the system as it flows through the system.  So as gas flows, let's say it branches off down one of those tree branches, it will lower the pressure upstream of it, so we have to continuously keep that line pressurized.  As customers take gas off of the system, they impact the pressures as well.

So when we talk about hydraulic modelling, what we mean is we are simulating what all those different impacts are as we are compressing gas into the system, as it's being taken off the system.

And the important thing to recognize is it's not always intuitive.  You can actually expand a piece of pipe in one piece of the system that will actually have a benefit much further down, and that's actually the case in this project.

So where we are looping sort of the east part of the system, it provides capacity on the west end of the system as well.

So it's about how we simulate the behaviour of the gas as it flows through all of the pipelines.

MR. MONDROW:  Can we go back to -- thanks, Mr. Gillett.

Can we go back to -- well, actually, stay in this exhibit, but maybe if we could just scroll back up the page to where the diagram is.  So stop there, thank you.

So the 1, 2, 3, 4, you agreed at the outset of this hearing, in fact you presented these as part of the transmission system, and this Leamington expansion you say is a loop of the transmission lateral number 4.  I think that's how you described it; right, Mr. Gillett?

MR. GILLETT:  I believe that's the case, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But you say that that loop is actually a piece of transmission -- a distribution infrastructure, not transmission infrastructure.

MR. GILLETT:  That's right, yeah.  I believe in the application -- I don't believe it's ever called the transmission line, it's called the high-pressure distribution line.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, it's not actually called the high-pressure distribution, line I don't think.  But is there some place in the decision where that's -- oh, sorry, you're talking about the application.

MR. GILLETT:  The application is, yeah, absolutely.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.

MR. GILLETT:  And I think the key, just to link it back to what I was saying earlier, I believe this is actually the first time we used the half.  It wasn't called the half at the time.  But this is one of the first -- I believe the first time where we had a project where we were looping a piece of this high-pressure distribution system and, looking at the forecast of the customers, we saw that there was an area of benefit that it created, this pocket within that system, and we realized we can build that system, allocate costs over time, and recover those costs appropriately, and that's actually -- I believe that was the genesis of the half as it evolved over time.  That was the first time we used it.  And that's the key to all of this, is calculating the half, which then in turn you can calculate a potential CIC, is all about the physical realities of the system, and it's case by case as to whether we can actually physically do that.

MR. MONDROW:  The pressure in that loop, is that lower, or was it built to be lower than the pressure in the lateral than the transmission lateral itself?  I am trying to figure out how you make the distinction between the loop being distribution and the lateral being transmission, and is there actually a physical or pressure difference, or is it the area of benefit concept that you're describing?

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, my apologies, are you asking what the difference between the transmission distribution is or how it relates --


MR. MORAN:  No --


MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, if you could repeat the question, maybe.  I apologize.

MR. MONDROW:  Absolutely.

So I thought that the project had -- I started with -- and I thought this would be easy -- was a transmission project, and you said right off the top it's a distribution project.  It's a loop of a transmission lateral, but it's a distribution line, and I am trying to figure out how you define the difference.  Is it a pressure difference?  Is it an area of benefit difference?

MR. GILLETT:  Yeah, I see what you're asking.

Yeah, one of the issues we have is there are different ways to classify what a transmission or distribution line is.  There's regulatory ways where the Board has talked about, I think there's a couple different ones, whether customers are directly connected.  I believe in the handbook it also talks about whether it carries gas, transmits gas on behalf of other shippers.

There's also engineering ways of looking at it.  So there's a concept of 30 percent SMYS, which is a way of looking at the maximum operating pressure of the pipeline and whether it's -- whether we classify as distribution or transmission.

There's also how we model it, whether it's steady state or transient.

So these are all different -- my point is that there's different ways of classifying it.  For the purposes of EBO188 and 134, though, which I think is what we are talking about here and specifically your question around the half, it's about the behaviour of the system, it's about the location of the customers, the location of the pipelines, and hydraulically how the system behaves.

And on a case-by-case basis we can figure out whether or not we can create a half based on the behaviour of that system.

And so Leamington, which was a high-pressure distribution loop, we were able to do that.  Just based on the hydraulics of the system, case by case it worked, and that was where we essentially created the half.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Gillett, just a question of clarification.  You said 30 percent something.  I didn't quite catch what the something was.

MR. GILLETT:  Yeah, it's SMYS, S-M-Y-S.  I believe it's specified minimum yield strength.

MR. MORAN:  S-M-Y-S.

MR. GILLETT:  Yeah, S-M-Y-S.  It's a term that our engineering teams would use.  Mr. Thomas can probably help clarify.

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, that is correct.  It stands for specified minimum yield strength.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Gillett, you said that the -- and you said before that in this proceeding -- that the hydraulics of a system or subsystem or loop or area will be impacted by where a customer connects and obviously how much demand they place on it, but the location makes a difference, it changes the hydraulics of the system relative to another point of connection, if I am understanding your evidence.

And that would be true even at the distribution level; right?  It just -- the change may be less pronounced, but it's always going to -- the hydraulics are always going to change depending on whether the customer connects, whether we are talking about transmission, distribution, or something in between; true?

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, that is correct.  The range of impact changes depending -- go back to the tree analogy, the further you branch down these branches, the easier it is to isolate what those impacts are.  But you're right, it would -- it has an impact even in distribution systems.

MR. MONDROW:  Right, okay.

Just before we leave this, the first Leamington expansion in 2013, someone, maybe to give Mr. Gillett's voice a rest, would agree, I hope, that that project was driven by demand from greenhouses in the area?

MR. MacPHERSON:  I believe that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.  I'd like to go to page 49 in my compendium.  It's the next decision I want to talk about for a minute.  And this is a further Leamington expansion, I guess it's stage -- another stage of that same expansion.

And this is EB-2016-0013.  And I had assumed in my notes that again this was a transmission lateral, but I should probably ask Mr. Gillett, was this a transmission project?

MR. GILLETT:  No, this was also a distribution project.

MR. MONDROW:  The same as the first one, I guess?

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, yes, the same as the first one.  It was a bit different, though.  This project was developed using an EOI process similar to what we have done for this project, and there's actually, I believe, almost twice as much interest than what the facilities would create.

So this was another example of where we used the half.  So we were successful using the half with Leamington Phase 1.  So in this case this was even easier to use the half, because if you remember one of the key pieces of the half is that we have to be able to administer it appropriately over time as customers connect, the hydraulic impact can't swing around too much for us to be able to do that.  What happened with Phase 2 was -- excuse me, my apologies -- we had so much more interest in this project than we had capacity that we actually had to prorate customers.  So, that capacity I believe was sold out almost immediately.  So, yes, it was similar to Phase 1 in that they were both distribution projects but the usage of the half was a little bit different here.

MR. MONDROW:  So, was this, again, a loop down that same transmission lateral that numbered 4 in the diagram we were looking at a few moments ago?

MR. GILLETT:  It was an NPS 12, I believe.  We could bring up that diagram again.  So, yes, that would have been the NPS 12 label number 4, I believe.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And also driven in large measure by Leamington area greenhouse growth, Mr. MacPherson?

MR. MacPHERSON:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can we go to page 66 of the, numbered 66 of the compendium, please.  This is a February 2017 approval for a relatively large expansion, I am sure people in the room will remember this one from Dawn to Dover.  The docket number was EB-2016-0186.  This was a transmission project; right, Mr. Gillett?

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Could we go to your opening day presentation just to orient this, if we could.  So, this was maybe it was even -- it was replacement of an existing line with a new NPS 36 line, as I recall, from Dawn compressor station down to Dover transmission station?

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.  So, in my analogy earlier this was basically expanding the size of the tree trunk by doing what we call a lift and lay where we pulled out the existing 16-inch and put in a new 36-inch which created capacity all along the Panhandle system, very similar to what we are looking at doing today.

MR. MONDROW:  And, again, this was driven primarily by continued growth in the Leamington-Kingsville greenhouse market?

MR. MacPHERSON:  In this application the forecast demands were for greenhouses and other mass market forecast demand in the Panhandle region.

MR. MONDROW:  The majority of the requests that drove the project were for firm contracts from greenhouse customers from Leamington-Kingsville; is that correct?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Subject to check, I believe that's correct that they were predominant.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, thanks.  Now, I just want to talk for a minute about the economic tests conducted for this project, and you can see that description in the decision starting at page 7 of the decision, which is page 74 of the compendium.  So, just to summarize, there was a significant negative NPV at Stage 1, it was negative 212 million.

A Stage 2 test was conducted with customer savings of 805 million which flipped the NPV over to positive.  And, in the case of the Stage 2 calculations, I will ask you to accept, subject to check, you discounted the contract, the new firm contract load forecast by 25 percent to account for customers that would decide to go elsewhere.  Can you confirm that possibly, Mr. MacPherson?  Or Mr. Szymanski?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That sounds correct.  I have a memory of that occurring.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  In respect of the PREP project, though, as I understand your evidence you assumed that 100 percent of the incremental contract load would go elsewhere if a CIAC were provided.  Is that right?  Sorry, not provided, requested.

MR. MacPHERSON:  In our evidence through customer engagement -- In our filing for this project as part of the process Enbridge engaged with customers in this discussion that CIACs were an issue and we collected feedback and we heard universally that customers, it would affect their decision to make an investment in southwestern Ontario and may relocate their businesses to other jurisdictions.

MR. MONDROW:  Right, may.  But you assumed it would.  You assumed 100 percent of that demand would go away in your calculations; right?

MR. MacPHERSON:  We had 100 percent -- I mean that was based on a 100 percent answer that that's what the outcome would mean to them.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, you just said may, so was it may or would?

MR. MacPHERSON:  The answer was, the answer was would.

MR. MONDROW:  And that is regardless of any magnitude for a CIAC; is that right?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Well now we are on to a different thing, I mean, the challenge, the challenge here, Mr. Gillett has answered in terms of that we have no, no means of determining a contribution maturity.  Any establishment of such a thing is, or past Board decisions is a rate --


MR. MONDROW:  No, I understand that but --


MR. MacPHERSON: -- we are talking about a rate-making principle that --


MR. MONDROW:  I didn't ask you whether you could determine one.  I asked you whether, so let me ask you a different question:  When you solicited your customers for whether they would absolutely go somewhere else, you didn't provide them any order of magnitude for what a CIAC might be, it's binary, either we will charge you one or we won't and what you are telling us is when you told them we may charge you one, whatever that number is, you are saying that they said they would go somewhere else; is that your evidence?

MR. MacPHERSON:  If I could just confer with --


MR. MONDROW:  Sure.

MR. MacPHERSON: -- for one moment.

MR. CIUPKA:  So, again, through the discussions that we have had with our customers, and particularly with respect to OGVG's position as well on behalf of all of their members, they are quite certain that any future expansion plans of existing facilities or the construction of new facilities would likely seek alternate jurisdictions.

MR. MONDROW:  Would likely.  Would or would not?  I mean is it categorical or not?  Because your evidence indicated may and now you're saying would and I am just trying to determine what your evidence is.

MR. CIUPKA:  So, what I can say, Mr. Mondrow, is I have actually sat in on one of the discussions with one of our account managers with a large greenhouse customer and they very clearly indicated that if the economics around expansion in Ontario became unbearable for them, they had no qualms about searching or seeking alternate jurisdictions, including that of Ohio.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, that's a truism, sir, because unbearable means we can't bear it. But that wasn't my question.  Mr. MacPherson just gave me evidence that said every customer you talked to said if you charge us a CIAC we are going somewhere else.  But your written evidence wasn't that categorical and I am trying to determine what your evidence is. So, I know they don't want to pay, I know if it's unbearable by definition they won't bear it.  But it seems to me that since you couldn't give them a number while they expressed a strong preference for not wanting to pay you can't categorically say that they'll go somewhere else no matter what the CIAC charge might be, and if I am wrong tell me I am wrong.

MR. CIUPKA:  So, could you please turn up the OGVG letter of support that was dated November 6, 2023.  Or, sorry, this is in the OGVG evidence.

If you could just turn to the last page, please.  Oh, sorry, the last page of their evidence.  Yes, right there, thank you.

So I'd just like to read this conclusion:
"Natural gas remains the best, most economically, and scientifically viable source of heat and CO2 for the greenhouse sector in the region served by the Panhandle transmission system.  Without additional natural gas supply, greenhouse farm development in the area served by the Panhandle transmission system will cease, sustainable goals in hydrogen blending the for the greenhouse sector will not be realized, and investment in the greenhouse sector along with the associated benefits will flow to jurisdictions outside of Ontario, such as Michigan, Ohio, and North Carolina."

MR. MONDROW:  So if they don't get case they can't expand their greenhouses.  That's what that says; right?  Mr. Ciupka, you read that to me.  Isn't that what it says?  They need gas.

MR. CIUPKA:  That's what it says.  It says:
"Without additional natural gas supply greenhouse farm development in the area served by the Panhandle transmission system will cease."

MR. MONDROW:  Gotcha, okay.

Can we go to page 83 in my compendium, please.  This is the September 2018 decision approving of the Kingsville reinforcement, EB-2018-0013.

Mr. Gillett, this was a transmission project?

MR. GILLETT:  No, this was a distribution project.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can we go to your opening presentation, please.

MR. MacPHERSON:  Excuse me, we have to correct.  If we are referring to the Kingsville transmission reinforcement project, that was a transmission project filed under EBO134.

MR. GILLETT:  Oh, I am sorry, I am sorry, I had the wrong docket.  My apologies.

MR. MONDROW:  No, no problem.  I am glad you agreed with me.  I am just glad you agreed with me on one.

MR. GILLETT:  I'm sorry.  Sorry, which page here?  I am on the wrong page of your compendium, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. MONDROW:  I am looking at page number 83 at the top.  So it's --


MR. GILLETT:  83.  Oh, okay.  Yes, thank you, yes.  That was the --


MR. MONDROW:  The one that says "transmission pipeline" in the title.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes.  My apologies, that was a transmission project, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  No problem, thank you.  I would still like to go to your map just to orient, if we could.  So this is page numbered 3 of your opening-day presentation, and I think this is the transmission line labelled number 2.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, I believe that's the case.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Transmission lateral, I should have said, sorry.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Again, the project was driven in large measure by Kingsville Leamington greenhouse demand, Mr. MacPherson?

MR. MacPHERSON:  That is correct.  Although there was also some mass-market demand forecast in the area.

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah.

Can we go to page 5 of this decision, which is page 89 of my compendium.

So just looking at these three paragraphs at the bottom of the page, the first acknowledges that it was the EBO-134 test that was applied, and the Board found that Union at the time applied it appropriately and talked about the Stage 1 and Stage 2 results.

And then the next one-sentence paragraph indicates the Board approved the project but had some concerns.  And I just want to talk to you about the concerns.

So if I could read this last paragraph on the page with you:
"First, the new pipeline has ancillary distribution benefits according to Union in addition to the transmission functions.  The distribution benefits are evident, as Union identified 14 firm customer contracts executed and 20 customer contracts being negotiated which rely on the approval and construction of the project."

Now, just pausing there, that seems to be me to be analogous with our project.  There are specific contracts being negotiated and commitments being made by large-volume customers for 94 percent of your capacity over the forecast period which rely on the prep project, and so in that respect this seems to me to be analogous.

Am I mistaken in that suggestion?

MR. MacPHERSON:  So to the extent that there are large-volume customers driving the need, we would agree that that is similar.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.

So just reading on in the paragraph:
"The OEB finds that the project meets both distribution and transmission needs, yet the OEB's economic tests are exclusive, applicable to either distribution or transmission lines."

If we can go over to the top of the next page:
"Second, the economic test for transmission, EBO134, does not attribute who should pay with each stage of testing.  For distribution pipelines, the more recent EBO188 test recognizes that if there is insufficient new revenue generated by the project to cover its costs, capital contributions are required from the benefiting parties.  Under EBO134, the Stage 2 benefiting parties..."

We have just talked about the Stage 2 benefiting parties in this case.

"...would be downstream connecting customers and the local economy.  Currently there is no mechanism to have these parties make a contribution to the costs despite their substantial benefit."

Would you agree that there will be substantial benefit to your downstream connecting customers resulting from the prep project?

MR. MacPHERSON:  I will ask Mr. Szymanski to correct me if I am wrong, but in reference to Stage 2 benefiting customers, referring to mass-market customers in that analysis.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, that's because you didn't include any contract customers in your analysis in this case; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is correct; there is no contract customers included.

MR. MONDROW:  But as Mr. Ciupka just pointed out, if you give them gas, they are going to expand their greenhouses to the tune of 4-and-a-half-billion dollars; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is what our evidence states, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, so won't they benefit from the gas that you're intending to supply?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, I would agree they would.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And currently there's no mechanism for contribution from those customers; right?  That's your view?

MR. MacPHERSON:  That's our view, and it is again reaffirmed in the Board's decision in this case.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Can we go, please, to page 93 of my compendium.  This is a July 2019 decision of the OEB in the Chatham-Kent rural reinforcement project, docket number EB-2018-0188.

Mr. Gillett, this was a transmission reinforcement project?

MR. GILLETT:  So this was the page I was on when I gave you an erroneous answer earlier.  This was a distribution project.

MR. MONDROW:  So could you go to page 95 of my compendium, where the Board introduces and summarizes its decision.

And if you look at the third line down, the Board, at least, was under the impression that it was going to be granting an order for leave to construct approximately 13.5 kilometres of natural gas transmission pipeline in the municipality of Chatham-Kent; was that wrong?

MR. GILLETT:  No, that's not wrong.  This is, you know -- earlier when I was saying that these things are a case-by-case basis, CK Rural, the name for this project, this was a bit of a strange one.

So this project was actually constructed under the Ministry of Infrastructures Natural Gas Grant Program, part of its community expansion initiative.  And it had multiple funding paths.

So the first was there was a government grant as part of the NGGP, and the requirement of the government grant was that it had to be filed as a 188.

So whether it's transmission or distribution, it was a requirement of the application in the grant program that it be a 188.  And so that was the one funding source.

The other part of the funding was the grant program required that municipalities provide contributions as well.  So in this case the Municipality of Chatham-Kent, I believe, provided a lump-sum tax reimbursement, and then the last piece was the contribution of each individual customer to bring all of this together to a PI of 1.

So it's a bit of a hybrid of different approaches, but it was all driven by the requirements of the grant program.

MR. MONDROW:  So if I look at the second paragraph, Mr. Gillett, about halfway down there's a sentence that starts "Enbridge Gas characterizes", and it says:

"Enbridge Gas characterizes the proposed project as a reinforcement of the Chatham transmission system which operates as a primary feed to several other downstream systems."

And so, that's a transmission function; isn't it?  A primary feed to several other downstream systems?

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, that's right.  And one of the things, if you look at the area that this project is in, it's a relatively -- you know, it's called a transmission line, the Chatham transmission system, it is by no means comparable to the Panhandle transmission lines in terms of size and length and impact.  So, this is isolated enough that when looking at the potential area of benefit we were able to create a HAF.  This is very rural, I mean, it's called CK rural, it's a very rural area, so it's not high density, and so we were able to come up with a HAF based on the area of benefit for that reinforcement.  So, again, this is one of those, sort of, hybrid approaches where we were able to actually identify that for this project.

MR. MONDROW:  Could we go back to your presentation, your opening day presentation back to that page 3 map and, Mr. Gillett, I will just ask you, could you tell us where this project was relative to the transmission lines on this map?  I am assuming it's down line 2 somewhere, but, line numbered 2.

MR. GILLETT:  No.  I believe it's, you see where it says Chatham-Kent in, sort of, the top right corner of the map above, above the label for Dover transmission station?

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. GILLETT:  It's up in that area.

MR. MONDROW:  I see.

MR. GILLETT:  So, that's the other piece.  So, I apologize if I am beating this analogy to death but go back to my tree analogy.  If you look at the NPS 36 and 20s as the trunk, there's a number of branches that come off and they feed into the Chatham-Kent area, so that Chatham-Kent transmission system, it's named that but it's a smaller subsystem that's fed off of the Panhandle system.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, is it smaller than the lines, the laterals 1, 2, 3 or 4?

MR. GILLETT:  I don't have that in front -- I am not sure.  I am not sure the length, or the pressure of that, or capacity of that system.  I don't have that with me.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  But it serves the same function as lines, 1, 2, 3 and 4?  It's a primary branch that then serves downstream systems?

MR. GILLETT:  I would agree that it's a branch off of the Panhandle system that feeds downstream systems.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay, all right.

MR. GILLETT:  The hydraulics of that system which were such that we could calculate a HAF in that case and allow our application to be compliant with the natural gas grant program.

MR. MONDROW:  So, let me just, and I am coming to the end here, but let me just ask you:  We have talked about hydraulics a lot, and I appreciate that your default assumption when it comes to determining whether you can allocate costs to specific contracting customers or not is based on hydraulics but that's not the only way to allocate -- well, sorry, let me back up.  When you forecast the demand in support of the expansion, you forecast that based on your assumption about location of the customers, I assume?  Because where they are is going to impact how much capacity you need; right?

MR. GILLETT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And you designed the PREP project based on assumptions about where your customers are going to connect; right?  That's how you're justifying the project in terms of size, capacity and ultimately cost.

MR. GILLETT:  That's right, based on EOI results and based on all the intelligence we have with our long history -- I mean we just walked through all the different expansions that have been done in that area --


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. GILLETT: -- so we have a fair bit of history with these customers and with these areas, based on all of that together we estimate where we think these customers are going to land and we then come up with a project design and potential capacity. I think the impact of having customers show up in unexpected places was demonstrated by the difference between the first time we filed this application and the second time, which there was a change in capacity of the system that was primarily driven based on the customers locating where we weren't expecting them to.  That's an illustration of what I have been trying to describe around hydraulic impact.

MR. MONDROW:  Now, you're -- all of the customers that responded to your EOI and your ROS have, essentially, told you that they want from capacity, you are in the process of contracting them, you prioritized the ones that need the capacity sooner, but they are all willing to sign; right?

MR. MacPHERSON:  So, to be clear, as these customers, the market, if you will, has expressed its interest in increased firm capacity or growing its businesses in the future.  As Mr. Gillett just referenced, and looking at this letter from Invest Windsor, we see an enormous amount of new activity coming into the region due to NextStar related industries supply chain, all manner of new things, some of them are listed in this letter including the research and development centre, battery lab, other ones that are unidentified companies seeking to make an investment here, this is the nature of this kind of system.

The market is showing growth, EOI is our best method of expanding rationally to meet that need, and ensuring that energy is in place as industry arrives.  When industry and investment arrives and, you know, we're saying, yes, sorry we can't serve you, that's a problem.

So, we need, you know, we need -- we are trying to be conservative and reasonable in how we build our system out, but we also have to meet the needs of business and that's, kind of, what we come down to here. Although, I think you are trying to say this is very certain that there's these customers that bid.  There are customers who have shown up, we don't -- some of them we don't even know who they are yet, they are code named projects or secrets, we don't even know, or through these processes they have not been reached because, you know, they are just not in our, they are not in the loop yet at this time.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, "some of these customers," you mean some of the customers that represent, according to your forecast, 94 percent of the capacity of PREP are secret customers?

MR. MacPHERSON:  No, what I am referring to from the first time around when we did our expression of interest in 2021, the NextStar battery plant did not bid into that project, that, at that time was a code named -- I will call it a code-named project which the government was working with Stellantis and LG of Korea, and that plant we were in competition with other jurisdictions for the setting of that plant. So, that, like they were not, they were not in that process, that was highly uncertain at that time, and it was very highly competitive in terms of attracting it to our jurisdiction.  And that's really what they're alluding to in this letter is these projects -- and there's other projects like it all over the province that we are working on -- is Enbridge and the utility, the electric utilities, and the municipalities, and government are, you know, excuse me, pitching the province as a place to invest and build their business, Volkswagen is an example, St. Thomas operation, Umicore in Loyalist township in eastern Ontario, these are all economic development projects which, I mean, frankly, have come rapidly out of the blue and are happening very fast that there they are already under construction and as we said NextStar, NextStar didn't exist two years ago now it's in service.  Like this pace of -- the pace of investment and activity is, I mean, I am going to say it's seemingly unprecedented.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, that's wonderful but we are actually talking about who should pay, but I am glad we are as a province developing. I have to finish off but I do want to ask you to go to -- so, I reproduced portions of the HAF decision, it was actually an application for a consolidated policy on customer contributions one aspect of which was the HAF or hourly allocation factor.

In my compendium, it starts at page 105 of my compendium, is where the cover page is it's EB-2020-0094, but I wanted to go to page 20 of the decision which I reproduced here.  I will see who can get to the page first, it's probably Brittany, it's compendium page number 114, that one.  114 at the top.

So, this the passage where the Board addresses the discussion that was had in that proceeding about the use of HAF for transmission projects.  So, you see the summary the Board provided.  OGVG, of course, said, well, you haven't done that in the past and you shouldn't do it today.  That's the first paragraph under section 4.4.

EPCOR similarly complained that that would be a material shift in policies.  We have heard that in opening statements in this proceeding, you know:  That's not the policy, so don't do it.

I am interested in getting a little bit deeper in that discussion and figure out whether it can be done, and Mr. Gillett, you have been very helpful in trying to explain to me why that can't or shouldn't be done.

And if you look at the third paragraph under that section, Enbridge Gas stated in its reply that:
"It is mindful of customers' perspectives regarding the higher costs associated with large transmission projects and the necessity to assess societal benefits under stages 2 and 3 of EBO134.  Enbridge Gas submitted that in the case of the Chatham-Kent Rural Project, although it involved transmission facilities, the HAF was appropriate, due to the modest..."

So there, Mr. Gillett -- we were just talking about that project, and again, Enbridge thought it was a transmission project; right?  That's the project we were just talking about that you said is kind of distribution because of the legislation, but Enbridge continues to characterize that as a transmission project.

MR. MacPHERSON:  Maybe I could go first and Mr. Gillett could correct, but I think we were clear that that project in particular had elements of transmission and distribution.  However, due to the stipulations of the NGEP funding, the company applied for the project as an EBO188 project.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  That's fine, thank you.

So reading on:
"It involved transmission facilities.  The HAF was appropriate due to the modest cost and the fact that the customers were able to mitigate their costs and avoid a CIAC through reasonable contract terms and condition.  Enbridge Gas stated that it is continuing to explore alternatives to applying EBO134 or EBO188 in an exclusive manner and how to reconcile the two sets of guidelines in an appropriate case, but that it does not have an alternative to present at this time."

Nowhere at the time of the HAF did Enbridge raise the concerns about hydraulics, Mr. Gillett, as far as I recall.  Do you recall that differently?

MR. GILLETT:  I do.  In the proceeding itself the concept of calculating an area of benefit is underpinned by the hydraulic simulations.  So I believe we did discuss during that proceeding that hydraulics were important, were key to figuring out whether figuring out whether the HAF could be calculated or not.  It's not in the Board's decision here, but it's an important part of the proceeding itself.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I am going to finish off with just a couple more questions, because I am over my time, but could you go to page 126 of my compendium, please.  This is an interrogatory from this case -- sorry, it's an undertaking from this case, so it would have been from the technical conference, I guess, to explain -- "for Enbridge to explain why it did not make a proposal to enable seeking of a contribution for the capacity sought", so what we have been talking about.

And I didn't see any reference in this answer to hydraulics.  And I wonder why that is.  That seems to be the main reason why you say you can't do it, and yet you didn't talk about that in this undertaking response.  Is there a reason?

MR. GILLETT:  So in this response I agree we don't call it out explicitly.  But that paragraph where it says "it is not appropriate to seek", it's describing:
"Once in service the proposed project will serve all customers whether or not they participate in the expression of interest.  The proposed project addresses system bottlenecks which, once relieved, will improve the reliability and service for existing customers and allow growth for existing and new customers."

Underpinning that is the fact that this loop of the Panhandle transmission system will provide capacity throughout the entire system, and what Mr. MacPherson was describing earlier is a customer coming online anywhere within that system will benefit from this project.

So it was implicit in what we were trying to describe there.

MR. MONDROW:  I have two more questions, if I could.

If you could go to page 129 of my compendium, please.  So this is an answer to a question that the Board panel asked you in EB-2018-0013.  I am trying to remember which case that was.  There have been so many cases.  It was the Kingston transmission reinforcement project, I believe -- sorry, Kingsville transmission reinforcement project that we talked about.

And the OEB asked, if it were to require Union Gas to collect a contribution aid in construction in order to increase the project's profitability, what would Union propose.  And you raised an issue in this response, and if you look at the third paragraph of the response, it says:
"The market served by the Panhandle reinforcement project are similarly situated to KTRP, Kingston transmission reinforcement project.  It also -- sorry, it allows demands to be met from Dawn through Windsor.  The Panhandle reinforcement project was not attributed to individual customers in the form of a cost for a CIAC, nor should KTRP.  Both are common-use upstream facilities for a large geographic area."

So Mr. Gillett, that last characterization, "common-use upstream facilities for a large geographic area", that's the hydraulics problem, right, of calculating a fair way to allocate costs.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, I would agree, that's essentially what we are trying to describe here.

MR. MONDROW:  Yet you did go on in this response to actually do a calculation if required to; right?  You didn't want to, you recommended against it, but you did produce an approach, so there are other ways to do it; right?

MR. GILLETT:  I think the issue we have is if you take an approach where you're calculating -- so this goes back to the presentation that we did at the beginning of the day.  If you calculate a CIAC today, so -- or at the time of in-service, that CIAC will be calculated based on where you're guessing where those customers will land, because wherever they attach to the system will impact how much capacity they use.

So if you do that, and then customers locate to different locations, the capacity remaining on the system will fluctuate.  And then there's a risk that we are going to either over-recover or under-recover the costs of the project.

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah, no, I --


MR. GILLETT:  I see Mr. MacPherson is reaching for his mic here.

MR. MacPHERSON:  Just to clarify, though, that in this statement which is described as illustrative, this is done at a gross level mathematically of figuring out what the difference in cumulatively of cash flows from what the project's feasibility was to raise it to .8.

It in no way that I can see describes how that differential would be applied to customers.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, the question was, if the OEB were to require Union Gas to collect a contribution in aid of construction in order to increase the project's profitability, what would Union propose.  And as my final question I am going to ask you to undertake to answer the same question in respect of the prep project, and if you want to refer to this answer and provide caveats and warnings I am happy with that, but I would like you to undertake to answer that question.  If you're directed to do it, how would you do it, and why?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can you just restate the question, Mr. Mondrow, because there's a couple different things there.

MR. MORAN:  Yeah.  Sure.  If this hearing panel directs you to collect a contribution in aid of construction in order to increase the profitability of the prep project to meet a profitability index of 1, what would you propose and why.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess the question is that assumes that it can be calculated, and I think that the witnesses have been saying is they believe it cannot be calculated.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, if you're told to do it, how would you do it?  That's what I would like you to answer.  That's what the Board asked you in this instance where you told them, We can't do it, and you came up with an answer, and I would like you to do the same thing in this case.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I just have a moment?

So the response to the last undertaking indicated, I think, at the last paragraph, to be responsive to the question for illustrative purposes in order to increase the project PI to .8, approximately 53 million of CIAC or recovery of equivalent revenue would need to be collected which is a global calculation.  So, if that's the calculation you're talking about, that's something that we can undertake to do that with any appropriate caveats.

MR. MONDROW:  Well, if you look on Union's proposal is a would be the next page of the response says at the top, Union's proposal would be to allocate the $53 million to all large volume customers.


And, if you look at the last paragraph, it clarifies it's the new demand large volume customers who consume more than 200 cubic metres per hour.  The allocation would be based et cetera, et cetera, there's a calculation and there's actually an hourly allocation factor calculated. So, I get that you say that would be unfair and you have given the reasons why you think that would be unfair, because if a new customer comes along it's going to change all of the hydraulics, and maybe that will be persuasive at the end of the day but there are other ways to do it, and so you figured out then how to do it, even though you said it wasn't a good idea.


I would like your best evidence, by way of undertaking, of how you would approach it, obviously using a non-hydraulic approach if directed to do so.  What would be the least unfair way and with whatever caveats you think are appropriate?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  I think what Enbridge can undertake to do is to replicate what they have done in this undertaking, because and I think, you know, that's what Enbridge can do in this regard in terms of what was answered before and say, okay, if we answered the same question in the same way for Panhandle what would that mean, I think Enbridge can certainly undertake to do that.

MR. MONDROW:  I think that would be helpful, Mr. Chair, if Enbridge would do that, thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Okay, thanks.  We will take that undertaking, then.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J2.1.
UNDERTAKING J2.1:  ENBRIDGE TO REPLICATE THE CALCULATION REFERRED TO FOR THE PANHANDLE PROJECT, AND TO EXPLAIN THE IMPLICATIONS.


MR. MONDROW:  And I will leave it there because there are other people that want to ask questions.  I appreciate the panel's indulgence, thank you.  Thank you, witnesses and thank you, Mr. Gillett, in particular for your yeoman service.

MR. SWORD:  I am not sure who to direct this to, so perhaps through you, Mr. Keizer.  One of the issues we are facing with is there's the same owner of transmission and distribution, and which is a transmission pipe and which is a distribution.  On occasions where there's a transmission provider that's different for example TransCanada in Northern Ontario, and Enbridge, the distributor what's the demarcation that's used between transmission and distribution in those circumstances?

MR. KEIZER:  I would readily pass that question along.

MR. SWORD:  To who though I wasn't sure.

MR. KEIZER:  Maybe I will try with Mr. Gillett first and see where we go from there.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes.  So, there's a couple different ways that a different transmission provider would connect to our system.  So, the first is transmission to transmission, so a good example in this application Ojibway.  So energy transfers pipelines, Panhandle Eastern pipelines comes in through Michigan, across the border, that transmission system connects directly to our Panhandle transmission system.  There are cases where the TransCanada system does the same but in the case of TransCanada in Northern Ontario we also have delivery areas where they connect, where the transmission line from TransCanada connects into those delivery areas and feed into the downstream distribution systems.

MR. SWORD:  Thank you.  And then what's the demarcation, then, that you can identify just using a small community in Northern Ontario where there's a line off and it becomes from transmission to distribution, what's the characteristics that make it as such?  What happens where to say you're into distribution territory now?

MR. GILLETT:  Yes.  I think, so it's a good question and it goes back to what I was saying earlier where there's multiple definitions depending on who you ask for different purposes.  For the purposes of this application the criteria that we've used is that there's no customers directly connected to the system.  So, that's one way of looking at it.

MR. SWORD:  I assume with every transmission expansion though, by nature, there would be some form of downstream distribution benefit to it or else that's the very nature of the transmission expansion to serve a downstream customer or groups of customers?

MR. GILLETT:  That's right, exactly.  So, in the case of this application the looping that we are doing, the benefit will flow through into the distribution systems that branch off.  So, back to my tree analogy we are thickening the trunk of the tree it will flow in through all the different branches as they branch off.

MR. SWORD:  Okay, thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Okay, thank you.  I think we will take the morning break, we will resume at 11 o'clock.  And I think we will continue then with Mr. Quinn's cross at that point.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:46 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:05 a.m.


MR. MORAN:  Thank you, please be seated.


Mr. Quinn, are you ready to proceed?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Yes, I am sir.  Good morning, Commissioners Dodds and Sword, and to Chair, Mr. Moran.  I will also say good morning to the witness panel.  I am Dwayne Quinn, and I am here on behalf of FRPO.


In our discussion this morning I want to focus on the feasibility of Ojibway deliveries to reduce, not necessarily eliminate, the length of the facilities required to serve firm demands over the forecast horizon.


I believe it would be helpful for clarity and efficiency if we follow a collection of information in my compendium, and would ask that the compendium be marked as an exhibit, please.


MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K2.1.

EXHIBIT K2.1:  FRPO COMPENDIUM FOR EGI PANEL 1.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Now, before I start I was interested in -- before I start into my compendium I was interested in the discussion Ms. Wade was having yesterday with Mr. Buonaguro.  And as we were discussing things, you noted that you foresaw the possibility of a supply-side solution which may contribute to meeting the forecast in the year 2930.


Can you elaborate on that potential supply-side solution? solution?


MS. WADE:  Sure, yes.  So I believe you're referencing when we were looking at the 14 TJ constraint that would arise in 2029/2030; is that correct?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MS. WADE:  Yes, so I think this is not relevant to the project, but to a future project I think what was being asked is, are we already looking at that 14 TJ deficit and looking at IRPA solutions.


So is your question what is the supply-side solution that might address that 14 TJ that I was referencing?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MS. WADE:  Yeah, so what I also noted is that we have completed a full IRP analysis for this project, which would inform the supply-side solution that could be available for that project in the future.  And so in looking at the solutions that we have looked at, the Ojibway could potentially be an option for that 14 TJ, but what I also noted was that it's really important to understand what the demand will be and where it will show up in order to understand whether or not that 14 TJ would meet the need.


MR. QUINN:  But you have demand already; correct?  Incremental demand.


MS. WADE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  What reason -- the solution that you're considering in the future, you don't have to size it as bigger than a bread box, you know you have over 200 TJs of incremental demand.  What is stopping Enbridge from looking at Ojibway deliveries as a solution for a portion of that demand?


MR. THOMAS:  Matt Thomas, Enbridge.


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Thomas, I was actually referring -- Ms. Wade had said that she referred to a supply-side solution that they may invoke, and so I was asking if we could have some information on that, and --


MR. THOMAS:  Please bring up C-1-1.


MR. QUINN:  Sir, if we are going back to your evidence, I have read your evidence.  I was hoping to hear something novel from Ms. Wade.  If you don't have anything novel, then I would appreciate using my time as efficiently as possible.


MR. THOMAS:  Matt Thomas, Enbridge.  I would like to clarify that we did evaluate Ojibway's supply in this evidence.


MR. QUINN:  I have read that, so I am going to move forward into some of the detail, which will help us, and Mr. Thomas, I would love to hear your contribution to the ideas we have and the barriers that you see would inhibit Enbridge in doing that.  So I want to ground this initially, because we are talking in midair, so if we could then have the page 2 of the compendium brought to the screen.  I am sorry, it's a rather large map, but if you could start on the left-hand side, if you would, Brittany, please.  We can see the field zone.  This is the Panhandle eastern pipeline system; correct?  To the witnesses.


MR. GILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So it branches, Mr. Gillett -- I will direct it to you until you divert me.  So on the left-hand side we have the field zone, which starts in Texas and Oklahoma, and then the market zone is a string of pipe -- if you could move the map to the northeast or to the right -- it terminates in Michigan, including a point opposite of Windsor at Ojibway.  Would you -- do you follow me on that, Mr. Gillett?


MR. GILLETT:  Yes, I would agree with that.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So currently Enbridge contracts for approximately 60,000 TJs that originate in the field zone?


MR. GILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  So on page 3 what I was trying to do is show a little more detail of the market area, but we can skip through to page 4, because it shows what we will come to eventually in the rover pipeline.  So if you can see on your screen, Mr. Gillett, this would be the rover pipeline which also connects into the Panhandle eastern pipeline at a place called Defiance in Ohio; correct?


MR. GILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. QUINN:  And then also continues on up into the market zone north as it's called, but that pipeline that it connects to is vector; correct?


MR. GILLETT:  Correct.  Rover has, just for a little bit of context, Rover has three potential primary paths.  One is interconnection with Panhandle eastern to go to Ojibway, one is to go to Vector, and then about two-thirds of the capacity, though, actually goes south, and it's backhaul on Panhandle eastern and ultimately Energy Transfers Trunkline, and it's generally split about two-thirds south, one-third north, with the majority of it going on Vector.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I am just going to, because I understand you may add more detail than I anticipated, if we can just move forward to page 9.  And actually, I should show the top of page 8.  This is the Panhandle eastern pipeline -- sorry, Brittany, I am confusing you.  At the top of page 8 is -- yes, just so we know what we are looking at, this is the Panhandle eastern pipeline unsubscribed capacity.  And this is from November 1st of this year; you see in the top right corner?


MR. GILLETT:  Yes, I see that.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So if we scroll down to page 9, the second-last row shows Union Ojibway Wayne County, a delivery location, and I am reading that as 30,500 and some NMBTUs.  Would that be correct, Mr. Gillett?


MR. GILLETT:  That's what I see as well, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Would you take my math subject to check that's about 32,200 GJs per day?


MR. GILLETT:  Sure, I will do that.


MR. QUINN:  Great, thank you.  So what I would like to do now is, we prefaced a number of our interrogatories with some of the history that came out of the last Panhandle, major Panhandle pipeline expansion in EB-2016-0186, and in that proceeding there was evidence that I referred to, and I want to just clear up something right from the start, because if we can move to, this would be page 10 of our compendium, this preamble that we had placed in some of our interrogatories going back into the first round of interrogatories last fall, we had said during the last major Panhandle reinforcement proceeding in EB-2016-0186, there was significant evidence regarding Energy Transfer's desire to increase deliveries to Dawn, including the potential to obligate at Ojibway.

In each of the IR responses, if we can scroll to the next page, Brittany, to the highlighted portion.  And in each of our responses Enbridge prefaced its answer stating, and essentially refuting that statement by asserting:

"Enbridge Gas does not accept FRPO's interpretation of the Panhandle reinforcement proceeding in the preamble, specifically the statement that there was significant evidence regarding Energy Transfer's desire to increase deliveries to Dawn, including the potential to obligate at Ojibway.  Energy Transfer did not express interest in increasing deliveries at Dawn as part of the Panhandle reinforcement proceeding; rather Rover LLC executed contracts for Ojibway to Dawn C1 service that were presented in that same proceeding and has not requested incremental capacity since."

Do you see that, Mr. Gillett?

MR. GILLETT:  I do, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Now, we did ask Enbridge to file the exhibit that the Board ordered Union to provide the first day of that proceeding and that document was put on the record as Exhibit K2.1 in the previous proceeding.

While Enbridge asserted relevancy in refusing to file in that -- to file that exhibit in this proceeding, we have included Exhibit K2.1 in our compendium starting at page 17.  So, if we can go there, please, Brittany.

For those who were not involved in the last Panhandle reinforcement project in 2016, I wanted to make sure that people understood the context of which we were inquiring because we had believed that at the time Energy Transfer had expressed its opportunity to get gas to Dawn through Ojibway and was willing to work with Union to do that.

So, if I could ask that you scroll down to page 22.

So, this was a letter from Energy Transfer to Union at the time, and the highlighting didn't translate well on the image, but this is Energy Transfer's letter to Union, days before the hearing was to start, saying we are concerned that Union has not been dealing in good faith with us and that Union is misleading the Ontario Energy Board.

Accordingly let me reiterate that we have been and continue to be seriously desirable of obtaining C1 capacity from Ojibway to Dawn for up to 75 dekatherms per day effective from the Rover in service date, currently expected to be November 1st, 2017, up to a period of 15-years; do you see that Mr. Gillett?

MR. GILLETT:  I do, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Would you agree with me that Energy Transfer, on behalf of the pipelines its owns, Rover and Panhandle eastern, had clear interest in increasing its flows from flows through Ojibway to Dawn?

MR. GILLETT:  I would not.  So, if we could maybe just go to page 55 of your compendium.  There's a lengthy exchange -- so, maybe I will just, to be helpful, I will start with this was very thoroughly explored in the 2016 Panhandle proceeding at the technical conference and ultimately at the hearing.  And the e-mails that were provided in your compendium, which are very helpful, they span a time period, I believe, of September 27th through to November 22nd.  During that time Rover was negotiating with Union to get as much capacity, free capacity, to Dawn as possible through Ojibway.  That letter that you referenced was provided to Union Gas at the time, as you said, sharing their concerns in what Union had been saying at the technical conference.

But what's in front of you now is the result of multiple back and forth conversations between Union and Energy Transfer to help them understand why Union said what they said at the tech conference, that ETP had it out of context, and that they were not attempting to mischaracterize ETP's intentions.  And so, here Beth Hickey who, at the time, was a vice president at Energy Transfer says that they agree now with the discussions that Union had and she says, and I quote:

"In specific we understand and agree that Union has been dealing with us in good faith and in our opinion has not been misleading the OEB."

I think the key thing to understand here is, so when Rover was looking -- so, Rover was a partially greenfield and partially TBO pipeline, TBO stands for transportation by others.  So, in order to minimize facilities, Rover built a section of greenfield pipeline to Michigan and for the remaining pipeline to get into Dawn they used transportation by others, or TBO, on their own Panhandle system as well as Vector.  The idea behind TBO is Rover would pay Panhandle, or themselves, and Rover to use their system.  Now, to Rover's shippers it just looks like Rover, so they nominate from the Rover supply zone into Dawn and it looks like one pipeline, but in reality it flows on Rover's greenfield and then the TBO capacity on Panhandle and Vector.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So --


MR. GILLETT:  Because, because -- well, sorry.  Just, I am trying not to take up too much of your time, but I do think this is important.

MR. QUINN:  This is where I want to cut to the chase, if I may.  I understand and I am going to go through that flow with you later.  That's why I am interrupting.  I apologize for that, because we do have some maps which will help the Board understand and see what you're exactly talking about and walk through it more carefully, Mr. Gillett, and you can tell me if what I am saying isn't fully understood.

But clarify for me in from that first letter that I brought you to the one that you brought us to, Energy Transfer entered into a contract with Union for incremental deliveries; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  So, that's and that's maybe the last couple of sentences I was going to add there is what Energy Transfer wanted to do was use their pipeline first.  So, before going to Vector, they wanted to use as much Panhandle capacity into Dawn as they could first, and then the remaining would go on Vector because that revenue would go to another pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  Right, okay.

MR. GILLETT:  Panhandle pipeline had 75,000 a day available on their side of the river and Energy Transfer assumed that that 75,000 a day was available all the way to Dawn.  What happened was they didn't realize that Union at the time could not accept that full 75, it could only accept 37 and so that generated all of these discussions.  And so, Rover was frustrated because they thought they could get that full 75.

And so that is what Beth Hickey was explaining, was that they felt that Union was dealing in bad faith, but once Rover realized that they couldn't get that full 75 across the river they signed a contract, as you said Mr. Quinn, for 37,000 a day and filed this letter to say we are fine we understand it now.

The reason why I take issue with you saying that they wanted incremental capacity was that they explicitly wanted to only fill up their pipeline.  They had no interest in increasing the capacity across the river, they simply wanted to use as much of their pipeline as possible and were frustrated when they realized that they couldn't use as much as they thought.

MR. QUINN:  So, is Energy Transfer, would you say they are a sophisticated counterparty for the purposes of contracting?

MR. GILLETT:  I would say that they are a, they are a pipeline operator.  I can't really speak to their sophistication in contracting.  But --


MR. QUINN:  Okay, so --


MR. GILLETT:  -- But they are a pipeline operator.

MR. QUINN:  So, we are going to walk through the summer market limitations that Enbridge has placed on its system and we will come back to that, but very importantly did Energy Transfer testify in this proceeding?

MR. GILLETT:  In the 2016 proceeding, no.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, okay.  Thank you.  So, moving forward we can debate later on whether there is still Energy Transfer may be interested in filling their pipe to use your expression, but that capacity then would have to come across, if used in the Panhandle eastern system, would come across the Detroit River crossing and into Ontario at Ojibway; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, the first part of your statement, Mr. Quinn were you saying that Energy Transfer had a desire to fill their pipeline in 2016 or now?  If you could just repeat what you said?

MR. QUINN:  Sir, in context we had made a statement about them desiring to have more capacity through Ojibway, we can go through a lot of detail but the bottom line is you resolved that and I am saying if Energy Transfer were to increase its supply from Panhandle eastern it would have to come across the Detroit River and come into Ojibway; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  I see, yes, that is correct and that capacity exists today.  There is available capacity across the river that Rover could contract.  It wasn't available back then in 2016 but since 2019 there's been about 21,000 a day that's available and Rover has not contracted for its since.

MR. QUINN:  But an update to that figure is the one I showed you as November 1st is 32,000 that they have delivery capability to Ojibway; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  So that -- actually, yeah, if you could maybe go back up to that report.  Maybe I misunderstood what you were looking for, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Page 9, Brittany, Mr. Gillett, I do have -- and I know you are keenly aware of the limitations on our time, so we will go to page 9 on the compendium and then I would like to move forward.

MR. GILLETT:  Sure.  I won't take long.

So this report, my understanding is it's an operational availability report, so --


MR. QUINN:  No, actually, sir, if you scroll to the top of the page, Brittany, the top of page 8, unsubscribed capacity separate from operational capacity available.

MR. GILLETT:  Right.  And so that is a report of what's available on that gas day.  So if you look at the top it will say posted effective gas day end effective gas day.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. GILLETT:  And so just as a good example, if you were to -- so this was November 1st -- if you had looked at this report on October 31st, that capacity was much, much lower, because on November 1st -- my assumption, and again, I don't mean to represent Energy Transfer, but my assumption is that that's winter capacity, but that's not necessarily what's available for annual contracting with renewal rights.  That would be what's available, the 21,000 that we mentioned, and that's throughout our evidence, as part of the RFP package as well, that's what's actually available to contract long-term.  This report is not what's available to contract long-term.

MR. QUINN:  So the bottom line is there's more winter capacity than summer capacity.

MR. GILLETT:  That's correct, and we have that in our evidence, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Let's move forward, sir, because we have a lot to cover.

So we talked about the limitations on your system, and that is established based upon the summer and winter constraints.

So if we can move to page 56, Brittany, please.  This is where we asked about the summer and winter constraints, and to scroll to the bottom line, if we go to the next page, on page 57, this is the response we received as winter has 126 and summer has 108.  Correct?  As capacity constraints for the gas that can be taken in at Ojibway in those respective seasons.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I want to understand the development of those numbers and the assumptions that go into it.  So this is why we had asked for a summer simulation, which was refused by Enbridge.  So we tried to harvest an IR response from the 2016 proceeding.

So if we can scroll to the next page, so it's at least a helpful reference.  Because exchange of analogy of the trunk and branches -- actually, if you can expand that so it can be seen.  I am going to focus on pipe mains, Brittany, thank you.

So this is the schematic that was provided to us, and the summer design scenario back in the 2016 proceeding.  And I understand the pressures and the flows will all be different because we don't have an updated copy, this is what I could use, but I want to walk through the flow of gas in the summer for which Enbridge is saying the Windsor market has a limitation of 108 in the summer.

So working from the left-hand side, we do have Ojibway and the red dotted lines that feed the northern pipe.

And, again, because I don't want to get into the dynamics of Sandwich, we understand them from the past proceeding, I want to focus on the more northerly line that goes through the Grand Marais station, and I am not sure, Mr. Gillett, if this is you or if this is Mr. Dillon, but what -- what branches of the line on the north side of the line, how far to the east or in this case left to right on the diagram does the Windsor summer market extend?

MR. GILLETT:  So first, I am very happy that we are reusing my tree analogy, so I am glad it stuck.  I think the concern we have, Mr. Quinn, is we don't model the minimum market demand in Windsor.  That's not how it's calculated.  And so our refusal to provide it was not to -- was because of that.  It's not done through a hydraulic model, and actually, maybe Mr. Thomas can describe how we calculate that minimum market, because there's -- it's a separate methodology to do that, and that methodology was explored in the 2016 Panhandle proceeding --


MR. QUINN:  I understand.

MR. GILLETT:  -- and was accepted by the Board, so it might be helpful just to really quick --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Gillett, I understand.  I was in the 2016 proceeding, but we didn't go to this level of detail, I can tell you that definitively.  So we are asking how it was determined.  If Mr. Thomas wants to refer to this diagram and provide us an explanation, I would be happy to hear it.

MR. THOMAS:  Please bring up B.2.1, page 8.

MR. QUINN:  Will this tell us which laterals you have assumed?

MR. THOMAS:  It will not.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then I would actually -- then I am going to -- whoever is responsible of flow dynamics, whether it's Mr. Thomas or Mr. Dillon, when the gas flows into Ojibway in the summer, it can flow past Grand Marais.  Can we go back to my diagram, please?  Thank you.

So the gas can flow past Grand Marais into other points on the blue dotted line; correct?

MR. DILLON:  That is correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And so it actually goes past the blue dotted line to the blue dashed line and back to the dotted line.  Those are just a change in size, correct?

MR. DILLON:  So there is lower pressure system, as you know, in the red area of the map, versus the blue area of the map, and --


MR. QUINN:  I'm actually --


MR. DILLON:  -- there are times of the year where we can have capacity flow past Grand Marais into the blue area.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. DILLON:  That null point changes over time of the year.

MR. QUINN:  Great.  So throughout the summer there's a better chance the gas will flow further east because there's less demand overall in the system; correct?

MR. DILLON:  Subject to check, yes, that could be the case.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And this is important to understand, because does it flow into the green line, then, past Dover transmission?

MR. DILLON:  I don't believe we have it flowing into the green line.

MR. QUINN:  When you say don't have it flowing in, what stops it from flowing in?

MR. DILLON:  May I have one moment, please?

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  To help with your discussions, because I can't see you on the screen, I would like to stick to flow, and then we will talk about determinations of some of Windsor market, if that's helpful.

MR. GILLETT:  So Mr. Quinn, just while they're conferring, if you are trying to -- I just am trying to be helpful.  If you are trying to figure out how we calculate the Windsor market, Mr. Thomas can walk through that, and it's pretty straightforward how we do it.  I have not done --


MR. QUINN:  [Speaking over each other]

MR. GILLETT:  -- hydraulic modelling.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, the hydraulic modelling is a representation -- we are going to get to this a little bit later, Mr. Gillett, but this is a representation of what the system can do, and that is what I am asking, is what did Enbridge assume of what its system can do to increase the market available in the summer, and at this point I am hearing you going back to a methodology -- and we will get to that in a moment -- but I am asking about the flow, because this is trying to simulate reality and what's happening in the system.

MR. GILLETT:  And I think the key is, is that we can't -- the market is the market.  Like, we cannot increase the market, and so the way we calculate it is through actual measurement and actual customer consumption, because we can't -- we can't make the market.

MR. QUINN:  And we will get to that in a moment.  I didn't know if Mr. Dillon had an answer for us.

MR. GILLETT:  Yeah, fair enough.

MR. DILLON:  Mr. Quinn, so when we calculated the summer minimum market, it is not based on hydraulic modelling, and if I can give an explanation of that, would you be willing --


MR. QUINN:  Can I ask specifically which branches you used to calculate the consumption?  I understand.  I have read your evidence on the consumption, so I don't need to necessarily hear all that again.

What I am interested in is what branches did Enbridge assume would be included in the Windsor market.

MR. DILLON:  So those branches would be in the yellow -- sorry, in the yellow and in the red sections.

MR. QUINN:  I don't see -- oh, yellow -- okay, and red sections.  So no further past -- you are not assuming any consumption past Grand Marais.

MR. DILLON:  So what I would like to do is explain how we calculate the summer market, so that maybe gives some better understanding to everyone here.

MR. QUINN:  Not in a lot of detail, sir, because it's in the evidence and you can point to it in your submissions, so very briefly, how is the consumption calculated?

MR. DILLON:  So, the consumption is calculated via actual measured data numbers --


MR. QUINN:  The last -- sorry.

MR. DILLON:  And the numbers in the model -- so, the numbers in the model that you're seeking the model is loaded with design day numbers extrapolated out to a 43.1, which is our design, and we are instructed to simulate the worst-case scenario on design day --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Dillon, Mr. Dillon, can I ask --


MR. KEIZER:  Can you let me --


MR. QUINN:  This is going to confuse the record.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Quinn, can you allow him to finish the response?

MR. QUINN:  He is talking about design day when we are talking about summer, sir, and that is only going to serve to confuse the record.  I am asking about the calculation of the summer consumption in the Windsor market.

MR. KEIZER:  And his intention is to get you there I am sure, to be able to understand how the model actually works relative to the summer.  So, if you could let the witness finish.

MR. DILLON:  So, yes, so we extrapolate that out to 43.1.  Then we put that to a zero degree day, and when we do that we have to recognize we are using winter data from November to March to extrapolate that summer number.  That would include power, that would include other customers, that are not burning on the summer day.

So, once we extrapolate it out to zero, it gives a summer number.  In order to get that to match out to what we have a market minimum, which is what would be garnered by the numbers that were given to you for FRPO 9, we would divide that number in half and that gives us a proxy and that proxy is used for other design systems that we would do, like looking at pigging operations, general operations that are in the system.

So, the model does not provide any valuable numbers to assist in determining what the minimum market is.  That minimum market is based on actual data.

MR. QUINN:  Well, if I may, sir, I would suggest that Enbridge's utilization of the model that way doesn't help you, but I am going to suggest you look at it a different way.  So, let's just start back in the physical reality.  If you have gas that is not consumed in the red area that you had originally noted, it will continue to flow past Grand Marais and into the blue section; correct?

MR. DILLON:  Yes, that is correct, we confirm that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And then it can and may go past Dover transmission all if way up to the Dawn west lines which is the far right point; correct?  I am saying may.  I am not saying will always, but if there is extra gas that has not been consumed and there is pressure that is higher in the blue line than the green line, that gas will continue to flow; correct?

MR. DILLON:  One moment, please.  I would say no to that.  The green line is operating on much higher pressure and gas does not flow into that area of the system.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Can I ask you why you flow, why you have a higher pressure in the green line during the summer?  Actually by undertaking can I get you to provide the summer operating pressure in the green line that would be Enbridge's summer operations.  If you don't know the number off the top of your head if you could take it by undertaking, please?

MR. DILLON:  I can provide that number.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J2.2.
UNDERTAKING J2.2:  ENBRIDGE (1) TO PROVIDE FIGURES TO THE SUMMER OPERATING PRESSURES INDICATED BY THE GREEN LINE; (2) TO ADVISE HOW LOW COULD THAT REGULATOR BE SET TO MEET THE SUMMER NEEDS OF THE GREEN LINE MARKET DURING SUMMER OPERATIONS.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now so, now that is the reality of what's happening.  Can you reduce flow out of Dawn into that green section of line such that the regulator is only set to be a backup in the event extra pressure is needed?  I think it's a simple answer.  Okay.


If I can get you to undertake that answer to that question and how low could that regulator be set to meet the summer needs of the green line market during summer operations, I would like if you could take that two-part undertaking, please, because I am limited on time.

MR. KEIZER:  Could we ask, is that a calculation that's doable or to clarify with the witness?


MR. DILLON:  It's like I said before, we do not have a summer model to evaluate this.  I think we could look at what the minimum number could be and what the model could get down to or what the system could get down to and provide some information for, like, on a schematic basis.

MR. QUINN:  That's what I was asking for in the first place, sir, so thank you if you could provide that.

MR. KEIZER:  I think as well, though, with any appropriate assumptions and caveats built in, yes.

MR. DILLON:  Yes, best efforts.

MR. QUINN:  Well, to be clear, though, I am asking what could be done.  Not what Enbridge does do but I am saying as low as you can and that is something that can be simulated and calculated fairly simply.

MR. DILLON:  I will say this, we do have two constraints we need to meet within our modelling, one in Leamington, one at Brighton Beach power station, so to the extent that we would still meet those constraints to service the customers on the system and be able to meet our 1900KPS system to service all other markets, we can try to come up with a schematic that will show you what you want.

MR. QUINN:  I want to be clear, that last constraints you're putting on it are subject to winter constraints that you have in those areas; correct?

MR. DILLON:  No, those are not winter constraints.  Those are the operating conditions the 2275 that you will see at Leamington North gate, that is the condition that we will hold there Brighton Beach power is requiring their inlet constraint and we will be holding it at that constraint to service their customer -- that customer.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  In your answer, if you can explain why you have got a 2275 constraint at Leamington North that would be very helpful for us to understand.  And lastly, can you operate the two lines separately, in other words, do you have valving which would allow you to operate the south line separate from the north line?

MR. DILLON:  We will include that to the undertaking.

MR. QUINN:  If you could add that to undertaking, thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J2.3.
UNDERTAKING J2.3:  ENBRIDGE TO EXPLAIN THE 2275 CONSTRAINT AT LEAMINGTON NORTH; TO EXPLAIN WHETHER VALVING EXISTS THAT WOULD ALLOW THE SOUTH LINE TO OPERATE SEPARATELY FOR THE NORTH LINE


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think we've used this as best we can because I will be appreciative of getting your updated schematic.

If we can scroll to the next page, please, Brittany.  And we are not going to spend a lot of time on this, but if you can expand it.  Just a little more, the focus is on Dawn, right at the south part, thank you.  This is the only one I can find.

So, at the very bottom you can see, you may not be able to read it, but it says Panhandle 36 and 20 do you see that coming in at the bottom?  Thank you, Brittany.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, I do.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So, just to the west of it, the next line to the west of this is called the Sarnia south line.  And I am interested if Mr. -- sorry Mr. Mondrow brought you to that earlier today, and so I would like just to scroll to the next page, page 60.  And this is the project that Mr. Mondrow was going through with you this morning.  And just to locate ourselves, the yellow line on the left-hand side is the Panhandle line; correct?  Well actually it's labelled Panhandle so let's move on.  The blue line is the Sarnia south line; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  That's what it says on the diagram, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  And so, those lines are connected, the Panhandle line is connected to the Sarnia south line near Dover; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  I'm not sure if it is.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If you can take that by undertaking, please.

MR. GILLETT:  Because there is --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If you could take that by undertaking and then this is an if it is connected, then I would like to ask Enbridge to look at the ability to optimize or increase the flow in the Windsor market by allowing flow to go from the Panhandle system into the Sarnia south line.  As you can see and you were trying to describe before, I didn't want to interject on your discussion with Mr. Mondrow, but this is the map you were looking for in your head, I think, Mr. Gillett, is that there's an interwoven network of pipes.


What I am asking is that you expand your operation scenario for the summer to include other things such as connecting the -- sorry allowing flow from the Panhandle line into the Sarnia south line during the summer for the purposes of increasing the amount of gas that can be consumed in the Windsor market in the summer.  Can we have that as an undertaking?

MR. GILLETT:  I believe we can do that, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J2.4.
UNDERTAKING J2.4:  ENBRIDGE TO PROVIDE AN EXPANDED SCENARIO FOR SUMMER SHOWING FLOW FROM PANHANDLE LINE INTO THE SARNI SOUTH LINE.


MR. QUINN:  This is helpful, thank you.  Okay.  Now, before we leave the summer market constraint, the information that I read and we don't have to go through it in terms of the actual consumptions and what Mr. Dillon added to that about assumptions to simplify and come up with summer consumption, but that's all done on a retrospective basis; correct?  You look back to the previous five years?

MR. GILLETT:  Maybe I will make a quick comment and then pass it to Mr. Thomas.

So, yes, this, this methodology was part of the 2016 Panhandle proceeding and was actually acknowledged in the Board's decision that they accept the way Union calculates it.  And then maybe Mr. Thomas can just explain, explain how it works.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Gillett, since you have that knowledge, was this type -- the questions that I am asking about expanding the Windsor market, was that tested at all during that proceeding, to your knowledge?

MR. GILLETT:  Expanding the Windsor market?  I don't recall.  I am not sure.

MR. QUINN:  Can you -- okay, you can provide anything -- I am just going to move on.  I was there, we were there.  It wasn't discussed to this level of detail, otherwise I wouldn't be asking these questions.

So it is retrospective.  You are using five years of actual consumption.  That is in your evidence; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  So maybe Mr. -- I would like Mr. Thomas to confirm, because that's not my area of expertise.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Thomas, can you confirm that?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, I can confirm that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So we have talked at different times in this proceeding about the Stellantis plant.  What number have you put into your summer market to represent the load that the Stellantis plant will use in the summer?

MR. THOMAS:  Those loads will be included in the future once the actuals are realized.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So I understand this is an individual customer and confidentiality, so I am going to ask it this way:  Can Enbridge provide by confidential submission what the summer consumption will be for that plant?  You've created a contract with Stellantis, presumably -- maybe I should ask that.

Mr. Ciupka, do you have a contract with Stellantis?

MR. CIUPKA:  Are you referring to the NextStar EV battery plant --


MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. CIUPKA:  -- or the Stellantis automotive facility?

MR. QUINN:  Okay, either of them.  And that might help us with confidentiality.  What are the assumptions that Enbridge has -- what amount of consumption has Enbridge included in its constraint of the Windsor market?

MR. DILLON:  So I can say that as we are -- sorry, my counterpart turned me off, trying to mute himself.

I would say that since we are design day modelling as a group, we are looking at the design constraint in the winter, we do not model these things in the summer, so there is no number in the summer for Stellantis --


MR. QUINN:  I am not asking about --


MR. DILLON:  No, but you're asking me for the summer market, and what I have included in the summer market for Stellantis, we said that these flows do not exist as of yet, so when we get some history on these plants they will be included in the summer, I guess you could say proxy that we'd be using for operations.

So I said at that time in the future we would be able to determine what that summer usage would be for those customers.

MR. QUINN:  We are confusing the record again, sir. I am asking about the consumptions, the consumptions that go into your definition of constraint of the maximum amount of the Windsor market.  Not your model, but your consumptions?  So we are asking for those two figures, and I am going to respect that there may be some confidentiality, which Enbridge can handle appropriately, but I would like what is the forecasted summer consumption of both of those contracts, because that will serve to increase the consumption in the Windsor market in the summer; correct?

MR. MORAN:  Just a moment, Mr. Quinn, just to understand the answer that we heard.  If I understand it correctly, NextStar is served but not consuming; is that the -- do I understand your answer correctly, and that's why you don't have consumption data?  They have signed up, they have got the firm contract, but they are not actually using it yet.

MR. MacPHERSON:  That's correct, Commissioner Moran.  If you were to take a picture of the site, we put the contract into service per the request of the customer on September 1st.  However, the shell of the building is going up, and as we understand it, machinery and all the plant is to be constructed in the next -- I am not sure how much longer it will take.

So we have no real experience.  And this is the first EV battery plant in this country, so we don't even have another example to draw upon to say what we think this will happen or how much they will utilize.

MR. MORAN:  Does that clarify things, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Actually, I appreciate you're trying to seek clarity, because I am trying to assist the Panel in understanding this.

These two customers would come and talk with Enbridge about their needs for energy.  Not only winter needs, but summer needs, because that will define potentially the amount of storage that would be allocated if they enter into a T carriage service type contract.

So Enbridge should have information on not only their winter but their summer, because to design properly a station if there is a big gap between their summer and winter needs, you design the customer station so that low flow in the summer is metered accurately.

All of those things go into serving a large customer.  Enbridge has that information, and we are asking them to provide it as to a reasonable estimation of what the summer consumption would be for those respective plants.

MR. MORAN:  So let me see if we can get through this.

Given that you don't have consumption data, do you have some forecast data that can help us understand what the summer consumption might look like for this plant?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Just one moment.

So just confirming that we just -- we don't have this information from the customer at this time.  All we have is contractually specified contract demand, max hourly flow, and minimum operating pressures for this facility.  And they have provided us no additional detail on minimum -- minimum operating conditions and flows in the summer.

MR. QUINN:  Is that something that can be asked of the customer for the purposes of assisting, potentially, in lowering their costs of access?

MR. KEIZER:  My view would be that we -- I would object to that question in terms of, one, whether it's even possible to obtain it.  If the customer hasn't otherwise advised Enbridge or found it to be material with respect to their service, I don't think it's incumbent on Enbridge to go now and find out what they could or may do, especially when they are in the midst of still constructing the building.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. MacPherson, has Enbridge started the process of designing customer station?

MR. MacPHERSON:  As I've already answered, the customer is in-service, so the station and all assets to serve the customer's contractual needs are present and in place.

MR. QUINN:  And so you're saying your operations engineering department did not ask what the minimum summer flow would be for the purposes of low flow measurement?

MR. GILLETT:  I think the concern we are having is we are back into design conditions, and as Mr. Thomas explained, the way we calculate minimum market is not based on minimum inflows or low flow design of stations, it's based on the actual measurement in aggregate of the Windsor market.

So I just caution that looking at facility design parameters won't -- won't get us what we need to calculate a minimum market.  Because their minimum market could be higher than that, so we need to see the actual measurement.

MR. QUINN:  Actually, sir, I disagree with that, but I am going to move on, because this is clearly not dealing with the realities of the situation.  Gas has to flow to this customer, you want to measure it accurately, you should know their load profile.

Can you answer the question, do they have a T service type contract?  Do they have a direct purchase contract?

MR. MacPHERSON:  We can confirm that the customer has executed a distribution services agreement with the company.

MR. QUINN:  And does that include a direct purchase contract?  I am asking this question to clarify, because if you have got a direct purchase contract you have what their seasonal flows would be because ultimately you need to establish your DCQ.

MR. MacPHERSON:  The customer has executed a T service type distribution agreement, meaning direct purchase is part and parcel, part of that but there's no, at this time, there are no flows on the contract so, again, we are wanting for the information that you're requiring.  We are not trying to be difficult, we just don't have it.

MR. QUINN:  You don't have it but would you be able to estimate it from those contracts; correct?

MR. MacPHERSON:  I would say no, like --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If you can't do that then --


MR. MacPHERSON:  As I answered already, if it was a familiar type of operation we could do that.  We just don't have any experience here.

MR. GILLETT:  Maybe just to try to be helpful --


MR. QUINN:  Actually, Mr. Gillett, I am going to move on to another line of questions because this has eaten up more of my time than I anticipated.  So, if we can go to page 64 of it, I will accept that Enbridge is saying they can't do it.  I will take the rest for argument. So, I am just -- What I am trying to do is get the picture of Chatham-Kent system off there so it doesn't confuse people.  So, getting back to considerations of if and when we may consider the summer market in Windsor could be larger, I want to look at how Enbridge could increase deliveries through Ojibway.  So, the only C1 contract that you have that goes from Ojibway to Dawn for service is Rover's 37,000 GJs a day, C1 contract; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now we understand through FRPO 7, and I don't want you to tun it up, that Enbridge has evidence Energy Transfer says they cannot obligate the deliveries, that's what's in your response to us.  And this is because they cannot be certain that the shipper or shippers with whom they have contracted to provide service from supply zone to Dawn will nominate on that given the day; is that correct?

MR. GILLETT:  That's correct.  As a transportation pipeline they don't hold title to that gas, so they don't control the nominations of that gas.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That's helpful.  So, I actually, Brittany, I had asked you to go to this page.  If you can go back to page 4 which shows the Rover pipeline I think that will give us bigger context for our discussion.  Thank you.  So, Rover can and does drop gas off at Defiance that uses the Panhandle Eastern to bring the gas through to Ojibway up to the 37,000 GJs of the C1 contract; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So, the northern leg, though, goes beyond Defiance to the market zone, we understand that Rover has rights closer to a million GJs a day to move gas from the supply zone to Dawn through the north route ultimately using Vector to get to Dawn.  Can you confirm that?

MR. GILLETT:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you, I thought it might be more difficult.  Chances are then, if they have capacity for a million GJs a day, the probability is at least 5 percent of that amount would be nominated each and every day, would that be a reasonable assumption?

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, you're asking is it a reasonable assumption that there's at least 5 percent of Rover's gas flowing on Vector?

MR. QUINN:  5 percent of Rover's gas would flow through the market zone and ultimately on to Vector on any given day.

MR. GILLETT:  I cannot speak to that, no.  I can't confirm that.

MR. QUINN:  Does Enbridge have any pipelines that it uses in its gas supply plan that have a summer utilization that's less than 5 percent?

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry.  So, are you asking is there upstream pipelines that will go below 5 percent flow.

MR. QUINN:  No go below.  That you would use on a summer basis would use less than 5 percent for the summer.

MR. GILLETT:  I apologize.  I am not quite sure I -- could you try restating the question?  I am not quite sure I understand.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Gillett, you are the gas supply director, that's your title still?

MR. GILLETT:  No.  No, but I was previously.  No, I genuinely just don't understand the question, Mr. Quinn.  I apologize.

MR. QUINN:  If you have contracts and you are going to pay an annual, a monthly demand charged based upon annual utilization is it your expectation that some of those pipes were utilized less than 5 percent during the summer.

MR. GILLETT:  So, if I understand the question properly, in the Union south zone we plan to use our upstream pipelines at 100 percent utilization because we are able to inject into Dawn storage.  There are in the north, though, where they're captive to the main line, that utilization in the summer can drop very low compared to what we would utilize in the south.  I am not sure if that answers your question.

MR. QUINN:  No, it doesn't and it's we are getting more esoteric, because that's also used for the purpose of peak demands, so I am going to just move on.  I am just going to ask the question directly, then.

So, why hasn't Enbridge engaged Energy Transfer to establish a protocol that on any given that day that the same delivery that would otherwise send to the north, the market zone north, to Vector to Dawn that Energy Transfer could have that gas flow in the Ojibway pipeline on a day that the 37,000 is not nominated for whatever reason by the supplier that is, that Rover is taking all the way to Dawn, why is it that Enbridge has not engaged in discussion with Energy Transfer to say on those days as opposed to sending extra gas to the north through Vector to Dawn, we will use the pipeline that goes through from Defiance through Ojibway and will give you a shorter path to use your C1 contract to get that gas, such that it can be obligated each and every day?

MR. GILLETT:  So, energy -- so we have asked Energy Transfer if they would be willing to obligate their shippers to Ojibway, and that's not something they can do.  So, they don't hold title.  But even beyond, that Energy Transfer is going to set their system up in the most optimal way possible for them, so depending on what volumes are flowing backhaul to the gulf, what volumes are going to be feeding other -- because remember there's also markets between --


MR. QUINN:  Okay --


MR. GILLETT: -- Defiance, sorry, I will go quick.  But it's important because the market --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Gillett, I see where you're going with this, I am asking a different question.  I am asking as the pipeline operator, from your knowledge which I respect, TransCanada is sending Dawn LTFP from Alberta through to Dawn each and every day.  From your knowledge, they choose whether that gas for their customer is going from out west to Dawn they choose whether that gas flows through Michigan or flows over the northern Ontario line; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  That's correct, yes.

MR. QUINN:  So, as a pipeline operator that's why what I am asking about Energy Transfer as a pipeline operator, not a shipper of gas.

So, is there any reason why you could see, based on your experience, Energy Transfer if it wanted to, and was incented to, that it would be willing to divert some of what was going in through Vector to Dawn on the days that the gas is not nominated by the supply contract?

MR. GILLETT:  I see.  No, I -- so, one of the key things to recognize is that when we develop the RFP for the exchange service, was we specifically left it open to include volumes that would include the C1 contract that Rover holds, so that Rover could participate in some way.  So, there is -- there was -- if there was an opportunity for Rover to work with shippers to figure out a way to have that supply routed through Ojibway on an obligated basis on a predictable basis, then Energy Transfer would have participated in that RFP, and they chose not to.  Because I think what you're describing would have been accommodated within that RFP response because that's the kind of thing that they could have done based on how we -- well, how we put the RFP out.

MR. QUINN:  Well, based on how you put the RFP out I understand why you recorded that they could not obligate the service.  That doesn't mean as a pipeline operator they couldn't work this out.  But I am going to move on.

My question, very specifically and assuming it's 21,000 or 32,000, why is it that Enbridge has not contracted for more gas supply that would use the path on Panhandle system and bring that gas into Ojibway?

MR. GILLETT:  Maybe Mr. Thomas could maybe talk about the alternatives analysis that we did.

MR. QUINN:  No.  Can I say -- okay.  If you want to go that way, if in your answer tell us, did you take into account the system benefits and how did you quantify the system benefits in your landed gas cost analysis.

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, are you asking -- I just realized, are you asking the question from a gas supply portfolio planning perspective, or are you asking from --

MR. QUINN:  Both.

MR. GILLETT:  -- a facilities alternative perspective?

MR. QUINN:  Both, both.  They are not different sections.  You can do cost allocation to separate costs to the extent -- and I am hoping we get into this discussion, because this is an opportunity for you from a gas supply perspective, you do a line and cost analysis; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Do you take into the account the facilities benefit that would be associated with controlling that gas and being able to nominate it each and every day by your discretion?

MR. GILLETT:  So the fact that we hold -- so this is actually -- we are kind of into a different proceeding here, but if you --

MR. QUINN:  Actually, sir, I am asking the question.  Do you take it into account when you do a landed cost analysis?

MR. GILLETT:  That's what -- sorry, I was going to answer.  Go ahead, Mr. Keizer.

MR. KEIZER:  I was going to say, like, let him finish the answer, and you can move on to your next question, but interrupting him is not helping anybody.

MR. GILLETT:  What I was going to say was in the annual gas supply planning proceeding, this is discussed, this concept that we hold 60,000 a day on Panhandle today, and it provides some gas supply portfolio benefits, right?  There's the gas supply planning principles, the Board's principles that we adhere to, and we do have benefits that we get from having that supply, including acknowledging the fact that it's reduced the amount of facilities we have needed across -- or in the Panhandle system, and that was part of -- it was acknowledged in the 2016 proceeding, and so essentially, once that 60,000 a day was committed to in that 2016 proceeding, we have carried that through in our portfolio to maintain those benefits.

MR. QUINN:  But you're not proposing it here to increase that amount.

MR. GILLETT:  So, yeah, that's what I was going to say next was, so what you're talking about now is, if we go beyond what we have established through the 2016 proceeding and through the annual gas supply process, what you're talking about is now layering on the extra 21 that's available?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. GILLETT:  That's Mr. Thomas's analysis, the alternatives analysis that I was going to have him quickly speak to.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, so then my question then, why isn't Enbridge proposing that in this proceeding, to reduce the amount of 36-inch pipe that could otherwise be not needed, so Mr. Thomas, if you can answer that question.

MR. THOMAS:  Please bring up C.1.1, page 18.

MR. QUINN:  Oh, boy.  Sir, again, I have read this document.

MR. KEIZER:  I know you have read it, Mr. Quinn, but Mr. Thomas -- you have asked the question.  He is referring to his evidence, which he has a right to do.

MR. QUINN:  Right.

MR. THOMAS:  Enbridge Gas evaluated hybrid alternatives that utilized the existing capabilities of the Panhandle eastern pipeline system in combination with a reduced pipeline facility.  These alternatives were ultimately rejected because they were uneconomic to the proposed project.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I see that hybrid alternative has a lower NPV.  You've rejected it on the basis of cost per unit capacity.  That's something for argument.

I would like by undertaking for you to extend Table 4 to using not 21 but 32, because, as Mr. Gillett pointed out earlier, it is and may -- you should be able to contract it for the winter and subsequently an additional 37, because the C1 contract with Rover, it terminates in October of 2025, and you may have opportunity either through negotiation with Energy Transfer or on your own to discontinue that contract and increase your amount of supply.

So if I could have Table 4 extended from 21 to 32 and see how much the facility cost goes down and again instead of 32, 69, and then redo that table, that would help us understand the potential benefit of gas supply utilizing firm obligated deliveries at Ojibway.

Can you provide that by way of undertaking, please.

MR. THOMAS:  There's a few pieces to that, so I think maybe I will start with going to the evidence.  Please bring up C.1.1, page 4.  Under "risk management", one of our criteria we established was that alternatives must not contain material risk relative to other alternatives, which includes price risk and availability.  Price risk is the chance that the price or cost of the alternative may increase once it's installed or that the risk that the alternative may become unavailable to meet the identified system need.

Those capacities stated are not available on a long-term basis based on the outcomes of the RFP; therefore, they are not appropriate alternatives.

MR. QUINN:  I am asking for a different alternative, not your RFP.  I am asking for Enbridge to buy the gas and not RFP it.  So you're distorting my request.  I am asking for that numerics to be done, and you can added the caveats you want with it, but I am asking Enbridge to enter into a long-term contract for gas supply, and if you're going to be concerned about cost, you don't have to get it from the Panhandle field zone, you can get it from the Rover supply zone at a lower cost.  That would be correct, would it not, Mr. Gillett?

MR. GILLETT:  So Mr. Quinn, I think the concern we have with the undertaking you have requested is there's two main assumptions, and neither of them are appropriate.

So one is there is not 30,000 a day available as a long-term contract.  There's at most 21,000 a day, and that's been confirmed by Energy Transfer themselves.  I understand that you've looked at a gas day availability report.  That is not what Energy Transfer has available.

The other piece is we have no indication that Rover is going to suddenly give up the C1 contract that they have, which is a TBO contract required to provision service on behalf of the Rover shippers to Dawn.

So both those -- both those assumptions are not appropriate.

MR. QUINN:  I am going to deal with the second assumption that you've made.  Does Rover have renewal rights for the C1 contract?  Okay.  You don't know the answer.  Please --

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, Rover LLC has renewal rights, and subsequently --

MR. QUINN:  To --

MR. THOMAS:  -- and subsequently that contract was automatically renewed on November 1 of this year and now has an end date of October 31, 20 [audio dropout].

MR. QUINN:  And -- but do they have that right to
do -- to extend it beyond 2026?

MR. THOMAS:  Mr. Quinn, just a second.

Subsequently that contract has now been renewed until October 31, 2026.  Rover maintains their renewal right on a rolling basis every two years --

MR. QUINN:  Do they have --

MR. THOMAS:  -- the contract automatically renews for one year except for --

MR. QUINN:  So your --

MR. THOMAS:  -- if the shipper provides Enbridge Gas notice in writing that they do not want to renew that contract.

MR. QUINN:  And Union has -- sorry, Enbridge has the right to notify Rover they will not be renewing that contract as of 2026; correct?

MR. THOMAS:  That is not correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Can you provide by way of undertaking the legal grounds you're answering that on the basis of?  Because I read the C1 contracts, and to me it sounds like either party can terminate the contract, and that's what I am asking.  On the basis of your answer, provide me with where Enbridge does not hold that right.

MR. KEIZER:  Can I just have a moment, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Chair, while he is consulting, I am concerned that -- I am very respectful of your time, but this is hopefully helpful to the Board, but I am going to go a little over the 75 minutes which, I am about 74 right now.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Chair, sorry to interrupt. That's fine.  We may have to provide it in confidence, and so we can try to undertake to do that.

MR. QUINN:  I'd accept that, Mr. Keizer.  Thank you for accommodating.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J2.5.
UNDERTAKING J2.5:  ENBRIDGE TO ADVISE ITS VIEW OF LEGAL GROUNDS ON ROVER'S CONTRACT RENEWAL RIGHTS IN 2026.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.  In terms of timing, we are about 15 minutes away from the lunch break, so maybe we will let you take us at least that far.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, sir.  Thank you very much for the accommodation, and I will not go past, beyond that.

I am going to change subjects, because we are limited here.

So, I am going to start out this and I was very much captivated by the discussion with Mr. Mondrow this morning, and in my view definitions are tricky.  But Union Gas and Enbridge have used the term "hydraulics" over the years, and I have bristled at that, and Commissioner Sword even asked for a definition of hydraulics and one was offered that, with all due respect, is misnomer.

Please don't take my word for it, but the Oxford dictionary definition of hydraulics is the branch of science and technology concerned with the conveyance of liquids through pipes and channels especially as a source of mechanical force or control.  Our point here is, respectfully, because Enbridge defines something it doesn't always make it so.  So, we have a different definition which I would be happy to provide in our submissions and help the Panel understand.

But I want to extend that in the same way Enbridge has applied definitions to its pipeline and applied different economic tests, as it was clear from the discussion of the Chatham-Kent project with Mr. Mondrow, Mr. Gillett, when you say it's a transmission pipeline but for the purposes of the economics and to apply the funding sources it was assumed to be distribution.  Did I -- is that a simple summary of what your discussion was with Mr. Mondrow?

MR. GILLETT:  So, just a quick comment about the hydraulics comment, yes, I don't mean to cause any confusion.  If you want to substitute any time I said hydraulics for, you know, how the gas behaves that's really what it is.  So, if I ever said how we model the hydraulics of the system it's how we are modelling how the gas behaves in that system.  I want to provide that clarify.

MR. QUINN:  On a side note, Mr. Gillett, if you and I can come up with a better definition we can use in a future proceedings.  But for the purposes of the discussion here you had with Mr. Mondrow, you took a transmission pipe to finance distribution for the purposes of allocating funding for that project is that a simple summary?

MR. GILLETT:  I am not comfortable saying that we -- so, absent the Natural Gas Grant Program requirement, absent that, I am not comfortable saying how we would have filed that project or whether we would have proceeded with that project or whether we would have called it distribution or transmission.  I that would have to, like, go back in time and figure out how we would have classified it.

MR. QUINN:  Okay --


MR. GILLETT:  And Chatham east -- sorry, just real quick -- I know it's called Chatham east transmission, how that actually applies to the various ways of defining transmission versus distribution, I wasn't really coming prepared to do that.  All I can say is that because of the requirements of the NGGP program that's why it was filed as a 188.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I am going to accept that the economics will speak for itself but I do want to go back to the first project in his compendium which was EB-2012-0431, and it's found starting on page 36 of the IGUA compendium.  We can bring it up if it's helpful, but I think you'll remember the discussion, Mr. Gillett.  This is the loop of the Leamington North line from Comber to the Leamington North station; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  That's my understanding, correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Are you taking it subject to check, or do you have confidence in it?

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry.  No, I just -- I wasn't involved in that project in 2012, 2013, but that's my understanding of having not gone through the application, but, yes, that's my understanding.

MR. QUINN:  I thought you corrected Mr. Mondrow to say was the distribution not transmission?

MR. GILLETT:  Maybe I misunderstood your question.  Sorry, ask your question again Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  Is this project a distribution project or a transmission project?

MR. GILLETT:  It was filed as an EBO188 project and the project itself was a looping of a high pressure distribution line to feed the distribution systems.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So, is that loop the same operating pressure as the Panhandle system?

MR. GILLETT:  I can't really speak to that I am not sure if --


MR. QUINN:  Can somebody on the panel answer the question, Mr. Dillon?

MR. DILLON:  This is the Leamington line your speaking to?

MR. QUINN:  Leamington North line from Comber to the Leamington North station.

MR. DILLON:  This system operates at Panhandle pressure.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Does Enbridge serve any customers directly off of that loop that it installed?

MR. DILLON:  Via distribution stations.

MR. QUINN:  But not directly?

MR. DILLON:  I would have to -- I would not know to answer that to say that there's not a direct service, I do not believe there is, but I could take that under check.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  You're taking it under check that there is not?

MR. DILLON:  I am taking it under check that there is not customers individually served off of that system.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, okay.  Does that pipeline transmit gas for others?

MR. DILLON:  By others what are you referring to by others?

MR. QUINN:  Other entities besides Enbridge on route to its customers?

MR. DILLON:  This, this pipeline is serving Enbridge in-franchise customers.

MR. QUINN:  So, no other --


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Quinn are you talking about other shippers?

MR. QUINN:  Other shippers because I understood that if I get this straight, Mr. Gillett, you said that was part of your definitions that you used to determine where, how to classify the project as distribution transmission; did I have that correct?

MR. GILLETT:  I was referencing the Board's definition that I believe was in the facilities handbook where it references pipelines that transport gas on behalf of other shippers.

MR. QUINN:  So, this pipeline does not transmit gas for other shippers; correct?

MR. GILLETT:  Yes.  So, our C1 service in the --


MR. QUINN:  No I am speaking about the Leamington North pipeline, sir.

MR. GILLETT:  No, I understand, no, what I was going to say is our C1 service in the Panhandle system is from Ojibway to Dawn.  So, you cannot take C1 service on the Leamington lateral.  If that's what you're asking.

MR. QUINN:  No, I am asking does the Leamington North pipeline that you looped in this application, does it transmit gas for others?

MR. GILLETT:  If you're asking about other shippers --


MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. GILLETT:  -- Through something like a C1 service the answer is no.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, okay.  I just wanted to clarify those points from before and I didn't think it would be that difficult. In our opening submission yesterday we said we would focus on supply side IRPs and then we have discussed some of that and I was going to leave the economics to others but this just keeps rattling in my head.  Enbridge has emphasized that their customers expressed interest expecting historical approaches by the Board in applying EBO134.

Now, I am not sure which of those customers has the sophistication to understand the difference between EBO188 and 134 but for the purposes of answering this question I would ask the witness panel to consider the scenario and provide your thoughts based upon those customer interactions.  Yesterday Mr. Mondrow walked you through a difference of, the differences between 6 billion in capital investment in 2021 versus the 4 and a half billion estimated from the 2023 expression of interest by 75 percent of the respondents.  The economic shortfall, first off, in this project is approximately $150 million; is that right Mr. Szymanski?  For Stage 1.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, that's correct.  That's the Stage 1 NPV.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, Okay.  So, if we use the $6 billion figure because it's debatable what the actual figure may be, the $150 million represents 2 and a half percent of that expected investment, would you take that math, subject to check?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Sorry, could you repeat that?

MR. QUINN:  $150 million out of 6 billion, that's about 2 and a half percent?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I will trust your math.

MR. QUINN:  So, if the Board directed Enbridge to develop an equitable approach to allocating the shortfall to the customers driving their project, Enbridge could use a ten-year surcharge which would represent an annual cost of approximately 0.25 percent if you spread the 2 and a half percent over ten years of the -- so, it's 2 and a half percent of the up front capital to compensate for the energy these customers desire to make their $6 billion investment goal; do you follow that?

MR. MacPHERSON:  I think we understand, at a high level, what you're saying, I think where we are troubled is how that number would then be applied to customers.  Because now we are talking about rate making and we have discussed at length the uncertainty of the forecast period of we have customers who --


MR. QUINN:  I understand.

MR. MacPHERSON:  We have customers who expressed interest --


MR. QUINN:  I understand --


MR. MacPHERSON:  Please let me answer.

And we have other customers who are now showing up.  NextStar has been mentioned a couple of times.  NextStar was not mentioned in the last Panhandle project, and it's arrived and scooped up 15, we will call it -- call it 10 percent of that market's capacity.

So this is the challenge that we are talking about, and in terms of doing this in a fair and equitable manner of applying a new rate into a project serving a broad economic or broad regional area.

MR. QUINN:  And had we had more time together, I would explore that further and would help you with some reasonable simplifying assumptions, which Enbridge has already done, for example, for the summer market, and there would be ways of allocating it in an equitable approach that the Board would have the opportunity to determine as being just and reasonable.

But my last question is, given that the number, the two-and-a-half percent or .25 percent stretch over ten years, given that's inside of the forecast error on capital costs, would you agree with me that these projects have a reasonable prospect of still proceeding, because that is such a small number it's inside of their forecast error?

MR. MacPHERSON:  I don't think that's something that we'd be in a position to answer in that way.  The companies --


MR. QUINN:  Okay --


MR. MacPHERSON:  -- the companies -- please.  The companies who have communicated their intention to invest in this area and have identified firm demands for the future have done so if we have stated in our evidence based on their understanding of how the regulations work, how the rates work, and how costs would be applied to them.

That's -- so to say some speculative condition of applying a new rate to them and what that would mean, I think it's very difficult for us to answer that in a meaningful way.  So --


MR. QUINN:  So you would give them the choice.  If the Board decided that, you would give them the choice of whether they'd proceed or not; correct?

MR. MacPHERSON:  I think the company would have to evaluate the Board's decision before -- I am having trouble answer that without --


MR. QUINN:  Okay.

MR. MacPHERSON:  -- further -- conferring further with my panel.

MR. QUINN:  Well, Mr. MacPherson, I respect your experience.  I would have thought that this would be something that you would consider.  My concern is all parties have choices in this matter, including those that are deciding whether to go forward or not if -- or if not they get a contribution in aid of construction.  But Enbridge is asking to foist that cost, then, on those that don't have a choice in this matter to be able to fund the project in an economic fashion so that Enbridge can make its choice to go ahead and expand its pipeline without long-term security.

But I am getting into argument, so we will close our examination there, thank the witness panels for their answers, and the company for the undertakings, and Mr. Commissioner, those are our questions for today.  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.

We are going to take the lunch break, and in the interests of keeping us on track towards our objective to finish up by end of day tomorrow, maybe we will shorten the lunch break to 45 minutes unless someone has a serious concern about that.  So we will adjourn until quarter after 1:00.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:29 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:15 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, please be seated.  Good afternoon, I think we are now going to continue with Energy Probe, Mr. Ladanyi.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you, good afternoon.  Commissioners, and the panel, witnesses, and the court reporter, And everyone else in attendance.  So my name is Tom Ladanyi, I am a consultant representing Energy Probe.  First, can we have an exhibit number for Energy Probe compendium.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K 2.2.
EXHIBIT K2.2:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM FOR EGI PANEL 1


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So, before I get to the compendium, I would like to ask a few follow-up questions on your interrogatory responses, just a few.  So, please, can you turn to Exhibit I-APPrO-11.  Yes, so in that interrogatory question, APPrO asked about SWAHV.  What is that?

MR. DILLON:  The system wide average heating value.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  I am actually very interested in that.  And APPrO asked about in their question to provide a detailed description of the system wide average heating value, which you provide, which I think is on the next page in the response.  Not here, sorry, not at the bottom, in the response.  And I wanted to ask more about the system wide average heating value.  So, when you say system wide, it is for the entire Enbridge system?  Like, example, northern Ontario included, Ottawa valley, because you have multiple receive points on the Enbridge system.  How is this determined?  Is there heating value determined at each receipt point and you then average it out and also does it vary over time?

MR. DILLON:  So, yes, the system-wide average heating value is for the franchise and it does vary over time.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Is there a possibility that the heating value would be different, for example, at Dawn than it would be, let's say, in Thunder Bay or in Ottawa?

MR. DILLON:  Just one moment, please.  Yes, Mr. Ladanyi, this is a function of the gas being delivered to our systems and we are just using that average of what the gas is being delivered to our systems.

MR. LADANYI:  The point I am trying to explore is, so the value is dependent on other hydrocarbons that are in the gas streams such as ethane propane and butane is that right?

MR. DILLON:  Yes, the system wide heating value is dependant on the constituents of the gas.

MR. LADANYI:  So, some of the delivery pipelines have the gas processed at gas processing plants where these higher hydrocarbons are removed and then sent to chemical processing and other pipelines don't have that; would that be right?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, that's generally correct.

MR. LADANYI:  So, and I could be mistaken, but I believe that the gas that's coming from the Rover pipeline, for example, from Ohio and Pennsylvania contains higher proportions of ethane, propane and butane than the gas that's coming off the TransCanada system because the gas on the TransCanada system goes through gas processing plants, the Alberta-Saskatchewan border at Suffield, and that these higher hydrocarbons are removed, would I be right with that.

MR. THOMAS:  I would generally agree with that.

MR. LADANYI:  So, when you calculate -- I am just worried that there's inaccuracy in your calculation here, because in the response also in other response to Environmental Defence number 26 there is a discussion -- you don't have to turn it up -- there's a discussion of the impact on the, in the variation of the heating value.  Are you concerned that perhaps the variation is significant that you should be taking that more into account the fact that gas that's coming into Dawn from, let's say, Rover, really has a higher different heating value than gas that's coming off the TransCanada system.

MR. GILLETT:  I just -- I want to make a bit of a correction, I believe and maybe we need to take this away and double-check, but I am pretty sure that the system-wide annual heat value is perhaps isolated to the south but maybe we can take that subject to check at the break.  But I would say that there are varying heat values that come in at the different import points on our system.  When they reach Dawn the gas is generally mixed, and so you'll have a different heat value again as it comes out of Dawn.

But I would say that we have very robust processes in place to not just estimate the heat value but also true it up in the end and update our models.  And I would say there's other factors that are likely more impactful to the system capacity than the heat value.

So, as an example, between the first application and the second application you saw that most of the change was actually where customers attach to the system and the impact on project capacity that they had just by changing geographic location.

MR. LADANYI:  Well, thank you, that's very helpful I was wondering, just to save time, because I don't want to spend much time on this, can we have an undertaking response and you can provide me a more thorough explanation of how the system average heating value is derived and the sources of it and any other qualifications you want to put in so we can understand better what impact this has on the forecast.

MR. GILLETT:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J2.6.
UNDERTAKING J2.6:  EGI TO EXPLAIN THE DERIVATION OF SYSTEM AVERAGE HEATING VALUE, TO CLARIFY ITS IMPACT ON THE FORECAST.


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So, let's go to another interrogatory, and this is Energy Probe number 18, Exhibit I-EP-18.  Yes, question A, I asked please explain how the indirect overheads were estimated showing all calculations.  And I am actually very intrigued by your response, and not response A, which is fine.  But your actual preamble to the response is Enbridge is not seeking recovery, cost recovery of the project as part of this application.  And what does that mean?  Can you explain to me that you're not seeking cost recovery?  Does it mean that the costs don't matter?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  The intent of that is to indicate that the actual cost recovery of this project is being dealt with in the Enbridge rebasing application that's before the Board.

MR. LADANYI:  So, but the Board is -- I am trying to understand are you asking the Board to approve the cost estimate for this project in this proceeding?  Are we going to wait for the Board to approve it in the rates proceeding?

MR. GILLETT:  I believe what we are requesting from the Board is approval for leave to construct.  I believe that part of their assessment of whether this is in the public interest includes costs as well as benefits, the assessment on environmental matters as a package, that will be assessed to grant the leave to construct.  The cost recovery is being dealt with in rebasing.

So, I would not say that costs don't matter, what I would say is that costs are a consideration likely that the Board is going to take into consideration during this LTC.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Can you turn to another interrogatory which is Exhibit I, SEC 2.  And here is the response, thank you very much, that's exactly where I wanted to go to, which is Table 1 on SEC 2.  And you can see the subject of indirect overheads on line 6.
Indirect overheads increase from 43.2 million to 68.8 million from June '22 to June '23.  So, that's a fairly large increase, $25.6 million.

And I understand that indirect overheads estimate is an allocation of the costs of supporting departments such as finance, human resources, information technology, law, regulatory affairs, and allocation of head-office costs; is that right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I will do my best to address your question, but I don't believe we have anybody here today that is an expert on dealing with indirect overheads.  But your description of it I would say is fairly accurate.

MR. LADANYI:  So I am trying to understand, did the cost of these departments increase by $25.6 million in one year?  For example, in the compensation per employee, average employee is, let's say 100,000 per year.  Did these departments hire an additional 256 employees?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Mr. Ladanyi, I guess I would direct you to the response -- or the explanation that is further down towards -- if you keep going.  So you can see there under the subheading "indirect overheads", we do provide an explanation as to what is driving that increase.

MR. LADANYI:  Yeah, I have seen that, and it appears to be just some kind of arithmetic.  There is no underlying explanation of why there would be so much greater costs allocated to this specific project.  It just boggles the mind.  But I will move on.  It's all right.  I don't want to have a debate, because we have actually a lot of other interesting topics to cover.

Now, can we go to the Energy Probe compendium.  And tab 1 specifically.  And this is from the OEB website, Ontario Energy Board Natural Gas Facilities Handbook.

Are you familiar with this document, anybody on your panel?

MR. MacPHERSON:  We are familiar.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good, thank you.  I sent this, actually, a few days ago, so I thought you'd have a chance to study it anyway.  Very good.  They are not trick questions, really.

So if you can go to the page that says "project economics", which is -- you see right there at the bottom, thank you.  And it says right there:

"Where a contribution..."

I can just read you a section here because I want you to kind of move on to that.

"Where a contribution in aid of construction is required from a customer to make a project feasible, the applicant must demonstrate that the amount of the contribution is reasonable and consistent with EBO188, EBO134, and its own customer connection policies."

And it goes on to mention the hourly allocation factor.  
So you can see here that the Board is contemplating there could be contributions related to EBO134.  You agree with that?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Agreed.  It's to be discussed, and it's set out in EBO134, section 7.29, that certain conditions where the company is serving new areas that a contribution would apply.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  And we will get to that in a little bit later in my cross-examination, exactly to that section.

And you go to the next paragraph, okay, which is on page 27 of that document, just go to the next paragraph.  The next page, please, on the screen.  Can you turn to -- so we are on page 26 of that handbook, and now can you go scroll over to it a bit --


MR. KEIZER:  We have having a technical dilemma here we are trying to sort out --


MR. LADANYI:  Keep going.  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  There was a delay, there we go.

MR. LADANYI:  Yeah, it says -- can I read you the paragraph that says:
"The applicant must file evidence describing in detail how the proposed project meets the economic test described in EBO188 or EBO134 as applicable to demonstrate the project does not lead to undue cross-subsidization from existing customers."

So where in your evidence is there this analysis of whether this is undue cross-subsidization or not?  Where would that be in your evidence?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Mr. Ladanyi, I believe the results of our Stage 1 and Stage 2 and Stage 3 economic analysis provides or demonstrates that overall the project does not lead to the undue cross-subsidization.

MR. LADANYI:  Can you take me to a specific page?  Because I don't actually recall seeing the word "undue", but maybe there is somewhere.  Maybe I should do a better search.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Just one moment.

So, Mr. Ladanyi, I don't believe we would actually use the words "undue cross-subsidization", but if we went to Exhibit E, tab 1, Schedule 1, page 7 of 8, we look at this from the perspective of public interest, and I believe at the bottom under paragraph 25, this is just a summary of the results of the analysis that says the public is in -- the project is in the public interest and the tests set out in EBO134 are appropriate.

MR. LADANYI:  All right.  I see your answer, and also in the Table 3, we can see that there is $150 million, so we are going to argue, obviously, that $150 million is a very large cross-subsidy, but you're going to argue that it's not, which is fine.  We don't have to debate now.

So if you go to the next page of that document, not this document, but the one in my compendium, which is page 28.  So we can see that little paragraph that ends there, it says:
"The test in EBO134 is generally applicable to a project where there will be no distribution customers directly connected to the pipeline."

Is that what you're relying on?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Sorry, excuse me, is your question is this one singular line is what we rely on why we apply EBO134?

MR. LADANYI:  Right.

MR. MacPHERSON:  I would say no.

MR. LADANYI:  No?  Okay.  So this is -- and I just point out the word "generally".  So generally, this is not going to absolutely, but again, we can argue about this in argument.

In footnote 44 actually mentions the Kingsville case, and we will get to that in a little while, okay?

Now we can go to tab 2 of my compendium, please.  And this is a very interesting decision.  It's EB-2012-0092, and from which stemmed these filing guidelines on the economic tests for transmission pipeline applications; are you familiar with that case?

MR. MacPHERSON:  I am reasonably familiar.

MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  I looked up that case, and I don't want to give too much history to it, but that case actually has interesting history, because that was the Natural Gas Market Review, which was 2010-0199, and actually, I was in that Natural Gas Market Review representing Ontario Power Generation.

But as a result of that Natural Gas Market Review, the Board decided to actually issue these guidelines, and they had a comment period, and some parties commented on the proposed guidelines.

And interestingly enough, none of the intervenors commented, and I don't know why they didn't.  But I notice the only parties that commented on these guidelines were TransCanada Pipelines, Union Gas, and Enbridge Gas Distribution, so perhaps OEB was not allowing for cost recovery, I have no idea, but anyway, so it was a very abridged type of proceeding that resulted in these guidelines, and although I don't want to argue about why it was issued or not, but let's look at the guidelines themselves.

So if you can go to page 1 of the guidelines, which is next page.  Okay, very good.  And here we find the Board's definition of what is a transmission pipeline.  It says:
"For the purpose of these guidelines, transmission pipelines are defined as any planned or proposed pipeline project that would provide transportation services to move natural gas on behalf of other shippers within Ontario."

So, is the Panhandle regional expansion project, is that designed to just move gas on behalf of other shippers?

MR. GILLETT:  So, Panhandle transmission system does offer C1 service that would be used to transport gas on behalf of others, but this project specifically is designed to provide capacity for in-franchise customers.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, thank you.  So, can you go to, in the same document, if you can go to page 3, keep going.  And I just want to draw your attention to paragraph 13:

"The Board continues to hold the opinion that it is appropriate for existing customers to subsidize, through higher rates, financially non-sustaining extensions that are in the overall public interest if the subsidy does not cause an undue burden on any individual, group or class."

You can see the word "undue".  Now, in this case, the Board's used the word "burden" but the key point is that -- is the issue of somebody has the to determine what is an undue burden.  You can see that, and that's obviously a very important issue, I am expecting the commissioners will comment on it and we will argue about the undue burden.  And you can see do you agree with that that's in there or do you feel you have already dealt with that in your application?

MR. MacPHERSON:  That's confirmed.

MR. LADANYI:  So, then can we move to another item which is on Tab 3 in my compendium.  And this is actually from your filing.  It's Exhibit B, Tab 1, Schedule 1, attachment 2, page 1 of 4, and it is the Panhandle regional expansion project in-franchise binding reverse open season.  And I highlighted here the word distribution, and you can see, like, on page 1 there is a lot of distributions mentioned, there's not one mention of transportation or transmission.  Now, you can go to the next page.  And the next page.  Anyway go to page 4, so we can shorten the time.  You can agree with me that distribution is mentioned throughout this document, you're offering a distribution service?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Confirm, this particular expression of interest is targeted at in-franchise demands, customers.

MR. LADANYI:  So, why is there no mention of transmission?

MR. GILLETT:  These customers that were the subject of the EOI, these customers would receive service from Enbridge Gas through a distribution service contract and we talked about T service customers, end service customers, they don't take transportation service on the Panhandle system.  So, although this project is a transmission project to reinforce the transmission system, ultimately the view that the customers would have is that it increases their ability to obtain distribution service.  So, this isn't meant to classify the type of project that it is, this is to make it clear to customers that what they're expressing interest on is distribution.  Because if we had mentioned transportation service, it would have been very confusing, they would have maybe thought we were having an open season for C1 service or something similar. So, this is the customer's view of their service.

MR. LADANYI:  I will have to consider your answer because what it seems to me that the customers are confused or easily confused, and so you make it clear to them that they are actually getting a distribution service?

MR. GILLETT:  I am sorry, can you repeat the question?  It cut out there for me.


MR. LADANYI:  Oh, all right, hopefully my microphone is working.  It seems to me from your answer that your impression is that the customers are easily confused and you had to make clear to them in this document that they are actually going to be buying a distribution service from you.

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, I was not implying that the customers are easily confused, in fact quite the opposite.  The subject of the EOI are typically the customers that are very familiar with their distribution contracts and distribution services since it's, you know, gas distribution service is a major input into their process, into their facilities.  So, it's not a matter of confusion.  It's a matter of precision.  So, this EOI was not an open season for transportation service, it was an expression of interest for distribution service.

MR. LADANYI:  You don't have a similar document in evidence that you filed in your pre-filed evidence about transportation or transmission service; do you?

MR. GILLETT:  No.  So, this project does not include an open season for C1 transportation service, those are things that we do.  Like, we do have open seasons on our transmission system, so Dawn-Parkway, Panhandle, so that would be a different process if we were offering C1 transportation open season.  This is an EOI specifically for end use distribution services.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  Can you turn to Tab 4.  And this is the decision in EB-2018-0013 and I think Mr. Mondrow took you to that this morning.  And this is what you referred to as the Kingsville decision; is that right?

MR. MacPHERSON:  That's confirmed.

MR. LADANYI:  So, can you go to page 4 of the decision.  And if I can read to you the second to last paragraph:

"As the project addressed both transmission and distribution needs, the OEB questioned Union's use of EBO134 test exclusively, with no reference to the OEB's economic test for distribution applications, EBO188 test.  The OEB also asked Union whether it had sought contributions in aid of construction, an element of the EBO188 test."

You're familiar with that statement from the Board in that proceeding?

MR. MacPHERSON:  That's confirmed.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, on the next page, there's a summary of IGUA's submission, which is on the, you can see it there, and IGUA submitted that if the OEB concludes that this project serves both transmission and distribution functions a more nuanced approach to economic evaluation and associated cost responsibility requirements might be warranted.  And I am not going to read you everything, you can read it yourself.  So, did you consider a more nuanced approach?  Because I will put to you that this project, which is Panhandle regional expansion project, is both transmission and distribution and some type of a nuanced approach would be appropriate; would you agree with that?

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, Mr. Ladanyi, did you say that this project was both transmission and distribution assets?

MR. LADANYI:  Well certainly the Board saw it that in the project, the Kingsville project was both transmission and distribution.  I am putting to you that Panhandle project that we are currently discussing is also transmission and distribution.  It's both.

MR. GILLETT:  No it's not.  This project is purely a transmission project.  The Kingsville reinforcement project had to do with a high pressure lateral off the system, so back to my tree analogy from this morning it was one of these branches off of the trunk.  This one is reinforcing the trunk of the system. So, there are no distribution facilities as part of this project at all.

MR. LADANYI:  So, please go to the next page, which is page 6 of the decision.  And here it says:

"The OEB acknowledges the creative thinking included in IGUA's submission.  While it is not appropriate to split the costing between transmission and distribution pipelines as proposed by IGUA in this proceeding, such proposals may help inform future thinking on the treatment of dual function pipelines."

So, have you at all been informed, in any way, by this statement from the Board?  Or are you ignoring it, let's say?

MR. MacPHERSON:  So as Mr. Gillett just answered, for purposes of this facilities application, this is purely a transmission application, and don't feel that this statement applies.  However, we continue to evaluate new projects based on their particular circumstances and whether a more -- a different or alternative approach to feasibility might be applied.

MR. LADANYI:  But this is not a project where these alternative approaches could be applied, according to you?

MR. MacPHERSON:  This is not what would be classified as a dual-function pipeline.

MR. LADANYI:  But you're offering a distribution function on it.  We just saw that from your reverse open season document.

MR. GILLETT:  To be clear, the way that customers receive service in our system, in-franchise customers, is through distribution services.  Ultimately the capacity that feeds those distribution systems comes from a transmission system.

So this project is purely a transmission reinforcement to provide more capacity to the broader Panhandle system.  That capacity in that broad system will ultimately be used by customers under provision of a distribution service.

So I don't think we should be mixing how the rates are regulated and services are regulated with the OEB versus what this project is, which is a transmission facility.  Our in-franchise customers, the only way they get service from us is through distribution contracts.

MR. LADANYI:  And I think we will all argue about that, because some of us believe that this is a dual-purpose pipeline, and we will explain what we believe in argument, of course.  I am not going to argue with you because I have very limited time.

So can we go to the next tab, which is tab 5, please.  This is decision and order in EB-2016-0186.  And what do you call this project just for short?  Do you have a name for it, like Kingsville was the last one.  What would you call this one?

MR. GILLETT:  I believe at the time it was called the Panhandle reinforcement project.

MR. LADANYI:  So like Panhandle one, if you like.

MR. GILLETT:  Yeah, internally we call it 2016 Panhandle, just to differentiate it from the current application.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay, very good.

By the way, Mr. Brophy, who I think might be asking you questions a little bit later today, actually pointed out that this Panhandle has multi-phases and it would be really nice if you ever put together in front of us what exactly is this whole Panhandle project and how many phases does it really have.  Because in the multi-phase project it would give, I think, the Commissioners a better understanding of what you have in mind.

Would that be possible, to have an explanation of all the phases of Panhandle?

MR. GILLETT:  Just to be clear, though, this is not a phase of a set of projects.  So at least to me the word "phase" implies that there is a preset set of facilities that we are working our way towards in phases.  That's not the case.  So how I would classify it is, it is as demand starts to show up on our system, both actual and forecast, we take that demand, that point in time, that situation, and we design the most appropriate project to meet that demand.

I would not classify it as phases.  We will often in our asset management plan, we will often have maybe the next step that we have taken a guess at, but by no means does that mean that that's absolutely the project that's going to happen, it doesn't mean that there's not going to be a different project that would be more suited for those demands.

So there is no master plan of phases.  This just happens to be the most rapidly growing point on our system that's required multiple -- multiple projects over the years.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I will let Mr. Brophy deal with this issue of phases, and I think he might have some questions on it.

If we can just move on, because we are so limited in time here, to the next tab, which is tab 5.  And, sorry, if we can go to -- exactly, we were on the right page -- could you go back.

So it's -- so it's -- I am actually looking at, if I can go to the next page, the decision, which I think it's PDF -- sorry, page 27.  Okay.  section 3.3.  Keep going.  Tab 5.  section 3.3.  And I don't know what your PDF --


MR. KEIZER:  Just so the panel is aware, we are just getting a bit of a lag in getting the documents, because -- I don't know whether it's Wi-Fi speed or whatever, but --


MR. MORAN:  There is a bit of a lag on the whole Wi-Fi system right now, so --


MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So it's -- we are looking at page PDF 27, and we are on PDF 24 right now.

So while we are waiting for this to come up, I can just read you the sentence that I am interested in so we can save time.  You don't have to actually see it on the screen.  You can believe me.  It's in section 3.3.  It says:
"Union submitted that the shorter amortization period was warranted, given the uncertainties with Ontario's cap and trade program and the introduction of the government's Climate Change Action Plan, ACAP.  Union submitted that these new initiatives add significant risk to the return of any capital invested in a natural gas infrastructure over the medium- to long-term.  Union submitted that a 20-year period better aligns the recovery of the asset cost and the timing of government restrictions and potential elimination of natural gas heating, both homes and businesses."

And my question to you is this:  Do you believe there is not as much uncertainty now regarding the future of natural gas use in Ontario than existed in 2016?

MS. WADE:  Sorry, just to confirm your question, is there not as much uncertainty?

MR. LADANYI:  That's right, because you're not proposing 20 years, you're now proposing four years, so you feel that now everything is clear and the concerns that Union Gas had in 2016 have now disappeared?

MS. WADE:  I would say that Enbridge Gas acknowledges that there's still uncertainty given the energy transition that's unfolding in Ontario.  But I would note the decision that was made as part of that application, which was that the 20 years was not appropriate.

MR. LADANYI:  Yeah, if you go to page 10.  I see it's on the screen, so let's go to the next page, which is two pages further, which is page 10.  And the Board's findings at the bottom says:
"The Board will not approve Union's proposals for a 20-year depreciation period and a revised cost allocation methodology.  The OEB finds that both proposals should be deferred to Union's next cost of service or custom IR application."

So this has now been deferred to the rebasing application; is that right?

MS. WADE:  That's correct.  It was a key focus within the rebasing application.

MR. LADANYI:  And if you go to the next page, the Board says -- go to the next page, please.  The Board says:
"A proper review of these issues will need to include the full range of possible amortization periods, and the impacts on all customer classes of a change to the cost allocation methodology."

So do you believe that is going on in the rebasing application?

MS. WADE:  Yes, I believe there was a review of the different depreciation methodologies as part of the rebasing application.

MR. LADANYI:  And the cost allocation methodology will be at some time in the future; is that right?  It has not happened yet.

MS. WADE:  Yes, that's my understanding.

MR. LADANYI:  So can you turn to tab 7 in the Energy Probe compendium, so it's way at the back, and it's EBO134.  And particularly to section 6.79, which should be at PDF page 108, I think.  Very good.  A little bit down so we can see 79.  Again, here we see that sentence:

"The Board continues to hold the opinion that it is appropriate for existing customers to subsidize, through higher rates, financially non-sustaining extensions that are in the overall public interest if the subsidy does not cause an undue burden on any individual, group or class."

So, this is obviously very important, the undue burden; do you agree with that?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Correct, we -- I believe we answered this already, this is, this has been carried over into the new, into the new transmission economic test and is listed in the same manner.

MR. LADANYI:  Now, could you go to paragraph 7.29:

“The Board finds that the contribution in aid of construction should be required for those projects where the sole purpose is to supply gas into a new area and where the evaluation process demonstrates an undue burden on existing customers."

So, does the Panhandle regional expansion project supply gas into a new area?

MR. MacPHERSON:  No, it does not.

MR. LADANYI:  In your evidence you talk about Panhandle market area, wouldn't that be a new area, I mean, obviously some customers currently don't have gas there, that's what you're providing to them.

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, what I was going to say was I think in this case what we are talking about was providing incremental capacity into existing distribution systems.  So, there may be customers that require new distribution laterals to connect to that system, but as far as we're concerned this is not a new area of our franchise, this is reinforcement of supply into an existing set of distribution systems.

MR. LADANYI:  And typically reinforcement lines are distribution lines; are they not?

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, did you say are reinforcement lines distribution?

MR. LADANYI:  Right.

MR. GILLETT:  No, no.  Reinforcement, what reinforcement means is resolving a bottleneck to increase capacity as part of a system, whether that's transmission reinforcement which is the case in this application or whether that's distribution reinforcement which would be, you know, a different application.

MR. LADANYI:  What is your understanding of the term "new area"?  What's a new area?

MR. MacPHERSON:  To the best of my understanding, it refers to currently unserved areas in the province whereby expansions go beyond adjacent areas to our franchise, typically they may or may not include a new franchise application however generally it's been, I think it's been co-opted to the term community expansion.  So, when we, kind of, go our existing franchise area and footprint and then, kind of, go outward towards typically a well defined new community.

MR. LADANYI:  So, if you have a franchise for a community, you don't actually have distribution lines throughout the entire area of that franchise, like a whole township?  You might have many roads out in the country side that don't have gas distribution lines on them; is that right?

MR. MacPHERSON:  That's right.

MR. LADANYI:  So, would that not be a new area?

MR. MacPHERSON:  So, your question, just to be clear, you're asking in an existing franchise area where I'm -- I think the answer depends, because we have had certain situations with the generic community expansion hearing whereby we may already have a franchise area and a competing utility is requesting service to expand its franchise territory because it's in a better position to serve those new customers.  So, I don't know if that's helpful, but it's not, it's not always black and white.

MR. LADANYI:  And that's why I would like you to say that it's not black and white exactly.  So, this whole issue, what kind of pipeline this is, it's not black and white.  You are claiming that it is black and white and I am telling you I am going the argue that it's not black and white and there's a lot of judgment involved but anyway let's go on to the next question.

MR. GILLETT:  Sorry, I think it might help to maybe bring it back to this application. I think what we are talking about here is we are talking about expansion into new areas and whether or not you agree that that's community expansion or some other definition, to bring it back to this application what we are talking about is building 19 kilometres of NPS 36 loop alongside an existing pipeline system.  There are no distribution facilities in place.  Once that -- sorry being built as part of this project.  So, once that 19 kilometres of pipeline is in place, that increases the amount of capacity that the overall Panhandle system can serve to this area of Ontario and stop there. Any further distribution services, whether that's existing, or to your point Mr. Ladanyi and to new communities that's separate from this application.  This is about reinforcing the capability of the existing system as it sits today and is not about building any new distribution services or facilities for any customers.

MR. LADANYI:  So, can we go to section 6.68 which is on PDF page 107.  And here the Board is directing utilities to use a discounted cash flow analysis.  And would you agree with me that nowhere in EBO134 is there a specification of using 40 years for discounted cash flow; is that right?  I couldn't find it but maybe you could.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, I would agree that there is no specific language that identifies the time horizon.

MR. LADANYI:  So, in the interest of time I am not going to take you to EBO188 because there actually -- the 40 years actually is in Appendix B of EBO188; do you agree with that?

MR. MacPHERSON:  That's confirmed.

MR. LADANYI:  So, in EBO188 it talks about a 40-year customer revenue horizon except for large customers for which it is 20 years you agree with that.

MR. MacPHERSON:  That's correct, that's correct.

MR. LADANYI:  So, here you have large volume customers but you did your analysis entirely on 40 years; why didn't you use 20 years?  Or you were not even referring itself to 188, you say you can pick any number of years is that what you're saying?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  We have used a 40-year time horizon consistent with past projects that have been approved by the Board and which reflects the, I guess, the current closer represents the current life span of the assets.

MR. LADANYI:  So, it's the assets not the customers.  So, the reason I think and I don't want to have a debate with you but the reason why the Board's made this distinction between large-volume customers and general service customers is because the Board would have been concerned about the longevity of the large-volume customers businesses go out of business they don't need service anymore, that's why it's 20 years.  They are much riskier than residential customers; would you not agree with me?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Sorry, one moment, please.

Mr. Ladanyi, this goes toward, I guess, the characteristics or the difference between a distribution and a transmission system being the nature of this transmission system serving a broad geographic area.  If you had one customer leave the system the likelihood of that capacity being utilized by somebody else in the future is extremely high.

MR. LADANYI:  That's certainly your opinion, I may not disagree with that, you understand that.

MR. GILLETT:  I don't know if that's a matter of opinion, though.  Like, that's, I think, the physical realities of the project.  So, if you go back to our presentation from yesterday where we showed the map of the Panhandle system, the capacity that these facilities create serves that entire area from Dawn to Windsor.  So, I think what Mr. Szymanski is trying to say is if a customer goes bankrupt in Leamington, another customer can show up in Kingsville or Windsor or Essex or Lakeshore and potentially use that capacity that that bankrupt customer gave up.  So, it is a physical reality, I don't believe it's a matter of opinion, it's how the system actually works.

MR. LADANYI:  So were you influenced in any way by EBO188 when you selected 40 years?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I wouldn't say that we were -- we were probably indirectly influenced in that EBO144 -- EBO188, I apologize, maximum time frame of 40 years influenced this in leaving the EBO134 time frame at that same maximum, and we didn't go beyond that.

MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I only have about a couple more questions.  I am trying to go as quickly as possible, and I thank you for your indulgence.

Can you go to Energy Probe 10, please.  So here I asked a couple of questions about your discussions with customers about contributions in aid of construction.  And you quoted in your evidence, you said -- it's in the preamble.  You said:
"No customer indicated that they would be willing to provide contribution in aid of construction for transmission system expansion project without understanding the magnitude of the CIAC and the unique justification for its selective application in this instance."

So did you provide customers any information on the potential magnitude of the CIAC?

MR. CIUPKA:  We did not.

MR. LADANYI:  So I see it also -- in your response (e) it says:
"There was no information sent to customers regarding CIAC."

So wouldn't you agree with me that it would be very unlikely that customers would essentially give you a blank cheque:  We don't care what the CIAC is.  We will just pay it.  They wouldn't have said that; would they?

MR. MacPHERSON:  No, we don't believe customers would be signing a blank cheque for CIACs, no.

MR. LADANYI:  So you look at question (f), okay, and my question is:
"Please confirm that contributions paid by customers reduce the rate base, and therefore it is in the interest of both Enbridge Gas and the customers that the customers do not pay contributions."

And your response (f) is actually agreement with what I said.  So now we have a situation whereby you are supposedly negotiating with customers and both of you are really on the same side, and the people who will be paying more as a result of them not paying a contribution are not in the room.  That's us.  These are the other customers of Enbridge.

So you're essentially saying to them:  You don't really want to pay a contribution, like, wink, wink, nudge, nudge, and they say:  Of course, no, we don't want to pay it.  Is that what it was like, this negotiation with customers about contributions?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Absolutely not.  The company explained to customers what was going on with the proceeding, that these were the positions of a number of parties, they were arguing against it -- or arguing, sorry, for the CIAC, and we laid out our position comparing this project to past projects in the last Panhandle build, which we just discussed today.  And I think that's the difficulty of the market, is what is the difference between what you have built in the past and how we have connected and contributed to projects and now this change.  I think that's difficult to comprehend, and I think it's difficult for us to position in terms of providing any clarity to say, you know, what would it look like, like, what are we asking.

So we are -- I didn't -- maybe I didn't give a great answer this morning, but to say, we are asking to put to customers a rate proposition -- sorry, we are putting to customers a proposition of a new rate which is not within our power.  That's within the Board's powers to decide, and we have followed, as Mr. Gillett has outlined again, we followed the test consistently in this application for the Board's guidelines, and that's why this treatment is reasonable.  It has nothing to do with rate base or, you know, the customers.

The customers are acting and looking to make investments based on what they understand, like, the business environment to be in this province, and I think that's an important thing, and it really stands out with economic development when we are meeting with, like, foreign national companies who are looking to do business here, and we are sitting with other utilities and all manner of thing laying it out for them:  Here is what you can expect.  And they're making their decisions on that.

So that's -- sorry, I think that's the stability
and -- sorry, the certainty of how we conduct business here is an important factor.

MR. LADANYI:  Can we go to my very last question, you will be happy to know, and can we go to EP11, Exhibit I, EP11.  And look at question (d).  It says:
"Will the costs of the Panhandle system expansion be recovered in rates only from customers in the Panhandle market or will the costs be also recovered from customers outside the Panhandle market?"

And if you go to your response (d), and I am just going to read you the very last part, which is:
"The allocation of the Panhandle transmission system inclusive of the Panhandle reinforcement expansion project to rate zones and rate classes in the company's next cost allocation study will be reviewed in Phase 3 of the 2024 rebasing proceeding."

So if I understand this response, would you agree that the customers will not know until Phase 3 of EB-2022-0200 proceeding the actual magnitude of the rate burden on them?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Sorry, just one moment, please.

So what we are unsure of in this panel is what evidence may have been filed in terms of Phase 3 of the application to know.  So we could offer to take that as an undertaking if there's any information that's been filed at this time that customers can see prospective -- proposed cost allocation for Phase 3, but at this time I don't think this panel is familiar enough to comment.

MR. LADANYI:  I don't want to pressure.  I will take an undertaking, and let's see what you put in writing.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J2.7.
UNDERTAKING J2.7:  EGI TO COMMENT ON CUSTOMER KNOWLEDGE ON PROPOSED COST ALLOCATIONS FOR PHASE 3.

MR. KEIZER:  Can we just have the question again just to make sure that the undertaking is clear.

MR. LADANYI:  The question I posed is, would you agree that the customers will not know until Phase 3 of EB-2022-0200 proceeding the magnitude of the rate burden on them.  So I am assuming that the rate burden will be explained numerically, possibly by rate class, in this undertaking response.

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, I think we understand the undertaking, thank you.

MR. LADANYI:  And thank you very much, panel, these are all my questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Ladanyi.

Next up is Environmental Defence, Mr. Elson.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.

I will start with a number of brief questions relating to the Stage 1 analysis.  We've heard how the project revenue is based on 40 years of forecast demand and forecast revenue compared to the status quo; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I am not sure what you mean by status quo, but the revenue reflects a forecast -- forecasted customer attachments, so it's more than status quo.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  So, it's incremental, though?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  And could we mark our exhibit Volume 1 -- our compendium Volume 1 as an exhibit, please and turn to page 6.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K2.3.
EXHIBIT K2.3:  ED COMPENDIUM VOLUME 1 FOR EGI PANEL 1.


MR. ELSON:  I understand the current system capacity is 737 TJs per day; right?

MR. DILLON:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Now, I think I have already confirmed this but I am just trying to double-check, if the project is built and demand initially increases beyond the 737 TJs per day, but then declines to below 737 TJs per day from, you know, let's say 2040 onwards or whatever, I am not asking you to agree with that scenario, but if that were to occur there would be no incremental revenue attributable to the project from that date onward; is that correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is a difficult question to answer in that we don't know what the situation would be in that future time and I think what you're actually asking us is would we be allocating a decrease in demand to the last asset built or, this is more of a -- it's a more difficult issue than a simple yes or no answer.

MR. ELSON:  Well I am glad I asked you to clarify. In this interrogatory response, you said incremental revenue is tied to incremental demands and, Ms. Calhoun, if you can turn up to the previous page, part C, I had asked this very question and it seemed to me that you were saying, yes, if the demand declines below that initial system capacity amount then you don't have revenue attributable to this project.  So, I am understanding from this interrogatory response that if you do have that situation where you go up and then back down again, you don't have revenue that's attributable to the project, because you don't need the project anymore you already would have had enough pipeline capacity anyways; is that fair Mr. Szymanski?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Are you referring to in the future.

MR. ELSON:  Yes, of course.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I think that our answer as written would stand that, yes, the incremental revenue is tied to the incremental demands.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, thank you.  I will move on to Stage 2 analysis, and if we could turn to page 4.  As we have discussed Enbridge estimated $226 million of Stage 2 benefits over 20 years, and that's based on the savings to general service customers being able to use gas instead of an alternative fuel; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And you only calculated the savings for general service customers because you assumed that the contract customers would locate somewhere else without the additional capacity; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, that is partially correct.  And, on top of that, the alternatives such as in this situation electricity, furnace oil, and propane are really not viable alternatives for the contract level customers.

MR. ELSON:  And if we could turn to page 7.  And scroll down to the table, thank you.  So, again, we are talking about the Stage 2 benefits and those savings are assumed to accrue to customers who are able too attach to the system because of the increased capacity and most of those attachments are residential customers right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  From a pure customer attachment -- or customer number, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And if we could turn to the next page, and there's a highlighted figure on the next page.  Of those new attachments, 1 to 5 percent are fuel conversions, and so that means that 95 to 99 percent of the new attachments are new construction; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, that math is correct.

MR. ELSON:  Is it 95 or 99?  What's your prediction?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I don't have a prediction.

MR. ELSON:  Why is there a range?  Can you explain that? Or maybe, you know, to save time you could undertake to go back and let us know whether your prediction would be closer to 95 or 99; is that something you can undertake to try to come back with a bit more specificity?

MR. DILLON:  It is really based on the forecasts that we have for the years of that forecast and varying from year to year.  So, it's just an up and down, I don't know if there's a reason to undertake that for further explanation.

MR. ELSON:  I know in other applications you have attachment forecast broken out as between new construction and conversions.  Do you have that in this case?

MS. WADE:  Sorry just to clarify, I think is that not what we are talking about the 95 percent new construction and 5 percent conversion?

MR. ELSON:  Well, typically you would actually have -- I mean, I have seen tables before where you would have one line that says new construction and another line that says conversions and you have specific numbers.  Do you have specific numbers per year and those numbers go up and down by 5 percent, do you have those specific figures in terms of attachment forecast?

MS. WADE:  That I don't think we would be -- the individual that would be able to answer that is not on this panel.

MR. ELSON:  So, could you undertake to provide that on a best-efforts basis?

MS. WADE:  If it's available, yes.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J2.8.
UNDERTAKING J2.8:  EGI TO PROVIDE DETAILS FOR ATTACHMENT FORECASTS, INCLUDING BREAKDOWN BY YEAR


MR. ELSON:  And so, if we could drill down into you came up with that $226 million figure that would be great.

And I would like to start on page 10 of our compendium and this is Environmental Defence Interrogatory No. 14 Attachment 1, it's an Excel spreadsheet and we have just saved it to PDF so that it's easier to see.  And so, these are the calculations, the underlying spreadsheet of how you came up with that $226 million; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And, looking near the top left, you see the words "assumed mix of alternative fuel market share if gas not available."

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, I see that.

MR. ELSON:  And 24 percent of that is heating oil; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  And if we could turn down the page, further down, it says assumed fuel mix 24 percent, again, is heating oil?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, I see that.

MR. ELSON:  And then the calculations use the weighted cost of the alternative fuels including an assumption of 24 percent heating oil?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  So, because most of these customers are new construction, this is assuming that roughly 24 percent of new construction homes in this area would be installed with oil boilers; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  If natural gas was not available to them, yes.

MR. ELSON:  But that wouldn't actually happen, would it?  I mean nobody -- almost nobody puts oil heating into a new home; is that fair to say?  Are they?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  We are using the best available information to us.

MR. ELSON:  Well that's the existing fuel mix; right?  24, 10, 67?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  As provided by Statistics Canada, correct.

MR. ELSON:  So, that's the existing building stock; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Correct.

MR. ELSON:  And you're saying the existing building stock is the best indication of what you'd put into a new construction home?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, currently that is the best available information that we have.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And do you actually think that people will be putting oil heating into a new home, at anywhere close to 24 percent of the new construction were natural gas not to take place?  Ms. Wade, you look like you have thoughts on the topic?

MS. WADE:  Yes I do.  I think that we are using the best available information that we have.  And I would also point out, as we talked about a number of times yesterday, that there is massive constraints, electricity constraints in the system in the Windsor area.  So, we are using what we believe is the best available information at this point in time.  Is that exactly how it's going to unfold?  We are not sure.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Well let's turn to a little bit higher on this page, please.  And then we have fuel prices applied.

I think you'd agree that in terms of this fuel price comparison, heating oil is by far the most expensive?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I would agree.

MR. ELSON:  And .4566 is the cost of gas per cubic metre; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  And then the 1.0799, that's the cost of electricity with the same energy content as 1 cubic metre of gas; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is correct.

MR. ELSON:  But this doesn't account for the difference in efficiency levels of gas equipment versus electric equipment; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  No, this is a levellized price.  They are all assumed at the same heat -- heating efficiency, sorry.

MR. ELSON:  And new gas equipment is typically in the range of 95 percent efficient when you're talking about a furnace, but less than that when you're talking about a water heater?

MS. WADE:  That sounds right.

MR. ELSON:  If we could turn to page 11.  I am sure, Ms. Wade, you have seen this document before, heating and cooling with a heat pump.  It's published by NRCan.  I was going to go through it, but maybe I can just ask you if you agree that NRCan is an authoritative source for information regarding heat pump efficiency levels; is that fair to say?

MS. WADE:  I would say, yes, that they have a tremendous amount of publicly available information on heat pumps.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Rather than go through that, I will go back to Attachment 14, page 10, please.

And subject to check, if you look at the figures for the -- if you go up to a fuel prices adjusted, and I am looking at the 2030 line, and according to those figures, electricity will be roughly 70 percent more expensive than gas when doing a comparison of the cost per energy content, ignoring efficiency.  Would you accept that subject to check?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yeah, I am sorry, which column are you looking at?  I can't see the --


MR. ELSON:  Yeah, there we go.  It's the last column.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  So you're comparing the 63 cents to the $1.08?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, that's right.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Okay.  Yes.

MR. ELSON:  But if a home is heated with a heat pump that is 200 or 300 percent efficient on a seasonal basis compared to 95 percent efficiency with gas, the heat pump would have lower annual energy costs when you account for that with these figures; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  It would have a lower energy cost, yes, via reduced energy consumption.  But what we are showing here is the price difference of an equivalent amount of energy being used.

So said another way, this is a price variance of the different energy sources.  What you're suggesting is introducing a volume variance into the equation.

MR. ELSON:  One more question.  This table here, your calculations for your Stage 2 benefit, that comparison doesn't include the electricity used for the blower, or for the fume exhaust fan, or the controllers or other electronic components in a gas furnace; fair to say?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, that's fair to say.

MR. ELSON:  Great.

Let's turn to IRP then.  Now, I understand that Enbridge hired Posterity to apply the savings figures and the data from the achievable potential study, the DSM achievable potential study, to the loads in the project area to estimate how much peak demand could be lowered through targeted energy efficiency.

MS. WADE:  And demand response for the general service market; that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And you just made the clarification that I was going to get to next, which is that it only assessed IRP savings from general service customers, excluding any savings from contract customers; right?

MS. WADE:  Yes, so the IRP assessment did not exclude consideration of the contract market, but the work that Posterity did specifically; that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And so in terms of the calculation of the IRP savings in your evidence, that is only for general service customers.  You haven't assumed that you can achieve any IRP savings from your contract customers that are incremental; right?  Or did I miss something in your evidence?

MS. WADE:  Yeah, so maybe I would just restate what you said.  So our IRP assessment considered both contract and general service, but the Posterity analysis looked specifically at the general service customer base.

From a contract perspective, those were the information that we received directly from the contract customers via the EOI, and you would see that they added on that this does include the energy efficiency that they have done and that they plan to do, and I will let Mr. MacPherson add to it, but given our substantial amount of knowledge of these customers, we understand that, yes, they are undertaking the maximum amount or the absolute largest energy efficiency opportunities within their businesses.

MR. MacPHERSON:  If I can add to Mrs. Wade's comments.  The greenhouses are one of our most successful industrial DSM segments.  I think just even in this year we have more than 80 projects underway.  We have had participation almost universally from every greenhouse, including we had last year a temporary program to double the incentive.  That has become permanent.  So programs to improve building envelope and efficiency, buildings to encourage growers to build more efficient greenhouses.

And we have, over time, observed that technology improve, and I will give this as a rough number, but a few years ago, a number of years ago, a greenhouse might typically use 130 cubic metres per hour per acre, and now we are seeing that number approaching 80 cubic metres per hour per acre.  So there's been substantial improvements, new -- lots of innovation in the sector and the building -- I guess, let me put it this way.  They are very motivated to build efficient greenhouses.  It's an important cost in their operation. I mean, the plants are number one, but energy and CO2 control are huge, huge considerations.

MR. ELSON:  Let me see if I can sum that up.

So you didn't include any incremental energy efficiency for the existing or the forecast new contract customers, including greenhouse customers, because you say they are already implementing all cost-effective energy efficiency because they are very sophisticated and they are incented to lower their energy costs; right?

MS. WADE:  And that the available energy efficiency opportunity is being undertaken by these customers and it's being undertaken in close consultation with Enbridge Gas, both existing facilities and for new facilities.

MR. ELSON:  So I think that was the same as what I had just summarized, which is that your view is that they're implementing it all because they're sophisticated and they want to lower their energy bills.

MR. MacPHERSON:  I would say it's more than that.  I mean, we have a sector that's -- you know, if you come to Toronto and look around at 200 different customers, they are not alike.  There are so many different industries and applications, and everything's different.  We are talking about a very homogenous sector.  We have 150 customers in that market area, all largely doing the same thing.  The technology over time is changing, but we are very close to it, we know the market, we know what those opportunities are, and we have clients that are very, again, very focused on this, very focused on efficiency, and highly participative in Enbridge's programs.

MR. ELSON:  Ms. Calhoun, could you turn to page 67 and scroll down to the highlighted figure.  This is an excerpt from the DSM, demand side management, achievable savings potential study conducted for the OEB and for the IESO.

And I think you'll agree with me, panel, that greenhouse envelope improvements is one of the top 10 measures; i.e., the top 10 highest potential of all of those found in this study?

MS. WADE:  Yes, I can see that there.  I would agree with you.  And that also, I think, is indicative of what we are seeing in all the work that we are doing with these customers as well.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And I'd like to actually turn back to now the 2015 to 2020 natural gas DSM framework document that I circulated this morning, and to page 27.  And I am noting, Ms. Calhoun, that it's not on the top of your screen there, so I am going to -- oh, there it is, perfect.  Page 27, please.  And scroll down to, you know, it's 31 of the PDF.  So, this is getting into, you know, a bit of a similar area, this is going back to 2015, the Board had a consultation on the natural gas DSM framework that would apply from 2015 to 2020, and the Board decided in the framework as follows it said:

"The Board is of the view that rate funded DSM programs for large volume customers should not be mandated as these customers are sophisticated and typically competitively motivated to ensure their systems are efficient."

And I think, Mr. MacPherson, this is what you're saying now with respect to your contract customers, in particular the greenhouse customers.

MR. MacPHERSON:  So, the statement that you've highlighted here, this pertains to the large volume DSM program.  This is for Enbridge's largest users, it applied to rate T2 and rate 100 North customers in the legacy Union rate zone.  I believe around this time there was approximately 35 to 40 customers in this program.  This view and -- like, there was agreement that Union had filed to, you know, end the program as it's stated here not needed, that I believe ultimately there was a lot of work that went on but then the program was continued.  But this only, this statement only pertains to very large customers, none of which are, like, if you're speaking to greenhouses pertain to this statement, none of them are T2.

MR. ELSON:  I am not disagreeing with that, Mr. MacPherson.  I am just saying that, you know, you had noted that your customers are competitively motivated and that's why they achieve all of their cost effective energy efficiency, and it's similar to what the Board is saying in this document here; is it not?

MR. MacPHERSON:  And I am only pointing out that you are taking this statement out of context to what we are discussing here.  We are talking about one particular segment of the market, greenhouses, with many owners who are individuals, I think they refer to themselves as farmers, who are very intimate with their own operation and the productivity, growing cost management.  If you, I wish you could meet one and you would understand what I am talking about.  They are not executives in a boardroom that don't know the intricate details of their business, they know their business and they are very focused on optimizing that business.

MS. WADE:  I just want to add, sorry, one extra piece to that.  Yes, they are competitively motivated, but we have also been working with these customers for 10 years and we continue to work with them on an ongoing basis, so I wouldn't just say that on their own these are all of the activities that they are undertaking, it's also being done in close collaboration for the past decade with these customers.

MR. ELSON:  So, you are saying they are more competitively motivated and they know their systems better than the large volume customers talked about in this paragraph here?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Well, I'd say it another way, because we have many of these are individual owners that capital allocation decision authority is very concentrated in one or very few individuals.  When they make a decision whether they are going to move forward with a conservation project, compared with maybe a large multinational company with huge assets and, you know, in many jurisdictions deciding how it's going to spend capital and what investments it might undertake, this is quite a different thing.

MR. ELSON:  Well, some of your large contract customers that are, you know, attaching now are large multinational companies; right?  I mean, Stellantis just did -- I know that's not part of your particular demand profile for this case, but your large contract customers are not only greenhouses, a significant portion of them are, you know, in other sectors; correct?

MR. MacPHERSON:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  If we could turn to Volume 2 of our compendium, and if we could have that marked as an exhibit, please.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K2.4.
EXHIBIT K2.4:  ED COMPENDIUM VOLUME 2 FOR EGI PANEL 1


MR. ELSON:  And page 478.  And so, as we saw in the DSM framework there was a decision to not continue the large volume program on the basis of those customers being sophisticated and having competitive motivation to achieve energy efficiency.  And then, in its decision the OEB changed course, and I will just read this out to you it says:

"The OEB finds that Union's large volume customers should be part of Union's DSM programs.  The OEB was assisted by the evidence provided by Union and the expert witnesses.  The OEB benefited from the fuller evidentiary record produced in this proceeding which was not available to the OEB at the time of the DSM framework was established.  Experience demonstrates that Union can achieve material savings through the continued delivery of its existing self-directed program, rather than a program providing only technical advice with no estimated gas savings."

I'd just like confirmation that you have not filed a report or study in this proceeding showing that your contract customers are implementing all cost effective DSM; have you?

MS. WADE:  Sorry, yes, that's confirmed.

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, I have a number of more questions.  What time would you like to break?  Is it around now?

MR. MORAN:  I think we are looking at 3 o'clock.

MR. ELSON:  Okay, perfect.  Then I will continue.  Posterity derived an assumed peak savings from the annual savings set out in the potential study; right?

MS. WADE:  Yes, for the general service market.

MR. ELSON:  And most greenhouses are contract customers but some smaller ones are general service customers; right?

MS. WADE:  There are some, yes.

MR. ELSON:  And for greenhouses that are general service customers Posterity used the general annual to peak ratio for all industrial customers; right?

MS. WADE:  I'll give you an answer and you let me know if this answers your question.  The greenhouses within the general service market were mapped into Posterity's agriculture segment.

MR. ELSON:  Would you agree that weather sensitive measures such as building envelope measures tend to provide a greater proportion of their savings at the time of system peak compared to non-weather sensitive measures?

MS. WADE:  Yes, that's a fair assessment.

MR. ELSON:  So, for greenhouse envelope improvements you would think that the peak savings could be quite significant; right?

MS. WADE:  For the greenhouse market, yes.  So, if the greenhouses are being mapped into, say, the agriculture, that greenhouse measure is being applied to all agriculture.  So, if anything it's being applied to more accounts than just the greenhouse.

MR. ELSON:  I would like to explore whether this is reflected properly in the Posterity report, so I am going to ask for an undertaking to provide the ratio of annual to peak savings for residential consumption versus the ratio of annual to peak savings for general service greenhouse customers.  Could you undertake to provide that on a best effort's basis from Posterity?

MS. WADE:  I believe we answered an undertaking on that in the technical conference where they are not able to parse out the peak savings specific to greenhouse because they have been grouped into the agriculture segment.

MR. ELSON:  Well, perhaps you could provide the annual ratio -- sorry the ratio of annual to peak for residential and the ratio of annual to peak to the group that greenhouses have been lumped in with, which I think is agriculture.

MS. WADE:  Yes I can undertake.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be undertaking J2.9.
UNDERTAKING J2.9:  EGI TO PROVIDE THE RATIO OF ANNUAL TO PEAK FOR RESIDENTIAL AND THE RATIO OF ANNUAL TO PEAK FOR THE GROUP THAT INCLUDES GREENHOUSES; WITHIN THE AGRICULTURE SECTOR, TO ADVISE WHAT PERCENTAGE CONSTITUTES GREENHOUSE DEMAND.


MR. ELSON:  And if you could provide a breakdown of that agriculture sector, what percentage of it constitutes greenhouse demand in this case, that would be appreciated.

MS. WADE:  Just to clarify your question because the savings can't be disaggregated within the agriculture segment, are you -- is that what you're asking for?

MR. ELSON:  What percent -- it doesn't necessarily have to be peak savings, it can be annual savings or if it has to be total consumption.  Some idea of the ratio.

MS. WADE:  Okay, yes.  I don't believe we have savings but we can look to determine if we can do consumption.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Should we just include that in the previous undertaking?

MS. WADE:  Sure.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.

MR. ELSON:  Now the Posterity analysis excludes heat pumps and other electrification measures; right?

MS. WADE:  That's correct, because the IRP analysis is focused on alternatives that are within the IRP framework.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  And when you did the analysis with Posterity, you determined that you could achieve peak demand reductions at a price of $8.2 million per TJ per day?

MS. WADE:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  Now, that doesn't account for the savings that would accrue to Enbridge customers from avoided gas use; does it?

MS. WADE:  No, it does not.  That would be -- within an IRP analysis that would be folded in within the DCF plus into Stage 2.  We have not yet filed a DCF plus application.  And this would not have moved on to that economic analysis, because it's not technically feasible.

MR. ELSON:  So you didn't do -- well, I mean, my understanding from the IRP pilots project is that the DCF test is not at a stage where you can apply it.  So this isn't an application of the test; correct?

MS. WADE:  That's correct, but even if we did have the DCF plus, I think I am just noting that this has been deemed as not technically feasible, so it would not have moved on to the economic feasibility test.

MR. ELSON:  So the $8.2 million per TJ is the price that Enbridge would have to pay in incentives to its customers to implement -- to achieve that amount of reduction.

MS. WADE:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  But in addition to that, what you would find if you were to conduct a Stage 2 or other kind of analysis is that customers are saving money through these measures because they are using less gas, and that's not included in the $8.2 million per TJ; right?

MS. WADE:  We haven't done the DCF plus test, but I think it's fair to say that there would be savings that would accounted for in Stage 2, but again, we wouldn't be moving forward with the DCF plus even in this application if we had it, because it's not technically feasible.

MR. ELSON:  And the energy efficiency measures that Posterity is looking at are based on the potential study, meaning that the benefits need to outweigh the costs; right?

MS. WADE:  It is based on scenario B of the achievable potential study; that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And scenario B only includes efficiency measures that are both technically feasible and economically feasible, and economic feasibility means that they have more benefits than costs and, in addition to that, they are achievable in terms of ramp-up, so on and so forth, right?

MS. WADE:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  So we can assume that if the benefits are greater than the costs, and it costs $8.2 million per TJ, we are going to actually achieve more than $8.2 million per TJ per day in terms of savings to Enbridge customers from using less gas; right?  By definition.

MS. WADE:  If we were to use -- sorry, did you say if we were to use the technical or economic?

MR. ELSON:  I am saying because these are all energy efficiency measures where the benefits outweigh the costs, we can assume that if you're investing $8.2 million, let's say, in cost, then you are receiving more than $8.2 million in energy savings from the customer perspective.  Those aren't saving accruing to Enbridge, they are accruing to the customer, right?

MS. WADE:  That is correct, and they would show up in a Stage 2 once that DCF plus test is filed.

MR. ELSON:  Okay.  Would Enbridge undertake to ask Posterity to extend their analysis to the other 55 percent of the load in the area; namely, the contract customers?  Now, I understand that you think your contract customers have achieved all of their cost-effective energy efficiency.  We disagree, and we think that's contrary to the Board finding in previous cases.

We propose to leave that issue for the debate in submissions, but in order to have that debate we'd like to have a number what would Posterity come up with if they were to extend their analysis to the other 55 percent of the load in the area; namely, the contract customers.

Could Enbridge agree to do that by way of an undertaking?

MS. WADE:  I don't think it's a reasonable undertaking.  I know we had the same discussion during the technical conference.

The work that Posterity is doing is using the achievable potential study and then using scaling factors to try and determine what the opportunity would be within the Panhandle system.  I don't think it would be valuable to use a scaling factor in an area where you've talked to the specific customers, you have in-depth knowledge of the energy efficiency that's available to them, what they're investing in, and you have an expression of interest that's stating clearly a demand and the associated -- that it includes, sorry, the associated energy efficiency.

So I don't know why we would use a four-year-old study and scaling factors when we have actual numbers from our customers.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I think the reason that we would do that is that the achievable potential study is prepared for the OEB independently for the very purpose of being, you know, one step removed from Enbridge and one step removed from a kind of black-box assessment about the level of achievement of cost-effective energy efficiency that, frankly, we disagree with.

And so we would like to see an analysis prepared in accordance with that independent study prepared for the OEB, as opposed to what I have, which is, you know, assurances that they have achieved all cost-effective energy efficiency without being able to confirm that at all whatsoever.

So we would request that undertaking so that we could have some sort of idea of the potential for energy efficiency savings from contract customers.

MR. KEIZER:  Chair, the witness has indicated why it wouldn't make sense to do the undertaking.  We are also not clear whether or not Posterity would be able to do it or not.  So our position would be that we not provide that undertaking unless you rule otherwise.

MR. MORAN:  We will take the request away and come back.

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Chair, it's Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.  We are certainly interested in that undertaking as well.  We are at a bit of a disadvantage, not knowing why Posterity Group wasn't part of the panel and we wouldn't have a chance to ask them direct questions, so we would ask for some latitude to have access to the people that did the report, thank you.

MS. WADE:  Can I just make one note, that Posterity wouldn't be able to comment on the -- they didn't conduct an analysis of the contract market, they only did the general service, so they -- if they were here today they would have the same answer, likely.

I don't want to speak on their behalf, sorry, I should not speak on their behalf, but they did not conduct an analysis of the contract market, so they would only be able to speak to the general service.

MR. ELSON:  And the best-efforts answer would be sufficient, in terms of the undertaking, but I understand that the panel will be taking it away, so thank you.

Moving to a different area, but still in relation to IRP, I understand that the evidence shows that general-service customers will use approximately 6 percent of the 168 TJs per day of incremental capacity, and so by my calculation that comes to about 10 TJs per day.

Would you accept that calculation subject to check?

MR. DILLON:  Yes, I will accept that.

MR. ELSON:  And again, all the Stage 2 benefits are based on general-service customers; right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. ELSON:  And your updated evidence from Posterity is that integrated resource planning and specifically incremental energy efficiency and demand response can achieve 57 TJs per day by '29/'30; right?

MS. WADE:  That's correct.

MR. ELSON:  So IRP would be more than enough to secure the capacity that is forecast to be needed by general-service customers; right?

MS. WADE:  There is a shortfall of 66 TJs by next winter, and it would take until '29/'30 to achieve the 57 TJs.  So it is not technically feasible.

MR. ELSON:  Now, I am not really talking about technical feasibility, I am talking more about if we were to exclude the contract customers and focus on the general-service customers.

Now, you said that there's a shortfall in the very short-term of 66 TJs, and I assume that's mostly in terms of the contract customers.

But if we take the contract customers out of the question, I want to focus on the customers that are driving these purported Stage 2 benefits, which we frankly don't think we exist anyways, but, you know, if they did exist, those customers, their needs could be dealt with by IRP, because they the IRP or the energy efficiency and demand response potential is 57 TJs per day and they only need 10 TJs per day; right?

MS. WADE:  I don't know if we are mixing up two concepts here.  The pipe is being built for the -- well the first constraint is next year of 66 TJs.  So, no matter if we focus on the residential or the general service only, you can still only achieve 57 TJs.  So, I don't know if I am misunderstanding your question.

MR. ELSON:  Well, you know, my questions go to an attribution of the costs and the benefits, and let's just say that the contract customers, let's just exclude them all together and we only had general service customers.  The general service customers, their, their demand is only 10 TJs per day according to your forecast which is pretty small and you found that energy efficiency can achieve 57 TJs per day which is about five, almost six times.

And so, energy efficiency and demand response, if you were to exclude contract customers it's more than enough to secure the capacity that's forecast to be needed by the general service customers driving the purported Stage 2 benefits; right?

MS. WADE:  I guess I am struggling to, I guess, theoretically yes, but on the pipeline there's general service and contract, so 10 percent of the new capacity on the pipe -- or sorry, the 6 percent of the new capacity on the pipe is 10 TJs, but the 57 TJs is speaking to the full general service -- sorry, I am not clear on your question, I don't think I am answering it.

MR. ELSON:  I think you already said yes, and --


MS. WADE:  I don't know if I said yes to what you asked though, because I am not sure what you asked.

MR. ELSON:  Then I will ask it again.  If we were to exclude the demand from contract customer let's say we don't build a new pipe at all --


MS. WADE:  Yes.

MR. ELSON: -- IRP would be more than enough to secure the capacity that is forecast to be needed by the general service customers that are driving the purported Stage 2 benefits, because they only require 10 TJs per day and energy efficiency and demand response can achieve 57 TJs per day.

MS. WADE:  Okay.  I am sorry, I understand your question now.  So, you're saying that the project that we are here for, that's not the project that we are here for, that there is just a project required to fulfil the 10 TJs per day?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MS. WADE:  Could we do IRPA to avoid those 10 TJs if that's what the project was?

MR. ELSON:  Yes.

MS. WADE:  Probably, yes.  I don't want to say for sure on the spot but given the numbers that I am providing to you we could likely determine if -- it would be technically feasible then we would have to look at the economic feasibility.

MR. ELSON:  Got it.  Okay, thank you.  I see we are one minute to 3:00 p.m. p.m. and I am about to move to a different area so now would be a good time to break from my perspective.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you Mr. Elson, we will continue at 3:15.
--- Recess taken at 2:59 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:16 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, please be seated.  So we have considered the undertaking, and I guess we just want to get a little more clarity, if we could.

So Posterity, as I understand it, has determined the share of demand between general-service customers and contract customers; is that...

MS. WADE:  That's correct.

MR. MORAN:  Right.  And I guess they have calculated the percent savings of demand reduction for the general-service customers, right?

MS. WADE:  That's correct.

MR. MORAN:  So I guess, if I understand the undertaking request, is it possible, then, to have Enbridge or Posterity on behalf of Enbridge extrapolate the peak demand for the contract customers based on the work that's already been done?

MS. WADE:  I believe it would be technically possible, yes.  I don't know the time frame with which it would take to complete the analysis.  It could take the four weeks.  I am not sure.  That was generally what the last one took.

MR. MORAN:  Just a mathematical extrapolation would take longer than a few minutes?  I don't understand that.

MS. WADE:  Yeah, I am not going to pretend to know the intricacies of the model.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  And would that work for...

MR. ELSON:  It would, Mr. Chair, and if it has to be filed after the deadline for the other undertaking responses that's fine with us.

MR. KEIZER:  May I ask, Mr. Chair, though, is the witness implying that Posterity has to do a brand-new study to be able to do what you're suggesting, Ms. Wade?

MS. WADE:  It would be a new scope of work; that's correct.

MR. MORAN:  Well, there's a difference between a new scope of work and the difficulty of the work, and I guess I was more interested in how difficult this would be, and I think you're telling me that it would be possible that it might take a few minutes to get you or Posterity on the job to do it and to produce it, but you're telling me that it's doable, I think, right?

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, I think we -- though I do believe we would have to confirm with Posterity, so if --


MR. MORAN:  Well, I'm sure people are always willing to be paid to do work, Mr. Keizer, so --


MR. KEIZER:  I mean, and also, whether it's doable within a reasonable period of time and whether it's actually technically doable.

MR. MORAN:  When somebody asks you for legal advice how long does it take you to decide whether you're going to do it or not?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, it's not the deciding, it is the execution that really is the --


MR. MORAN:  I understand.  All right.  So why don't we do it on that basis, recognizing that there may be a little bit of a time lag depending on what your conversation with Posterity is and on a best-efforts basis, as Mr. Elson suggested.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. MURRAY:  We will mark that as Undertaking J2.10.
UNDERTAKING J2.10:  FOR EGI OR POSTERITY ON BEHALF OF EGI TO EXTRAPOLATE THE PEAK DEMAND FOR THE CONTRACT CUSTOMERS BASED ON THE WORK THAT'S ALREADY BEEN DONE FOR POSTERITY TO PROVIDE,  ON A BEST-EFFORTS BASIS.


MR. ELSON:  I'd like to move to the topic of capital contributions.  And let me walk you through an overly simplified example.  So let's start with the fact that Enbridge plans to create 168 TJs per day of new capacity and 94 percent of that is for contract customers, so roughly 158 TJs per day of the capacity is attributable to contract customers, and we have a shortfall of $150 million, and if we divide that shortfall by 158 TJs per day, you'd come up with a price of $950,000 per TJ per day.

Now, let's say that you charged contract customers for capacity at $950 per TJ per day.  I am not saying that you should, but let's just say for the sake of asking this question.  I think what you're saying is that you might over-collect or you might under-collect depending on where the real connection take place geographically.

And if instead of connecting 158 TJs you might be able to connect more or you might be able to connect less depending on where that gets connected to the system and that could lead to an over or an undercollection.

And so if I am understanding it correctly, you can come up with a charge, but you just can't guarantee that the charge will not lead to over or undercollection; is that fair to say?

MR. GILLETT:  Are you able to hear me?  Zoom was giving me trouble with my camera and microphone.

MR. ELSON:  It's a bit quiet, but I can hear you, yes.

MR. GILLETT:  I am on my backup speaker here.

Yeah, so what we're -- you're right, what we are saying is by doing a point-in-time calculation there's risk that you will most likely either over or under--recover the costs of the project, and more than that, if you -- let's say customers showed up in a more favourable spot in the system.  You may get to a point where you've now recovered the costs of the project and there's still incremental capacity left, and now you've got customers that can now attach to the system for free, so you had all these customers all along paying to get on to the system because they showed up in more favourable locations, capacity left over at the end of that period, and now you've got customers who don't have to pay.

Conversely, if the opposite happened and they showed up in less favourable spots, we would likely only partially recover the cost of the project, because we would have run out of capacity sooner.

So that's the issue with something like this with a transmission system that has such a broad geographic area and such a complicated system, is that there's a temple component to it where over time as the capacity fluctuates it's difficult to administer in a fair and equitable way for similarly situated customers.

MR. ELSON:  Well, it's not the end of the world, is it, Mr. Gillett?  I mean, at the moment the proposal is $150 million is charged entirely to existing customers, and wouldn't it be better if you could charge most of it to the customers that are benefiting, even if some attached for free later down the road?  That seems like a much better result to me, in terms of allocating costs to those who are benefiting.

MR. GILLETT:  So in that scenario I -- my view is that that's somewhat arbitrary.  Why -- based on timing, why do some customers have to pay to contribute to the project while others don't to get similar capacity when in theory they should have been treated equitably?  So I am not sure why we would view that as a fair way of doing things, especially when you consider what Mr. MacPherson was saying earlier today around customers' expectations.  These greenhouse customers specifically, he mentioned it's a homogenous set of customers.  You have to realize they're also in competition with each other.  So now you have customers that are in the same geographic region who are in competition with each other, some of which are paying potentially millions of dollars to connect for gas service.  His competitor down the street delays for a year and gets to connect for free.  Now that one customer is at a competitive disadvantage.

And this doesn't even include going back in time where in 2016 these competitors have been getting this capacity as part of a 134 project all along and haven't had to pay CIACs, so it really starts to -- it really starts to play with the fairness in -- yeah, the fairness of how these customers are treated.

MR. ELSON:  Well, I guess there's two different approaches you could take.  It seems like your biggest concern is that customers connect in a more favourable manner, and then you end up having other customers connect for free.  But you wouldn't have to do it that way.  You could have other customers have to pay the amount until your capacity is empty, and then that would provide, you know, a contribution that would benefit all customers.  You could do it that way; couldn't you?  It would help to hedge against the possibility that your revenue forecast doesn't materialize, your 40-year revenue forecast.

MR. GILLETT:  Maybe I will start the answer, and Mr. MacPherson can add to it if I miss anything.

But I think what you're talking about is playing around with cost allocation, cost recovery, on a case-by-case basis, with customers who have been treated more fairly and evenly in the past.  If this wasn't such a homogenous group, this just happened to be an area because of the geographic realities of this area, why greenhouses locate there, they just happened to be a bunch of homogenous industries.  That's not the case elsewhere on the system.

So if this was a much more varied set of customers, if there's maybe more of a general service component to it, I don't know if we would be having the same discussion.  And so, again, it gets to, why would we want -- why would Enbridge Gas desire having a bespoke, customized way of recovering costs of this project when all that's going to do is cause confusion and disruption in the markets when they're trying to build these businesses in Ontario?  It just, it doesn't seem -- it doesn't seem prudent to do that.

MR. ELSON:  Well, now, you wouldn't have to do a separate system for each customer.  You come up with a design; right?  You come up with a design, and that's kind of what I am getting to, is that the different ways that you would design it would have different impacts in terms of customer fairness, so on and so forth; is that fair to say?

MR. GILLETT:  I think we need to, personally I go back to why 188 and 134 were structured the way they were to begin with.  There are situations where there are clearly facilities that are easily attributable to a specific customer, set of customers, in which case they can pay their way on to the system, but there's obviously other cases, such as this, where it's not as clean and it's in the public interest that we provide this capacity in order to allow customers to connect to the system.  I understand that there's grey between those two, two extremes but we are not playing in one of those grey areas in the middle.  We are on the very clear end of this is a transmission type project and our view is that the only way to really treat this fairly and ensure that customers are being treated fairly is to do it as proposed.

MR. ELSON:  And you're talking -- well, first of all, I don't think, Mr. Gillett, you answered my question, and I will go back to it in a minute.

MR. GILLETT:  Oh, apologies.

MR. ELSON:  But you're talking about fairness between, you know, different contract customers and there's another issue which is the fairness for the existing customers who are having to foot a $150 million bill for newly connecting customers; right?  Those are different issues.  And you're worried about, you know, part of that $150 million being, you know, allocated in something other than perfection between the contract customers, but there's also an issue of the $150 million you're proposing all of it be attributed to existing customers plus 100 percent of the revenue forecast risk; right?

MR. GILLETT:  I think what we are asking is for the Board to treat this project, which is very similar to past 134 projects, in a consistent, predictable way.  I think that it's the Board's mandate to determine whether that's in the public interest.  In the past they have determined that it's in the public interest, what you've described, and we don't believe that there's any change in circumstances between, you know, I will use the 2016 Panhandle as an example, the Board found that that was in the public interest then, these are generally, this is the exact same situation and we don't see why any conditions have changed that would alter that.

MR. ELSON:  I don't think you answered my question, but I think in a sense that is an answer and I am going to go back to the previous question that I had asked which is:  That if you designed, you know, an approach to capital contribution differently it would have different outcomes and let me give you an example.  You could, for instance, propose two zones with different capital contribution amounts, I don't know, maybe with Windsor area connections it's such and such dollars and where elsewhere it's, you know, a different amount.  I imagine there's a number of different approaches that you could take; is that fair to say?

MR. GILLETT:  No, I actually don't think that's fair.  I think that's one of the -- that's actually, I think, the core of the issue is the project generates capacity on the entire Panhandle system from Dawn to Ojibway.  You cannot isolate what areas benefit more or less until you actually have the customers show up and determine where they're actually using the capacity.  So, I mean, sitting here today, no, I can't see a way that we would sub-divide the Panhandle system to come up with custom allocation factors because that's not the reality of how it works, of how that system works.

MR. ELSON:  And I am not asking you to come up with it today.  I am going back to the discussion about how you can come up with approaches but you can't guarantee that there won't be over or under recovery and that's fair.  But there's different ways to do it and we talked about some of those.

You know, you could, you know, minimize the likelihood of over-collection, or you could propose a solution that treats the possibility of over and under collection equally, or you could, you know, once you've secured the $150 million you could keep charging for additional TJs per day or you could stop charging for additional TJs per day.

And so, where this is all leading to is an undertaking that I am going to ask of you to go back and consider.  Now, you have already agreed to replicate the capital contribution approach described in an answer to the OEB in a previous Union case from 2018.  But in addition to that, I'd like you to go further and to let the OEB know what you think would be the best approach to capital contributions to bring the case to a PI of 1, if you were to be directed to secure capital contributions.  I want you to go back and think about all these things, I am not asking you to do it on the fly, I am not asking you to copy what you answered, you know, five years ago, I don't know if that would be applicable or not.  I want you to come back and say if we had to do it balancing the considerations, fairness to existing customers, fairness between customers who are contract customers, over recovery, under recovery, here is how we would propose to do it, or a number of options and the pros and cons, and that is what I am asking by way of an undertaking.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, we object to the undertaking request.  I mean, first of all, I think the witness has been very clear that that's not the position of Union Gas and it believes that it's not able to actually develop the contribution based upon the operational aspects of this pipeline, that is Enbridge's position, that's its position in this case going forward for which it's asking you to consider whether to grant leave to construct.

What my friend is asking us to do is to basically pretend that you have made a decision and then come back as if this was a pre-emptive Phase 2 of this proceeding if you somehow decide that that's the case and put it before you in this proceeding and I don't think that that's appropriate.

I think that Enbridge has filed its evidence, it's filed its evidence on the basis that it believes it should be able to obtain a leave to construct and it's also put forward its evidence on the basis of which it believes whether a contribution can be or cannot be calculated or developed.  And I think it's inappropriate to then say, well, you have to change your case now and you have to actually give us evidence as to what we need to do differently because I need it to make my submission and I want to pre-empt what the Board may decide so I just think that it's inappropriate as an undertaking.

MR. MORAN:  Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  Mr. Chair, I have two responses to that.  One is that Mr. Keizer said that they can't come up with a charge, and the evidence from Mr. Gillett is the opposite, which is that they can come up with them; they just can't guarantee that it will not lead to over- or under-recovery.  And so the question is then, well, what's the best that you can do?  In terms of whether it's, you know, fair and relevant, I personally think knowing that the Board is considering contributions in aid of construction, that it would be helpful for the Board to have from Enbridge its best shot, you know, an analysis of the different alternatives about how to construct such a mechanism.  So, I think it would be helpful for me, I think it would be helpful for the Board and I will leave it there, thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Mr. Chair, I wonder if I could chime in.  Thank you, I appreciate it.  I also disagree, respectfully, with Mr. Keizer's characterization.  I think the evidence as it's developed is not that they can't do it, but that they shouldn't do it and they have explained at length why they feel that would be inequitable.  So, to me the question is if the Board were to find an inequity in not allocating cost to driving customers, is there a fair way that Enbridge could come up with an allocation mechanism.  And I take it, in part, that's what my friend Mr. Elson is asking for and I would support that.

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Moran, before you proceed on it, just in responding to Mr. Mondrow, and Mr. Elson. I mean, the key point was if, and the point is, we don't know what the "if" is, because we don't have a ruling from you with respect to the leave to construct generally.  So, they're asking us to create something out of a hypothetical.

I think the evidence is whether there's a number that could be come up with or methodology come up with based on the witness saying there could potentially be unfairness in under or over collecting, the bottom line is that Enbridge believes that there is no best solution and that as a result there is no solution that's the position and that's what the undertaking I think is why it's unfair.  I think we are -- it's causing us to have to put in a position for which the applicant is not prepared to endorse.

MR. MORAN:  So, thank you for all of your submissions on this.  We will be taking another break before the afternoon is out, and we will confer on it and come back.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I am almost through.  I have one last question on SEC number 5, please.  This is further to Mr. Ladanyi's questioning about the discussion between the account managers and Enbridge's customers regarding a CIAC.


It looked to me, Mr. MacPherson, that you took a bit of offence to the suggestion that it was a bit of a nudge, nudge, wink, wink discussion, and you were confident that the account managers were saying that there should be a contribution in aid of construction and in trying to get the views of your customers?

MR. MacPHERSON:  What I had said was that what was presented to customers was that this was an issue in this case being discussed by different intervenors and then advised them of that change, potential change, and collected feedback on their willingness to pay a contribution, their feedback, so to speak.

MR. ELSON:  Well, we don't have, you know, a transcripts of those discussions between account managers.  I believe the best we have is the response to SEC number 5, and I believe it's up on the screen, and part (b) asks for a copy of the instructions or guidance provided to Enbridge account managers regarding the OEB's comments in procedural order number 4 regarding contributions in aid of construction.

If you could turn down to page 2 of attachment 1, these are those instructions, and it seems to me that the only thing in writing that you told your account managers or the Q&A, was you told them your position that customers should not be required to pay a CIAC.  That's what it says right there; right?  I will read it.  It says:
"Question:  Are contributions in aid of construction required by Enbridge Gas for customers taking new/incremental firm service from the proposed transmission facilities?  Enbridge Gas's position is that customers should not be required to pay a CIAC to improve the economics of the proposed transmission project."

And then it goes on to provide an excerpt from your undertaking response where you argue against a CIAC.

I am just confirming, this is what you told your account managers; right?  That's my understanding that's what SEC was asking for.

MR. MacPHERSON:  So what we are looking at is a question and answer document, internal document, for the account managers to familiarize them with this issue in advance of explaining it to customers, like what this issue is in this proceeding, and our position on that issue, which is what you see here and has been consistently offered throughout.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Panel, I have no further questions.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Elson.  The School Energy Coalition is up next.  Mr. Rubenstein.  We are going to aim to take a break at about 4:00, 4:15, so just keep that in mind.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good afternoon, panel.  I apologize I am unable to attend in person.

I just want to raise on the record just one thing.  This is in relation to the proposed undertaking that the Panel has taken under reserve.  I'd just add my chorus.  I won't repeat the arguments from my friends, but I just add to the chorus that we think this is an important undertaking, and I was going to ask for a similar one in my questions.

Good afternoon, panel.  I was wondering if the first thing we can do is pull up the SEC compendium and have that marked as an exhibit.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K2.5.
EXHIBIT K2.5:  SEC COMPENDIUM FOR EGI PANEL 1.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, my friends have addressed a number of the issues that I was going to raise and I discussed in my opening comments, so I just want to focus on a couple of discrete areas and ask some follow-up questions.

Maybe the best thing to start off is on page 2 of our compendium.  I just want to walk through the evolution of the project so I have a better understanding.

And this is from the original evidence, and it's a map of the project as filed in 2022; do you see that?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So the original project had the Panhandle loop, we see that in red, it's on the right side, and then there was also the Leamington interconnect component of the project; do I have that right?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we flip to page 5, this is the cost estimate of the project in 2022.  It was $314.4 million for both components?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we flip back to page 3, I believe, the DCF analysis on project costs had a negative 95 NPV at Stage 1; do I have that right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But the project in your view at the time was still justified because of the Stage 2 and 3 benefits; correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is also correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so the project's held in abeyance, you refiled the project, you refile with an updated application in June 2023, and as I understand what is one of the components that, it's removed from the updated application, is that Leamington interconnect project; correct?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we go to page 6 of the compendium, this is the updated costs.  The total costs have increased from the $314.4 million to the $358 million; correct?

MR. THOMAS:  Agreed.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's an increase of about 14 percent?  Take that subject to check?

MR. THOMAS:  Subject to check, I will take your word for that, yeah.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But as we discussed, one of the big differences is the removal of the Leamington interconnect portion.  So if we can go to page 23 of the compendium.  This is your response to SEC 2, where we ask for a breakdown of the costs from the first application to the second application -- sorry, I should say the original application and the updated application, just within the scope of the updated application.  Do you see that?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, I can see it.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And in Table 1 it shows that difference; correct?

MR. THOMAS:  It doesn't show the difference, but it does show the individual project numbers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, at the total project cost component shows the difference; do I have that right?

MR. THOMAS:  Agreed, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so if we look just at -- if we're making an apples-to-apples comparison, the project increased from 246.6 million to 358 million; correct?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you'd agree that's a more appropriate cost comparison between the two versions; correct?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, I agree.  This table is showing the proposed project under the current application relative to the equivalent assets in the original application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's about a $111 million difference or about a 45 percent increase; does that sound about right to you?

MR. THOMAS:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So that's a big increase; fair?

MR. THOMAS:  It's an increase.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You don't think a 45 percent increase is a big increase?

MR. THOMAS:  Sorry, yes, which is why as part of this application the company did identify a material change in project costs, which was ultimately why the project was put into abeyance originally.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, as I understand when you filed the updated application, you commented that you're going to need to reassess the Leamington -- you will reassess the need for the Leamington interconnect component; correct?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, the company is not proposing Leamington interconnect as part of this application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then if we go to page 26 of the compendium.  We asked you -- we quoted in the cover letter of your application where you make the comment that you'll assess the need in the future, and in part (b) we asked you to confirm that in the capital update filed in your rebasing application, which as I understand was filed on the same date thereabout of the updated application, you do forecast the Leamington interconnect to be completed in 2026 at a cost of $118.8 million; do you see that question?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, I see that question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you confirm that it's accurate in part (b)?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, I see that.  However that is the not the current proposed timing.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you provide me more better information?

MR. THOMAS:  Please bring up A.4.1.  Page 7, paragraph 25.  So, in this paragraph we state that given the current system demands updated forecasts as a result of this application, there's not a forecasted system shortfall like that driving the need for the Leamington interconnect will not occur until as early as winter 29/2030.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And is the forecasted $118.8 million, I take it then that's also inaccurate because that would be based on a 2026 cost; correct?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, that would not be the accurate cost.  I would also say that the company through this will be evaluating all potential alternatives and other capacity solutions.  It is not necessarily that we will proceed with the Leamington interconnect, however it is remained in the asset management plan.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And if you do undertake the Leamington interconnect, presumably the costs would be higher than 118.8 million based on the revised timing, directionally they would be higher?

MR. THOMAS:  Provided it's the same scope, with a different in-service date, yes, directionally the number would be higher.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Right.  Now, as I understand the updated application you've talked about this a lot over the last few days at the Stage 1, the discounted cash flow analysis shows an NPV of negative $150 million; correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I believe it has a profitability index of 0.48; is that right?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Just one moment, I am trying to bring it up.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  It's just on page 8 of my compendium, if that's easier.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  0.48, yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the negative 150 NPV, you'd agree with me it's worse than the original application with a negative $95 million?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is correct.  That is a larger negative NPV.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And what the negative $150 million number means, as I understand it, is that over the 40-year period incremental revenues from the increased demand driving the project will be $150 million less on a discounted cash flow basis than the incremental costs of the project; correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the difference is paid for by existing customers; correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I am sorry I didn't hear the last part of your question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, no problem. The difference is paid for by existing customers.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Existing and the new added customers from the project, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And it assumes, as I understand it, that the incremental capacity will remain on the system for 40 years; correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  The assumption within the analysis is that, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And did you assess the likelihood of that?  Did you do any analysis to determine the likelihood of that occurring.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  No, we did not.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, we heard earlier on, and I forget if it was questions from my friends from Atura, but I think they said that the Brighton Beach contract extension was for only 10 years; did I hear that correctly?

MR. MacPHERSON:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, these much less than 40 years; correct?

MR. MacPHERSON:  That's correct.  However, we believe that asset will be continued to be utilized in the future past 2034.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And did you undertake any analysis with respect to, for example, the draft clean -- sorry, the draft clean electricity regulation?

MS. WADE:  Yes, we did look at the clean electricity regulation and determined that based on the compliance methods that are currently included, so RNG carbon capture, hydrogen, that it could very well be one of the compliance methods that this power gen station adopts.  And so, from that perspective we feel like there is a high likelihood that this power gen station would remain in use.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  For 40 years?

MS. WADE:  We have no reason to believe, given the constraints that have been identified in numerous reports that have been brought up over the past two days, that this power gen station won't comply to the clean electricity regulations using one of those compliance methods.

And then I would note, as part of the clean electricity regulations, that there's also an emergency element being proposed in that power generators be able to come online and that's still to be determined what emergency -- how emergency is defined and how often they will be coming on.  So, all of that to say I think that we, at this point, have no reason to believe that Brighton Beach would come offline at this point.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, there was some discussion with one of my friends earlier on, I think it was Mr. Ladanyi, who talked about the difference between the discounted cash flow analysis undertaken in EBO188 and the one that you undertake in Stage 1 of EBO134, and specifically with respect to contract customers having a 20-year revenue horizon, as opposed to what you've used is a 40-year.  Do you recall those discussions?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Yes, we do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am wondering if you can retake -- if you can provide a revised version of the Panhandle DCF analysis that uses for contract customers a 20-year revenue horizon similar to the one you use for EBO188; is that something you can undertake and do?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Mr. Rubenstein, I believe we received an undertaking for that exact calculation, if you just give me a moment I will identify the number.  It may very well have been Pollution Probe.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, they haven't asked questions yet so I am not sure.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Oh, sorry.  I meant to say interrogatory. No, it's Energy Probe 15.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  It is Energy Probe 15?  All right.  Well, thank you very much, and I apologize for missing that.  Back to the analysis, as I understand even though the project has a negative NPV at, in your DCF analysis as a result of Stage 2 and 3 of EBO134 in your view that the project is still in the public interest; correct?

MR. MacPHERSON:  Yes, we would still represent this project as in the public interest, it provides broad benefits to an entire region of the province that depends on increasing energy demands to meet its growth objectives from new industries and housing growth.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  At a high level, and I think you have discussed it with many of my friends, at Stage 2 you are looking at the energy savings of the new general service customers; correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And at Stage 3 you look at the economic benefits of the construction of the project; correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And maybe we can go to page 13 of the compendium.  This is, as I understand, the table where you have done that analysis.  Do you see that?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand, the total benefits of the project you're estimating using this table is $257 million on an NPV basis, you see that line 23?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's made up of the GDP impact of the project and then the total taxes that are paid; correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That's correct.  And there is also a job number identified on line 11.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, as I understand, for the GDP impact, as I understand, what you do, is you take the percentage of CAPEX spending in the province of the capital project and then you multiply that by 0.91 percent.  Do I have that?  And that's the GDP benefit?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, the more expensive the project the bigger the benefit; correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so, if the project is over budget, that's a bigger economic benefit to the province, that's how this works; correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That's how the math would work, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is that -- do you agree that's not just how the math works, but actually the benefit to the province, if for example the project is over budget?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I think it would be unfair to simply look at Stage 3 in isolation.  You would need -- I agree that you would get a higher GDP number in Stage 3, but a higher project cost would also then reflect a larger negative NPV within Stage 1, so I think you'd have to look at it in its totality.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand.  But for the purposes of Stage 3, which is what I am asking about here, is it your view that the more expensive the project, that's the greater economic impact of the project?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I am not sure that I have sufficient knowledge of how the GDP factor has been created to give a fair answer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And as I understand these economic benefits, they're broader benefits that accrue to the province as a whole; correct?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So they are not specifically accruing to existing or new natural gas customers; correct?  You're not allocating some of these costs to them?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, nowhere in the calculation, nowhere in any of your Stage 1, 2, or 3, do you calculate the economic impact to existing customers and the broader impact to their ability of the economy to pay higher rates because of this project, right?  That's not included, that's not considered anywhere.

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I believe that's what the Stage 1 calculation is meant to cover.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But it doesn't explain what are the economic effects of rates going up for other businesses, for example, existing customers and their businesses, for example?

MR. SZYMANSKI:  I would agree.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I want to turn back and briefly discuss the issue of costs, and maybe we can go to page 24.  And as I understand your response to this interrogatory further down the page, the forecast costs -- the forecast 358 million are based on the top three responses to an RFP you held in Q4 2022?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, that is the current basis of the cost estimate.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So those numbers are from roughly a year ago?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, that was the estimate at the time, and the company with the new in-service date is continuing to evaluate executing a contract with a contractor to execute this project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  As I understand, you actually haven't signed the contract.  There's no conditional contract if the project is approved; correct?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, that is correct.  I will just say as well that through the estimate process impacts of the delayed in-service year are reflected through escalation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, so I just want to understand, do we know if these costs are still accurate?  Or are they going to go up by the time the OEB -- if say the OEB approves the project and you go back to your contractors because you haven't signed a contract, are these costs going to be higher?

MR. THOMAS:  These are the current estimated costs based on the principles used in Enbridge's cost estimating processes.  At all times through a project as the project is developed the estimate changes and develops as new information is gained.  And that is -- and Enbridge also utilizes contingency to account for unknowns in the project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand they're unknowns and you have contingency.  That part I understand.  But you went to your contractors a year ago and you have RFP responses.  I am just trying to understand, are you allowed to just sign a contract with one of them, or are those prices that they quoted you at that time or bid into at that time binding, or can they say, well, it's been a year?  That's the issue I am trying to understand.

MR. THOMAS:  Those were the estimates at the time.  They have continued to work with those contractors and are in active discussions with them, as is discussed.

I would also like to bring us to Staff 23, please.  This interrogatory response is looking at the standard conditions of approval for the project.  I would like to go down to number 6.
"Concurrent with the final monitoring report referred to in condition 7(b), Enbridge Gas shall file a postconstruction financial report which shall provide a financial analysis of project costs, schedule, and scope compared to the estimates filed in this proceeding, including to the extent to which the project contingency was utilized."

And if you can please scroll down to the bottom of this interrogatory:

"Enbridge Gas has accepted these standard conditions of approval and will provide any differences between the current estimate and the final project cost."

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But that's not my question.  I understand that you're going to report on and there are requirements you report on the actual cost. I am saying where we sit today are you confident that the $358 million is accurate?  Is that the best estimate you have now, or do you have better information as we sit here today?

MR. THOMAS:  This is the best information we have at this time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And if we can go to page 21 of the compendium.  This was from SEC 1.  We ask you in part C to please explain the structure of the contracts and the specific details regarding the allocation of risk, and you provide an answer on part C.  You essentially say you haven't signed the contract yet.  You haven't -- so you haven't finalized the details regarding allocation of risk, and then you say alternative structures were requested in the RFP process, then you talk generally about them, about the lump sum and unit price contracts; do you see that?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, I see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is lump sum the same as a fixed price?

MR. THOMAS:  So I am seeing here in the response where we say lump sum and unit price.  I would say generally a lump sum is close to a fixed‑price contract structure.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, what's the difference?

MR. THOMAS:  I don't have that detail in front of me.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, can you undertake to provide that information?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Undertaking J2.11.
UNDERTAKING J2.11:  EGI TO ADVISE (A) THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN LUMP SUM AND FIXED-PRICE CONTRACT STRUCTURE; (B) TO ADVISE OF THE MEANING OF UNIT PRICE CONTRACT IN THE CONTEXT OF A DEFINED PIPELINE OF A CERTAIN LENGTH AND LOCATION.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And for the unit price contract, what do you mean, a unit price contract, in the context of a defined pipeline of a certain length and location?

MR. THOMAS:  I also do not have that information in front of me.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is something you can add to that interrogatory -- that undertaking?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, I can.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.

I guess this as good a time as ever to have a break.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  We will adjourn until 4:15.
--- Recess taken at 4:04 p.m.
--- On resuming at 4:21 p.m.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, sorry for the delay.  All right, we promised to get back to you on your ask, Mr. Elson.

So, first of all we note there's already an undertaking along these lines that, I guess, Enbridge has agreed to.  Mr. Keizer, I think we take your point that you have made a proposal and, I guess, you're not that willing to produce a counterproposal to what you think is the way to proceed here so we take all of that.

So, I think on that basis I think we are going to stick with the original one, but we do want to say that, in the context of this proceeding, based on the facts and the record that develops in this proceeding we are expecting that, to the extent there are solutions that intervenors think are appropriate, that they are going to tell us what they think those solutions ought to be as opposed to perhaps waiting for Enbridge to suggest what it might be, I think we are going to find that very helpful.

I would note that, you know, section 36.1 is of the Act says that nobody can -- a gas distributor can't charge anybody for anything without an order of the Board, and in section 36.3 it says that in approving or fixing rates that we can adopt any method we want.  I guess that's obvious because we clearly created the methods the two methods we have been talking about and some variations amongst those as various decisions show.

So, you know, obviously the right thing to be done in this case is going to be driven by the record in this case, and we will be assisted by all of the submissions that we get on that.

And so, you know, and so in that vein if Enbridge is able to think of other ways of approaching this that makes sense to put on the record then we, obviously, would encourage Enbridge to do the same thing as well, but everybody is going to have a shot at this before we make our decision, so.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you.  Mr. Rubenstein, are you ready to continue?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I am. Just a couple of other areas I would like to quickly discuss. As I understand as a result of Procedural Order No. 4 in this proceeding, where the OEB told you Enbridge may want to consider informing contract customers who are seeking new or increased service that some parties may request the OEB require them to pay a CIAC payment, you gathered feedback from those customers; do I have that correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand, all of this was gathered verbally; do I have that correct?

MR. CIUPKA:  Yes.  So, my understanding is through the account managers this would have occurred through the discussions that they had with their customers.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we can go to page 46, As I understand, this is a summary of the comments that those then account managers received are from those customers.  This is page 46 of the compendium; correct?

MR. CIUPKA:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  This is how I interpret these results from viewing them, those customers generally do not favour paying a CIAC payment; correct?

MR. CIUPKA:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And that's unsurprisingly when you went to your customers and you said in some ways, would you like to pay more they said no; fair?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I believe that would be fair.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But what you didn't ask them, or at least I don't see anywhere where it's recorded in this information, is if they had to pay a CIAC payment would they pay it, would they reduce their capacity that they would require?  I don't see any information about this; correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Could you please restate the question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  What I don't see recorded here is any feedback you received from those customers that if they were required to pay a CIAC payment that, for example, they wouldn't be able to pay it, they would have to reduce the capacity that they're requesting, they move out of the jurisdiction, none of that is recorded, I don't see any of that here; correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That's correct, and I would add to that point, though, what we just heard from Commissioner Moran to provide a really meaningful answer we need a very specific question on what you're now saying.

We have had a standard way of approaching this in the past through whether it's a distribution project or transmission projects, and, as I have said before, they have relied upon that and now, you know, we are talking about making up a new rate, we don't know what that ever could be or might be, and asking, trying to ask what would that mean to their decision is an extremely difficult proposition.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand that.  And we don't have that information, fair?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you didn't come to them with a proposal; correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We did not, as we filed in our evidence, we have filed the EBO134 methodology in this application.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And when earlier, at least I thought I heard testimony that there was some, there was a view that some of them would leave the jurisdiction, I don't see any of that recorded here.

MR. MACPHERSON:  That's correct.  What we had heard from, ultimately, from our customers they need this pipeline to expand their business, so this would lead to, this would lead to growth occurring in other jurisdictions.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand they would need the pipeline.  That's a different question than they get the pipeline they just have to pay more for it; correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Again, we are back to the same question which we don't have, we don't have a specific answer to.  Hypothetical on what people would do with some unknown new rate treatment.  So, they have other alternatives, these greenhouses are already building plants in other locations such as Ohio and Michigan and they do not have this type of treatment in those areas, they have let's say equitable, we have very good conditions in Ontario for greenhouse growers, lots of sunlight, access to water, flat, like level terrain and, potentially, access to energy.  These are all needed for a successful industry to prosper.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  You talk about equitable, do you know in other jurisdictions if we were talking about similar transportation capacity that needed to be constructed if customers were driving that would have to be, required to pay?  Do you know?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I couldn't provide you with a specific answer on that.  Just all I know would be through discussions with builders and developers of greenhouses that they do not face this treatment.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can I ask you if you can turn to page 56 of the compendium.  This is a copy of the clean electricity supply contract between Brighton Beach LP and the Independent Electricity System Operator; do you see that dated 27th April, 2023?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if we can flip the page, this is exhibit -- this is an excerpt and this contract is available on the IESO website, just for the record.

We can flip over to the next.  This is exhibit X.  This exhibit is specifically about the implications of this decision; do you see that?

MR. MACPHERSON:  We do.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand as the basis of that agreement, at least with respect to Brighton Beach, they have agreed to a mechanism of the IESO, about how they are going to allocate the costs between themselves and the IESO.  So, they will still be operating if there is a CIAC payment; fair?

MR. MACPHERSON:  No, that is not correct.  Subsequent to that direction in Procedural Order No. 4, as we understand it from our discussions with Atura Power, they undertook negotiations and discussions with the IESO which have led to this provision in their contract.  However, they remain held in reserve, but, ultimately, if CIAC was applied to the project whether they are willing to pay 40 percent CIAC. They bid into this process, as we understand it, based on their level understanding of how the rate treatment would apply and this is coming as a significant surprise. So, it's very commercially adverse.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, just so we're clear, this, at least as I read it, and I have as much -- I am just reading the document here -- this is after Procedural Order No. 4.  Correct?  That this contract was signed in the included Exhibit X.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I am not sure; I am not positive of the date.  This issue arose originally in -- sorry, I have tied it to Procedural Order 4, but the issue arose in discussions at the technical conference which occurred in October of 2022.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But my point being that Exhibit X is all subsequent to that.  Correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  That's my understanding.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And now, Mr. Gillett, I just want to ask you one final question.  There was a lot of discussion with Mr. Elson regarding, well, if there was a CIAC payment, how would that work, and you provided some helpful information in helping me understand some of the concerns that the company had that you discussed yesterday.

And one of the big things that I understood was what I will call the over/under-collection issue; that, depending on who ends up showing up and where they show up, you may over- or under-collect.  Is that one of the big concerns that Enbridge has?

MR. GILLETT:  Over- and under-collect, and then, conversely, customers would be over- or under-paying.  And, even more so, those customers will be paying when their competitors potentially had attached to the system without paying.  Like, it's not just the over/under-recovery issue that is the discrete problem with this project.  It's a broader issue, with expectations and previous treatment within the province.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, let's just deal with those.  With respect to the latter component that you're talking about, the different treatment as compared to customers who have previously connected, you would agree with me that would result -- any time you make a change to EBO134, any methodology change that the Board may happen, that's going to have that sort of an effect.  Correct?

MR. GILLETT:  I guess it depends what the change is.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you change any of the methodologies.  If there's a CIAC payment -- well, fair enough.  The same thing could be said about EBO188.  Any time you would create a new method that may change how a CIAC payment is required, there will be some customers who will be treated ultimately differently than the previous customers under the old set of rules.  Correct?

MR. GILLETT:  That's a potential, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so the only way that you could avoid that is to never change the rules.  Correct?

MR. GILLETT:  I would say that's fair.  And I don't think we are against the OEB evolving its rules.  The issue we have is that we don't see changes in circumstances that would warrant changing the treatment of a project such as this.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now, with respect to the first issue, the over/under-collection or the over/under-payment, isn't the answer to that a true-up requirement?  That, after certain period of time, or after the capacity is all used, there is a true-up mechanism?

MR. GILLETT:  Well, it depends what you mean by "true-up."  Like, what are you envisioning with that question?  What type of true-up?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, you would go back to those customers and either refund them or require them to pay more, depending on what ultimately happened.

MR. GILLETT:  I would say that that's not a tenable solution.  I think that what that does is it introduces even more complexity and uncertainty and burden to customers.

So if you're suggesting that, you know, in an example, customers show up on the system, we end up under-recovering the costs, we would then show up to those customers who think they've contributed what they're supposed to contribute, their businesses are operating, they are producing products and selling them into the market, and then we show up a certain time later with another bill for incremental costs, I think that that just exacerbates the problem.  Customers want certainty of what their costs are going to be.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So, in a scenario where you have the risk of over- or under-recovery or over- and under-payment versus a true-up mechanism, in your view, customers would prefer the certainty of over/under-recovery, over/under-payment versus a true-up mechanism.

If you had to pick between those two situations, what would be your advice to the Board?

MR. GILLETT:  Well, I don't know if it's fair to give me only those two choices, because I think our position is that customers want certainty and fair and equitable treatment that is consistent with what they have had, what they have experienced in the past, what their competitors have experienced in the past, in order to be put on a level playing field.  I don't think either of those options is tenable.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And if you had to choose one?  I understand it's not your position -- I understand the company's position.  I think that's been very clear.  I understand your evidence.  But, if you had to choose between those two scenarios?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think it's fair to put that to him to say you have to choose one.  I mean, he has indicated he doesn't choose either one, is his answer.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  That's fair, that's fair.  I withdraw the question. Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.

MR. GILLETT:  Thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  Next, we are going to Pollution Probe, Mr. Brophy.  We are aiming to stop at about between 5:00 and 5:15, so we will see how it goes.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Brophy:


MR. BROPHY:  Okay, fair enough.  I can shoot for that.  Good afternoon, Commissioners and Enbridge panel.  My name is Michael Brophy, and I am here on behalf of Pollution Probe.

Pollution Probe compendium part 2 was filed Monday, so can we get an exhibit number for that.

MR. MURRAY:  That will be Exhibit K2.6.
EXHIBIT K2.6:  POLLUTION PROBE COMPENDIUM FOR EGI PANEL 1.


MR. BROPHY:  Great.  And, depending on the amount of time and cadence, I hope to come back to that.  Perhaps we can start with Staff 24, Table 1.  I know it has been referenced quite a bit so far.  And we see that Staff 24, Table 1, is the contracts that Enbridge is hoping to use to underpin contract demand for these project.  Is that correct?  And I think it goes on to the next page, as well.  I don't know if you'll be able to get it all on one and still be able to see it.

MR. CIUPKA:  These would be the customers that submitted expression of interest bids.  So, in our view, these are the customers that are more certain of their plans within the next two years, and so those are who we are focusing on.

But, in addition to that, and I go back to what Mr. MacPherson said previously about Invest Windsor Essex, they are also working with a number of clients.  And so those clients are not reflected on here either, and they are in the decision-making process of whether or not they want to choose to locate in Ontario, particularly the Panhandle market area.  So I would say those are who we are focusing on right now, but there are many beyond what is listed just in that IR response.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you for that.  So the Board's decision will have to consider if an additional customer were to come onto this list, I think is what you're saying.

So on this list, and I know it's a little bit dated now, there is one listed as executed, and Enbridge has filed a copy of that agreement, which I think is the Atura Brighton Beach contract.  Is that correct?  There is only one at the top that's in the executed.

MR. MACPHERSON:  That's confirmed.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great, thank you.

And then we heard earlier that there are three more, now, that have been executed.  I am not sure which ones they are, and I don't know if the panel knew off the top of their head, but are you able to undertake to provide a copy of those contracts similar to what you did for the Brighton Beach one?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can I have a moment.  Can I ask for what purpose?  Like, in other words, the point is the evidence has been given that the contracts have been signed.  Are you -- I just want to clarify that, to understand the relevance of the question.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, I am happy to answer that.  So these are the large contract demand contracts.  And I get that more could come on, but, right now, this is what we have on the list.  And these are the ones underpinning the demand -- over 90 percent; I think it was about 95 percent of the project -- and the Atura Brighton Beach contract was filed to indicate that there is a real contract in place and the details of that contract.

We are just looking for the similar thing from the other three that you've indicated now.  And I am assuming when you do file those then we will know which of the sectors they fall into, and I am assuming they would align, then, with the information in this table; is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  I guess, what we would be having to do is certainly -- sorry, having to do is actually redact any parts of the contract.


But, I guess -- to the point, I guess -- part of the reason why I am hesitating is whether or not a customer's contract needs to be filed in a regulatory proceeding and, you know, which is, you know, a private commercial negotiations, I guess, and whether the fact that the contract has been signed and the fact that what industrial group they belong to or agricultural group they belong to could be identified; would that be sufficient, I think, with respect to providing you the comfort that the contract has been completed, and the source of the customer, as opposed to providing all of the customer's commercial details.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Keizer, if I could interject for OEB Staff?  One thing, at least within the contracts, that would be of interest to OEB Staff is whether or not there's any CIAC provision similar to the one that's in the Brighton Beach contract.

Is there a way you could undertake to review those contracts to see whether or not they have similar provisions and, if so, provide those?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  So, I think what we could do is indicate that the contract has been -- a contract has been completed, the grouping from which that contracted party comes from, whether it's a greenhouse grower or wherever, whatever its, kind of, sense of business is, and then also clarify whether it includes such a provision related to CIAC.

MR. MURRAY:  And, if so, can you include the provision?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  To the extent that if it has confidential information we would have to redact it.

MR. BROPHY:  I guess, I am a little confused on why this is an issue.  It's a standard practice.  There are procedures if there's sections that you think need to be redacted, you did that with the Brighton Beach, I am a little surprised that the answer wasn't just a quick yes, and we will redact the sections that you believe have to be redacted, and request that the OEB consider, you know, those sections as confidential.

MR. KEIZER:  I guess, I only hesitate because of dealings with confidential information and people who are in commercial enterprises who are not here and not being represented by counsel such as Atura is, that that's the reason why I hesitate.

MR. MORAN:  So, Mr. Brophy, Mr. Murray has indicated a specific area of interest and has asked if Enbridge can confirm if on that particular area of interest is it addressed in the contract and how is it addressed in the contract.

Are there specific areas of interest that you have and perhaps you could let us know what those are?

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, yes.  Ideally it would be the full contracts but, you know, more specifically certainly, you know, the name, the date range as far as, you know, the demand when it starts when it ends, any CIAC wording as mentioned by OEB Staff, any other provisions, there are certain covenants in the agreement that allow both the customer and Enbridge to back out at, you know, including outcomes from this proceeding, application of a CIAC, any number of conditions.

Instead of, you know, Enbridge going away and trying to guess what those elements are, I figured it was better just to provide the contracts.

But, you know, basically the exact same information that was in the unredacted version of the Brighton Beach we would be looking for similar things for the other three.

MR. KEIZER:  That would be fine, with the exception of providing the name.  And probably the demand since I think those are two probably commercially very sensitive things, if we were to provide an undertaking response which says, you know, the contract has been signed; here is the kinds of provisions that it has within it; is there any kind of CIAC provision included within the contract, and any other special provisions that are related to the outcomes of this proceeding, I think, you know, that we could describe an undertaking.

I just don't think it's appropriate to give the name or provide the demand levels because I think those things are treated commercially sensitive in any other circumstances.

MR. MORAN:  So, if the commercial terms are not in play then all the name would tell us is that you've got a customer named whatever that name is; right?  And then there's some boilerplate provisions about exit and entry and CIAC and so on, is that...

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, you're asking me to provide the customer name?

MR. MORAN:  No, I am just wondering if the customer name without the specific commercial terms is there what's the confidentiality issue?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, no.  I guess in terms of --


MR. MORAN:  And I suppose one can drive up and down to see what the names of all the greenhouse growers are to potentially identify customers and, you know...

MR. KEIZER:  I think typically Enbridge does not provide the customer name or the particulars that are commercially related to that.  I am just trying to get to a point where we are not putting a whole lot of confidential commercial information for parties that aren't present in this proceeding, you know, in the record, although redacted.  I guess I was just trying to find a way that that could work effectively to satisfy Mr. Brophy's concerns, and also Staff, and at the same time for the parties that aren't necessarily here and represented.

MR. MORAN:  Do you need the name, Mr. Brophy?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, I think we are comfortable with what Mr. Keizer said they can provide and then if you can let us know which row in Staff 24, Table 1 it relates to as well just so we can match it up.  I would note that Enbridge has provided all the names for these customers already, so I am a little confused, again, why if they're already been provided why, why that's an issue.  But, you know, willing to compromise.

MR. MORAN:  All right.  Well, I mean, I think for the purposes of the decision we have to make we certainly would like to understand if there's contractual arrangements around the outcome of this proceeding, if I could put it that way, similar to what we saw with exhibit X in the Brighton Beach and then, and the other things as you described them I think that probably addresses everything.  Mr. Murray does that work for you as well?

MS. NEWLAND:  Mr. Chairman Moran, if I could just interject.  You mentioned exhibit X.  That was in the IESO contract?


MR. MORAN:  I understand, yes.

MS. NEWLAND:  Okay.  I thought we were talking here about the transportation contracts?


MR. MORAN:  No, I was talking about CIAC provisions similar to the ones that we saw in exhibit X in the Brighton Beach contract.

MS. NEWLAND:  I see, thank you.

MR. MORAN:  I understood it was with the IESO.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Chair, that works for Staff so if there's nothing further I can mark that as an undertaking.

MR. MORAN:  Okay.

MR. MURRAY:  J2.12.
UNDERTAKING J2.12:  EGI TO INDICATE THOSE CONTRACTS THAT HAVE BEEN SIGNED, INCLUDING CONDITIONS PRECEDENT, THE SECTOR FROM WHICH THEY HAVE ARRIVED, INCLUDING IDENTIFYING THE LINE NUMBER THAT APPEARS ON WHATEVER THE PARTICULAR UNDERTAKING OR INTERROGATORY RESPONSE THAT THAT RELATES TO, TOGETHER WITH ANY PARTICULAR PROVISIONS THAT RELATE TO THE PAYMENT OF CIAC OR ANY OTHER PROVISION THAT RELATES TO THE OUTCOME OF THIS PROCEEDING, OR ANY PROVISIONS THAT ARE SOMEHOW RELATED TO THIS PARTICULAR APPLICATION.


MR. MORAN:  Do you want to capture it for clarity, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  I will do my best and hopefully do not trip in the meantime.

MR. MORAN:  You have got a high bar to reach with Mr. Stevens.  He has been good at doing this.

MR. KEIZER:  So, I would think that what we would be undertaking to do is to indicate those contracts that have been signed, the sector from which they have arrived, including identifying the line number that appears on whatever the particular undertaking or interrogatory response that that relates to, together with -- obviously, that would identify any information that's on there, together with any particular provisions that relate to the payment of CIACs, or any other provision that relates to the outcome of this proceeding, or any provisions that are somehow related to this particular application.

MR. BROPHY:  That sounds right, including the conditions precedent which I think is covered in what was summarized.

Mr. Keizer:  Yes, that's fine.

MR. MURRAY:  And for clarity for the record once again that's J2.12.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that. Okay.  So, we have Staff 24, Table 1 up, so there's 27 contracts there, we now have four that are executed we will get the details on the other three we don't have.  So, that's just under 15 percent of the list; does that sound right?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Sounds correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Sounds about right, okay. And, you know, the only one that we had is the Atura contract and it's based, I believe, on the standard contract as, you know, not a surprise Enbridge says that they use their standard form which they also filed.  It'd be fair to say all the contracts the three that have been executed the additional ones and if you execute more that it will all be a similar process; is that correct?

MR. MACPHERSON:  I think it depends on the customer and the type of contract that that type and form of agreement that was executed with Atura was a T2 type contract, and to the extent other contracts are for other services they may be different.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, you have a standard form you try to use, I think what I am hearing is the Atura kind of went a little outside that for whatever reasons and --


MR. MACPHERSON:  No.  It's -- sorry, let me be clear.  There is a standard form of T2 agreement that applies.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. MACPHERSON:  If other customers connecting here are connecting under a different distribution service, such as M7 or M4, there is a different type and form of contract because of the nature of service.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, fair enough.  Thank you for that.  If we can go to Pollution Probe 32, Attachment 1, page 2.  This is hopefully the redacted version.  This is the Atura contract for the Brighton Beach generating facility.  I will just wait for that to come up.  Great. And then just maybe toward the top.  Sure, thank you for that.

So the term "expansion facilities" is used in many places, including what you see on the page.  When the term "expansion facilities" appears throughout the contract, can you confirm that that means the Panhandle regional expansion project that we are talking about in this proceeding?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Per this contract, that's exactly what it means.  The expansion facilities are the Panhandle facilities.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great, thank you.  And I'm going to go light on this, because I think Mr. Rubenstein asked some in relation to the IESO agreement, as well, which is a bit different.

We see, under the conditions precedent, Enbridge has no obligations if any of the conditions precedent fail to occur.  Is that correct?

MR. CIUPKA:  Can you repeat the question, please.

MR. BROPHY:  So the conditions precedent section outlines certain items that, if they were to occur or be impacted, then it basically relieves Enbridge from obligations under the contract.  Right?

So, if you don't get leave to construct approval from the OEB, you don't have to go and build the pipeline out of compliance, as an example.

MR. CIUPKA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  And I am not going to go through it line-by-line.  The contract has a bunch of other conditions for Enbridge, or Atura, to mitigate risk.  Given the time, I am not going to go through all of that.

I don't think we have to pull it up, but we can.  I did print it.

On the transcript for day one yesterday, page 118, Mr. MacPherson had a conversation with Atura's counsel, and Mr. MacPherson indicated, or suggested, that he thought Atura's bid to the Ontario power contract assumed that they wouldn't have to pay a contribution.  And this is the part I think I can go light on, because, with the exhibit that Mr. Rubenstein pulled up, it's actually, I don't think, true.  There are other conditions that enable a CIAC to be paid if it's required.

Is that your understanding?  Or do you not think that Atura would be able to pay a CIAC if the Board were to require one?

MR. MACPHERSON:  Per my statements yesterday, what we have heard from Atura is that they would wait to see any such order from the Board and take it under advisement as to the commercial impact of any contribution related to that 40 percent that they would need to bear.  They have commercially bid, as I have mentioned, on the basis of past regulatory treatment of EBO134, but that's all I could tell you past that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Fair enough, thank you.  So I want to validate a few numbers.  This might actually use up the five minutes we have left.  If we can go to Pollution Probe -- well, it's Pollution Probe 31.  I don't know if we need to pull it up.  There are a few other references, two others, that I will compare.

So Pollution Probe 31 actually provided some clarity to us that contract customers make up 55 percent of Panhandle demand currently, but the contract customers make up, actually, it said 95 percent of the incremental demand driving the project.  You're with me so far?  Because we are trying to determine the difference between the 55 and the 95, and you provided that answer in the response.

What I could do is I could get to the other two references, because I am going to ask you just to compare them because they are different numbers, if that's easier.  But, if you have anything to add now, we can pause for a minute.

MR. KEIZER:  Just to be of assistance, are you asking for confirmation about a particular aspect of the undertaking that's on the screen?  It would be helpful if you maybe -- I think it's been a long day --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure, okay.

MR. KEIZER:  -- if you can help and point out where in undertaking you are making a reference to, or in the interrogatory, that would be helpful.

MR. BROPHY:  Pollution Probe -- maybe it was the old.  I will need go back and check the reference; it was a question that asked the difference between the 55 percent number and the 95 percent number, but I will clarify that reference and validate it in the morning.

But if you can just stay with me for a second, there was -- in the response, and I will provide the reference, it indicated 95 percent demand from the contract customers, but then, in B.1.1, page 7, there was a reference to, "contract rate customer demand makes up approximately 98 percent of the capacity of the project."

And then, yesterday, you were using a 94 percent number, referencing the contract demand that makes up the demand for the project, so I am just trying to reconcile those numbers and know which one I should be using.

MR. DILLON:  I think we can clarify by saying that the 94 percent would be the amount of demand that is being used by contract customers on the Panhandle project that we are proposing and the 55 percent, right now, is the Panhandle contract firm demand on the Panhandle system as a total.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  So, if there are any other references that use a number different than the 94, if there's one that says 95 or 98, we should be using 94 percent as the number.  Is that correct?

MR. DILLON:  Yes.  And you can find that on page 10, paragraph 33, of B .1.1; 94 percent of PREP is for contract rate market.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Thank you for that.  So I can go into the next question, or I can stop here.  I realize it's five o'clock.

MR. MORAN:  Why don't we just keep going for a few more minutes Mr. Brophy.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  Okay, Staff 25 C, I think it was, uses the terms "transmission project" and "transmission system."  I think Mr. Gillett gave a very good explanation, I think it was yesterday, about how they're interchangeable.  Once you say that the loop that's part of the project becomes part of the transmission system, and you can't differentiate between this loop portion and the rest of the transmission system.  Did I capture that correctly?

MR. GILLETT:  That's correct.  Once the loop is built it becomes a functional part of the transmission system.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, so when the Board Is looking to make a decision in this case, it needs to consider as if it's part of the broader system; is that right?

MR. GILLETT:  I believe -- I think so.  If what you mean is two things, is one is once the project's built it will generate incremental capacity that will benefit the entire Panhandle system from Dawn to Ojibway, and operationally it becomes an integrated part of that system; is that what you're referring to?

MR. BROPHY:  That's correct.  Okay, great.  The next question will be about five minutes I don't know how precise you want to be.

MR. MORAN:  I think we will keep going until quarter after five.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, okay, no problem.  Okay.  So, I wanted to just talk about the asset management plan references for a minute and Pollution Probe 28B sent us to certain references.  We followed that trail and collected up what we could in Pollution Probe Compendium Number 1, pages 18 to 22.  And if we missed any of the Panhandle projects, which is possible, and I think there was over 3,000 projects in that list so we might have missed something there, but these were the ones when we went hunting for Panhandle.  So, page 20 of the compendium is one of the projects in the asset management plan and it's the one that's called Panhandle regional expansion project, and the cost at the bottom of that, I think, is $197 million; do you see that?

MR. THOMAS:  Yes, I see that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, this is the project we are talking about in this proceeding and 197 is now 358 or is it another page that we should be looking at for projects?

MR. THOMAS:  So, this report was as of May 30th, 2022, so in terms of the numbers on there they are not the most accurate.  The most accurate numbers are the ones in the current application but otherwise, yes, this is referencing the application.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, super.  So, we have come to the same spot. And then there's four other pages and I am not going to walk you through all those numbers in details, but they're Panhandle related projects, have Panhandle in the name.

And on those other four pages, projects, in the asset management plan there's over half a billion dollars of spending proposed in the asset management plan.  Would you agree to that, subject to check?

MR. THOMAS:  I believe two of the investments in the compendium are for the Dawn-Parkway system.  The other three being the Panhandle one we just discussed, the Detroit river crossing and the Leamington interconnect are the three that relate to the Panhandle system.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  They all had Panhandle in the title, so that's why I assumed that.

MR. THOMAS:  If it's helpful maybe we can just look at page 18 just at the top, and just under the investment name it says Dawn-Parkway expansion project.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes, okay.  Yes, I think when I copied it over it might have taken an extra page, sorry.

MR. THOMAS:  Not a problem.

MR. BROPHY:  So, then can you go down to the bottom of that page.  So, that one is 246, so if the total was over half a billion then, you know, it's over a quarter billion then if you take that out. Would you agree that there's about a quarter billion related to the other Panhandle projects on those pages?

MR. THOMAS:  Sorry, just to clarify page 19 is also a Dawn-Parkway expansion project.  So, the Panhandle investments would be the ones on page 20 -- 20, 21 and 22 in your compendium.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And page 20 was the one I think we agreed was this project; right?

MR. THOMAS:  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  21 is Panhandle -- oh, that's the Leamington one that had been talked about.

MR. THOMAS:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Estimate there was about 55 million but I understand, you know, those are old numbers it could be different.  And then the one after is Panhandle line replacement, that's another just under 30 million.

MR. THOMAS:  Yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Okay.  And I note we had some discussions with Ms. Wade in the rebasing proceeding that -- you may recall some of the numbers.  I don't want to put you on the spot.  But, I think, would the panel agree there's more than 3,000 projects in the Enbridge asset management plan including the Panhandle projects?  I think it was around 3400 but certainly more than 3,000?


MS. WADE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  That's correct, okay. And can you let us know how many IRP alternatives are listed in the asset management plan?

MS. WADE:  Sorry, can you clarify what you mean how many IRP alternatives?  Do you mean how many IRP plans?

MR. BROPHY:  So, there's over 3,000 projects Enbridge is planning to do capital projects related to pipelines or related facilities, but an IRP project or alternative would be something that you'd do instead of the normal capital investment.  So, how many of those are included in Enbridge's asset management plan.

MS. WADE:  So, you would have seen in the most recent asset management plan that was filed October 31st, that there's Appendix B and it has an update of where all of the projects are at in their current assessment and to answer your question there is not an IRP plan specifically laid out within that.  Actually that might not be true, the pilot plans might be listed in there I'd have to check the details.  But all, all IRP assessments and any current plans are within the asset management plan that has just been filed.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So, the updated asset management plan filed in October as the stage of your assessment for IRP in relation to the 3,000 projects but not with, you know, notwithstanding the pilot one which you said you don't know if it's in there or not, there's no actual IRP projects listed, you haven't completed and replaced capital projects with IRP projects in the asset management plan, there would be zero?

MS. WADE:  Yes, I think we talked about this at length.  As you noted in the rebasing application, so we are making our way through the assessment.  We have not missed any opportunities to implement an IRP alternative and our plan is in 2024 to be filing our first non-pilot IRP plan.

MR. BROPHY:  And how many IRP alternatives has Enbridge implemented to date?

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Chair, I just want to clarify what this has to do with Panhandle regional pipeline.


MR. MORAN:  Mr. Brophy, to the extent that IRP considerations are relevant to the decision to proceed or defer or otherwise manage the Panhandle proposal, I guess I'm wondering what your current question has to do with that issue.  I am just wondering if you can maybe focus in on what you want to know about IRP related to this project.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure, no, that's fine.  So, on page 41 of Pollution Probe compendium was the initial filing in relation to this project in 2022 and Enbridge indicated that it did not pursue IRP because it believed that this project is exempt from IRP.  Is that still Enbridge's position?

MS. WADE:  Sorry, just clarifying, the original application we did not say it was exempt.  There's the caveat in the bullet there around timing that says, sorry, just one moment, exceptions to this criterion could include considerations of supply-side IRPAs in bridging or market-based alternatives, those were assessed in the original application and they have been assessed again as part of this application, as well as demand-side alternatives.

MR. BROPHY:  So what we have on the page that indicates that the project does not warrant further IRP consideration is still accurate, even though that was the 2022 filing?

MS. WADE:  Yes.  So, in our original application, I think we have also included this sub-bullet there which calls out the caveat, and with that caveat is why we continued with our IRP assessment and included it within its evidence; within, sorry, the original evidence as well as the updated.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And the exemption that you have there, if it's needed within three years, is that something that Enbridge decides or the OEB decides?

MS. WADE:  That is included within the IRP framework, and so, too, is the exception.  And so we are using the language as you see it here from the framework to screen all of our plans or projects that are within the asset management plan.

MR. BROPHY:  So, if Enbridge was aware of this project, as you were in 2021, and you don't need it until 2024, that's three years or more.  Right?

MS. WADE:  That's correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Right.  So then this exemption wouldn't apply, then, anymore?

MS. WADE:  Sorry, which exemption?  Can you clarify?


MR. BROPHY:  So you indicated that, under the timing exemption for the IRP framework, if a system need must be met in under three years, an IRP plan could not likely be implemented.

So, if it's under three years that you're building a project from when you know about it and applying the OEB's IRP framework, then there is a potential out to not pursue IRP.  But that's not the case anymore?

MS. WADE:  Yes.  And maybe it's helpful if I just say, in all of our assessments that we are doing in projects within the asset management plan, so for this project as well as all others, we are using this exception.  So we aren't using the timing criteria and failing any projects; we are looking at supply side options as an opportunity to extend or delay the project so that we can implement demand response and energy efficiency if there is something that's technically and economically feasible.

MR. BROPHY:  And are you continuing to assess IRP alternatives for this project?

MS. WADE:  Sorry, for the project that is...?

MR. BROPHY:  The current one that we are talking about.

MS. WADE:  Yes.  We have completed our IRP assessment.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So you're no longer assessing alternatives; you have completed it and decided that there are none applicable.

MS. WADE:  We have determined that there are none that are technically feasible.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I can go on to the next question or stop there.

MR. MORAN:  Why don't we call it a day at this point, Mr. Brophy.  We will adjourn until 9:30 tomorrow.

Mr. Brophy, I recognize that you're at the end of a long line of cross-examiners, and so I am hoping that you will be able to reflect on what has been covered today and adjust, and we will allot 30 minutes for you to complete your cross tomorrow morning.  So if you can just focus down on what you really need to get to, we do want to finish the hearing tomorrow.  So I think that --


MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  I will do my best, yes.  thank you.

MR. MORAN:  Thank you very much.  Okay.  Any matters to address before we adjourn for the evening?  No?  Okay.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 5:15 p.m.
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